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EARLY CHILDHOOD INTERVENTIONS PUBLIC-
PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS

THURSDAY, JULY 16, 1998

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON HUMAN RESOURCES,

COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM AND OVERSIGHT,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:37 a.m., in room
2154, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Christopher Shays
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Shays, Towns, Barrett, Kucinich and
Scott.

Also present: Representative Morella.
Staff present: Lawrence J. Halloran, staff director and counsel;

J. Vincent Chase, chief investigator; Jesse S. Bushman, clerk; and
Cherri Branson, minority counsel.

Mr. SHAYS. Good morning. I would like to call this hearing to
order and welcome our witnesses and our guests.

In calculating the trajectory of an object in space, a course correc-
tion of 1 degree at launch can change the destination by millions
of miles. Today, we discuss human trajectories and changing the
course of children's lives.

Both physical and social science support the critical role of pre-
natal care and effective parenting in each child's emotional and
cognitive development. A growing body of research concludes an in-
fant's earliest encounters play a decisive role in wiring the brain
for learning, for love, for life. Missed opportunities to program the
human navigational computer cannot be regained, and the cost of
later course corrections for children and their mothers increases ex-
ponentially as they go further down the path of low self-esteem,
poor school performance, neglect, abuse, and dependency.

This is our third hearing on early childhood development pro-
grams. Previous oversight of the Healthy Start and Early Head
Start programs offered optimistic, even moving, testimony that
well-designed efforts can have positive and lasting effects on in-
fants and families. Those at risk due to poverty, poor health, teen
pregnancy and substance abuse can be put on the road to better
health, better parenting and self-sufficiency. But rigorous evalua-
tion of these programs is still in progress and important questions
remain about the effectiveness, efficacy and sustainability of var-
ious prenatal and early childhood intervention strategies.

We address some of those questions today. Specifically, we ask,
how are public and private investments in early childhood pro-
grams contributing to successful outcomes for infants and mothers?

(1)
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And how can those successes be measured and replicated as States
implement welfare reforms and demand for quality child care
grows?

We focus on public-private partnerships in the development of
early childhood programs because one fundamental premise is al-
ready clear: affecting the lives of pregnant women and their chil-
dren requires a comprehensive, intense and integrated approach,
involving government, health care providers, employers and others.
Charting a healthy, productive course for a mother and her baby
serves human service, public health and economic development
goals. Both public and private sectors have an undeniable stake in
the outcome, and each has an indispensable role to play in achiev-
ing it.

At our hearing on Early Head Start programs, my friend and col-
league Senator Chris Dodd put these issues in the right perspective
when he observed that children represent only 27 percent of our
population, but 100 percent of our future. In well-designed, science-
based early childhood development efforts, we have the power to
shape that future for the better.

Our witnesses today bring diverse experiences, deep commitment
and impressive expertise to the discussion of early childhood devel-
opment issues. We sincerely look forward to their testimony.

At this time, I would recognize the ranking member of this sub-
committee and an equal partner in all of our hearings, Mr. Towns.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Christopher Shays follows :]
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In calculating the trajectory of an object in space, a course correction of one degree at
launch can change the destination by millions of miles. Today, we discuss human trajectories,
and changing the course of children's lives.

Both physical and social science support the critical role of prenatal care and effective
parenting in each child's emotional and cognitive development. A growing body of research
concludes an infant's earliest encounters play a decisive role in "wiring" the brain for learning,
for love, for life. Missed opportunities to program the human navigational computer cannot be
regained, and the costs of later course corrections for children, and their mothers, increase
exponentially as they go farther down the path of low self esteem, poor school performance,
neglect, abuse and dependence.

This is our third hearing on early childhood development programs. Previous oversight
of the Healthy Start and Early Head Start programs offered optimistic, even moving, testimony
that well designed efforts can have positive and lasting effects on infants and families. Those at
risk due to poverty, poor health, teen pregnancy and substance abuse can be put on the road to
better health, better parenting and self-sufficiency. But rigorous evaluation of these programs is
still in progress, and important questions remain about the effectiveness, efficiency and
sustainability of various prenatal and early childhood intervention strategies.

We address some of those questions today. Specifically, we ask: How are public and
private investments in early childhood programs contributing to successful outcomes for infants
and mothers? And, how can those successes be measured, and replicated, as states implement
welfare reforms and demand for quality child care grows?
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Statement of Rep. Christopher Shays
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Page 2

We focus on public-private partnerships in the development of early childhood programs
because one fundamental premise is already clear: affecting the lives of pregnant women and
their children requires a comprehensive, intensive and integrated approach, involving
governments, health care providers, employers, and others. Charting a healthy, productive

course for a mother and her baby serves human service, public health and economic development
goals. Both public and private sectors have an undeniable stake in the outcome, and each has an
indispensable role to play in achieving it.

At our hearing on the Early Head Start program, my friend and colleague Senator Chris
Dodd put these issues in the right perspective when he observed that children represent only 27
percent of our population, but 100 percent of our future. In well designed, science-based early
childhood development efforts, we have the power to shape that future for the better.

Our witnesses today bring diverse experiences, deep commitment and impressive
expertise to the discussion of early childhood development issues. We look forward to their
testimony.
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Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, for holding
this hearing.

The future of our Nation depends on the education of our chil-
dren. Early intervention assures that each child begins school with
an understanding of basic concepts, learning in a group setting, co-
operating with others, and following instructions. These concepts
are key in school, society and life.

We in Congress fund these programs as if they are not impor-
tant. A total of $4 billion has been appropriated for Head Start for
fiscal year 1998 and $279 million for Early Head Start. These pro-
grams provide a comprehensive preschool experience for low-in-
come children. However, Head Start only meets for part of the day.

Part of the welfare reform mandate is that parents of preschool
children work for 20 hours per week. Most of these parents will
only find work in service occupations. Hotels, restaurants, and re-
tail stores, do not run on a 9 to 5 schedule. They are open almost
24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Finding decent, affordable child
care for this kind of nonstandard work schedule is very, very dif-
ficult. Finding an enrichment preschool program that fits this kind
of schedule is almost impossible. Therefore, the child care promised
by many during the welfare reform debate will not be the kind of
care that will help families succeed.

According to the Inspector General of the Department of Health
and Human Services, so far child care under welfare reform has
only produced a voucher system that requires parental co-pay-
ments. Most of the care is given through informal arrangements.

Mr. Chairman, in Denmark, France and Italy, preschool teachers
are public employees who receive salaries, pensions, leave and
health benefits. These countries have decided that the care and
education of preschool children is important, and they have made
it a priority. In America, we call children our greatest natural re-
source, but we do not act as if they are. Therefore, while we discuss
these wonderful State and private programs here today, let us not
forget that most of America's poor children, the children who need
these programs the most, will not participate in any kind of enrich-
ment activities and will receive second-class care.

Let me again, Mr. Chairman, thank you for holding this hearing
today, and I look forward to working with you to demonstrate that
our children are important. And I agree with you. They are only
27 percent of the population, but they are 100 percent of our fu-
ture. And I yield back.

Mr. SHAYS. I thank the gentleman very much.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Edolphus Towns follows:]
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Mr. Chairman, thank you for holding today's hearing on early childhood intervention

programs. The future of our nation depends on the education of our children. Early intervention

assures that each child begins school with an understanding of basic concepts, can learn in a

group setting, cooperate with others and follow instructions. These concepts are key in school,

society and life.

Yet, we in Congress fund these programs as if they are not important. A total of $4

billion has been appropriated for Head Start for FY 1998 and $279 million for Early Head Start.

These programs provide a comprehensive preschool experience for low income children.

However, Head Start only meets for part of the day, for part of the year. Welfare reform

mandates that parents of preschool children work for 20 hours per week. Most of these parents

will only find work in service occupations. Hotels, restaurants and retail stores do not run on a

nine to five schedule. They are open almost 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Finding decent

affordable child care for this kind of non-standard work schedule is difficult. Finding an

enrichment preschool program that fits this kind of schedule is almost impossible. Therefore,

the child care promised by many during the welfare reform debates will not be the kind of care
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that will help families succeed. According to the Inspector General at the Department of Health

and Human Services, so far child care under welfare reform has only produced a voucher system

that requires parental co-payments. Most of the care is given through informal arrangements.

Mr. Chairman, in Denmark; France and Italy, preschool teachers are public 'employees,

who receive salaries, pensions, leave and health benefits. These countries have decided that the

care. and education of preschool children are important priorities. In America, we call children

our greatest natural resource, but we do not act accordingly. Therefore, while we discuss these

wonderful state and private promons here today, let us not forget that most of America's poor

children the children who need these programs the most-- will not participate in any kind of

enrichment activity and will receive second class care. Mr. Chairman, again, I thank you for

holding today's hearing and I look forward to hearing the testimony of the witnesses.
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Mr. SHAYS. Mr. Barrett.
Mr. BARRETT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Very briefly, I am pleased you are holding this hearing, as a

Member of Congress, but probably more importantly as a father. I
have three young children, ages 5, 4 and 1. My wife is pregnant
with our fourth. I point out that I have run for Congress four
times. Each election year, my wife has been pregnant, an issue that
hits home in a major league way for me.

Mr. SHAYS. It raises the question, it is an election year.
Mr. BARRETT. It is an election year. But I think there is nothing

more important. This is it. This is what it is all about, getting the
world ready for our children. And I am excited to hear from our
panelists today, all of whom are really dedicated to this issue. I am
pleased to be here.

Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. My staff counsel on my left said we need natural

term limits.
Let me introduce our panel; and, as they know, we swear in all

of our witnesses. This is an investigative committee, and we even
swear in Members of Congress when they testify as well.

Our first witness is Rob Reiner, part of I Am Your Child Cam-
paign from California. Our second witness is Governor Lincoln Al-
mond from the State of Rhode Island, a great State; and Felicia
Pearson, who has been part of a program in northern Virginia,
Healthy Families. She is the mother of a 9-month-old child and a
wonderful witness today. We deeply appreciate you being here
today as well, Ms. Pearson. You are all equals in this group, and
we are grateful to have all three of you speak.

At this time, if you would stand and raise your right hand.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
I am going to also just do some housekeeping and ask unanimous

consent that all members of the subcommittee be permitted to
place an opening statement in the record and that the record re-
main open for 3 days for that purpose, and without objection, so or-
dered.

I ask further unanimous consent that all witnesses be permitted
to include their written statements in the record, and without ob-
jection, so ordered.

We welcome your testimony.
Mr. Reiner, you have the floor first. Thank you.

STATEMENTS OF ROB REINER, I AM YOUR CHILD CAMPAIGN,
BEVERLY HILLS, CA; LINCOLN C. ALMOND, GOVERNOR,
STATE OF RHODE ISLAND; AND FELICIA. PEARSON, ALEXAN-
DRIA, VA
Mr. REINER. Thank you. I want to thank Congressman Shays

and Congressman Towns and members of the committee for invit-
ing me here to testify on behalf of America's youngest citizens.

Many of you may know the story of
Mr. SHAYS. Mr. Reiner, before you start, I just wanted to state

how we are going to work so no one is confused. The light is going
to be green for 5 minutes. I will leave it on red for a second, then
we are going to switch it and you will have another 5 minutes.



Then after 10 minutes, we would seek to go to the next speaker.
But that is how it works. So the first time you see a red light, don't
panic.

OK. You are on.
Mr. REINER. OK. The story many of you may know is about the

stream of babies that you see floating down the river, continuous
stream of babies heading toward the waterfall, and there is this
concerned citizen feverishly yanking these babies one by one out of
the river.

A second guy comes up, and he looks and says, what is going on
here? He says, well, these babies, they are going down the river.
They are going to fall over the waterfall. They are going to die.
Please help me, help me. And he looks at this, the second guy, and
he starts running up river. And the first guy says, well, what are
you doing? I need help here. And he says, I am going upriver to
see who is throwing the babies in the water. I want to stop that
guy.

And I think that is why we are here today. It's about stopping
the loss of our children to failure in schools and drugs and teen
pregnancy and welfare dependency and violent crime before it
starts. That is what this, in my opinion, what this hearing is all
about.

Now, we know through efforts of the I Am Your Child Campaign
and efforts of early childhood development groups around the coun-
try that, in no uncertain terms, the human brain grows to 90 per-
cent of its adult size in the first 3 years, that's undisputed, and
that the emotional and physical and intellectual environment that
a child is exposed to in those first critical years, vis-a-vis parents
and primary caregivers, has a profound physiological effect on how
that child's brain will develop. That is undisputed brain research
and brain development.

Now whether he or she will be healthy and enter school ready
to learn and subsequently succeed in life or will become a toxic and
very costly burden to society is in a very large part determined by
his or her earliest experiences.

Almost 15 years ago, I started thinking about how a child's early
development could affect social outcomes, and 4 years ago, my wife,
Michele Singer Reiner, myself, and Ellen Gilbert of the Inter-
national Creative Management Talent Agency in Los Angeles, we
began the I Am Your Child Campaign, and it was a public aware-
ness and engagement campaign and we had three goals.

The first goal was to raise awareness of the critical importance
of the prenatal period for the first 3 years of life. What I had come
to understand was this information had been available but had
only been disseminated in the scientific community. It had been
known for 15 years.

I took it upon myself to get it out to the public. To that end, we
coordinated an effort with a White House Conference on Early
Childhood Brain Development. This was in April of last year.

We also went to Newsweek Magazine, and we asked them to give
us a special edition. They published a special edition of Newsweek,
which was the single largest selling edition in their history, solely
devoted to the period zero to 3.

$3
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I also asked ABC to give me an hour of television time to bring
this to the American public, and that show has been aired now
twice, and it has been seen by 15 million people. I had a very short
period of time to get some messages across, but we got two ideas
across, and I want to share them.

One was we now, through the new imagining techniques, we
havewe presented two brains. One was a perfectly formed brain
with all the gray matter filled in. The second was a brain about
two-thirds the size with a lot of black crevices where gray matter
should be but wasn't. We asked neuroscientists and neurobiologists
what to make of these images, and they said this is clearly the
scan of a normal person, and this is the scan of a person who has
Alzheimer's disease. When we explained that these were both
brains of 3-year-olds and that one of them was the product of a
healthy, nurturing, loving situation at home in those first 3 years
and the other one was a product of extreme neglect like we see in
Romanian orphanages and other places in the country where chil-
dren are deprived of stimulation and love and contact, this brain
did not grow. It wasn't a question of the brain growing and then
shrinking, as it would in Alzheimer's. It was a question of the brain
not growing, and it will never grow. It is stunted.

These are creating attachment disorders, which is the single
most important thing in terms of the effectiveness of how we func-
tion as a society. If we do not make these secure attachments early
on in life with parents and primary caregivers, we will not be able
to attach to teachers in school, to workers in the workplace and to
other members of society as we become adults. This is what we
tried to do.

The second thing we got across, and this was with help from the
RAND Corp., was we did a graph that showed the curve of the
brain growth and development over the course of a lifetime. And
what we saw, no surprise, was that the brain grew fromto 90
percent, from zero to 3, from 3 to 10, another 10 percent, and then
from then on it was a flat line, a little dip at the end, unfortu-
nately.

And what we did was the inverse curve, was with public spend-
ing, and we found, again, no surprise, during the first 3 years, vir-
tually no money was spent, and then as people got older, more
money was spent. So we had the time of greatest risk, the time of
greatest opportunity, no public resources spent, that was first.

The second thing we tried to do with the campaign was present
materials to parents and caregivers. We have videos, we have bro-
chures on child care, on parenting, we have a web site in Yahoo,
and we got a lot of information out to millions of Americans.

The third thing was to get policymakers like yourselves to pay
attention to this and what were the implications in terms of public
policy.

Now it's becoming very clear that to make a real impact on crime
and teen pregnancy and drug abuse and child abuse, welfare de-
pendency, and homelessness, we must make a real investment in
our children in the earliest years. We also know that in order to
affect public policy we not only have to have the scientific evidence
in place but we have to have the economic evidence in place as
well.
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Now, as I said, the scientific evidence has been in place for quite
a while, but the economic evidence is starting to become known
through the RAND Corp., investing in our children, and we can see
the cost benefits of investing in intervention programs.

Because, historically, there have been so few resources devoted
to early childhood development programs, measurable outcomes
were limited. However, the RAND study has shown there are sig-
nificant findings with respect to early interventions for families at
risk. The bottom line is, with the right kinds of interventions, we
can make dramatic reductions in these social ills. And this, simply
stated, means a sizable saving to not only the government but the
taxpayer.

Early childhood development experts and people in law enforce-
ment have long known the wisdom of investing in our youligest
children. Recently, there was a State-wide conference in Ohio of all
the attorneys general, the chiefs of police, the judges, and one dis-
trict attorney said that justice doesn't start in the electric chair, it
starts in the high chair. And I think this is very well understood
now in the law enforcement community, and there are wonderful
programs all over of the country going on.

Vermont, under Governor Dean, has Success By Six, which pro-
vides families with quality child care, nutrition and literacy pro-
grams, as well as extensive parent education.

North Carolina Governor Jim Hunt has initiated the Smart Start
Program, a public-private partnership, which helps all children of
families throughout the State obtain quality, affordable child care,
health care and family support services.

Missouri Governor, at that time, Governor Bond, started the Par-
ents As Teachers program, which is internationally recognized as
one of the great early childhood education programs in Rhode Is-
land.

You will hear from Governor Almond in a minute. He helped cre-
ate Right Care and Starting Right, an expansive effort to make
quality child care more accessible and affordable.

And the National Governors Association, under Governor Miller
and Governor Voinovich, has made early childhood development a
top priority.

And I, myself, I have taken what I have learned in the last 4
years and have crafted and am chairing a California initiative
which is officially qualified for the November ballot called the Cali-
fornia Children and Families Initiative, and if it passesit pro-
poses the creation of a comprehensive, integrated approach to early
childhood development which will link up health care, quality child
care, intervention programs for families at risk, and parent edu-
cation from the prenatal period through age 5. And if it passes, it
will be another great model from which to work.

But as successful as some of these programs have been, and,
hopefully, the one in California will be, we as a Nation have ap-
proached early childhood development in a very ad hoc, piecemeal
way. We have yet to recognize early childhood investment as an ef-
fective social problem solver, and until we recognize that the way
to change outcomes is to attack social problems at the roots, we
will continue to stand by the river futilely trying to grab babies be-
fore they go over the waterfall.



12

Now we at I Am Your Child have been reaching out to the State
and local governments, to the business community, to the founda-
tion world and, also, to the Federal Government to all come to-
gether and play a part to providing a support system to give our
children the best start in life.

Again, I want to thank you, again, for allowing me to be part of
what I hope will lead to a significant investment in our Nation's
most precious resource, as the Congressman pointed out, our chil-
dren. Thank you very much.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Reiner follows:]
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SUBCOMMITTEE ON HUMAN RESOURCES

Testimony by Rob Reiner

(to be delivered 9:30 a.m., 7/16/98)

I want to thank Congressman Shays and Congressman Towns

for giving me the opportunity to testify on behalf of our

youngest citizens.

You may have heard the story of the stream of innocent babies

floating down the raging river towards the looming waterfall

and the concerned citizen who feverishly tries to pull those

babies out of the river as they head towards their certain doom.

Another concerned citizen approaches and asks what the first

guy is doing. He says, "I'm trying to save these babiesplease

help me." At which point the other guy starts running upriver.

The first guy says, "Where are you going? The babies are

passing us by." The second guy says, "I'm going upriver to stop

whoever's throwing these babies in."

17
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I feel that's what this hearing's about: stopping the loss of our

children to failure in school, drugs, teen pregnancy, welfare

dependency, and violent crime before it starts.

We now know in no uncertain terms that the human brain grows

to 90 percent of its adult size in the first three years of life. And

the emotional, physical, and intellectual environment a child is

exposed to in those critical first three years vis-à-vis parents

and primary caregivers has a profound physiological effect on

how that child's brain will develop. Whether he or she will be

healthy and enter school ready to learn and subsequently

succeed in life or become a toxic and costly burden to society

is in a very large part determined by his or her earliest

experiences.

After almost 15 years of thinking about how a child's early

development could affect social outcomes, four years ago my

wife Michele Singer Reiner, Ellen Gilbert of the international

Creative Management talent agency, and I began the I Am

2
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Your Child Public Awareness and Engagement Campaign. We

have three primary goals:

1. Raise awareness of the critical importance of the

prenatal period through the first three years of life;

2. Provide parents with information and tools to help

them understand their child's early development

and

3. Make policymakers aware of the enormous

opportunity to affect social outcomes.

We now clearly know that if we want to make a real impact on

crime, teen pregnancy, drug abuse, child abuse, welfare

dependency, and homelessness, we must make a real

investment in a child's earliest years.

3



1U

We also know that, in order to affect public policy, we must

have not only scientific evidence of the wisdom of this kind of

investment, but the economic evidence as well. As I've said,

the scientific evidence with respect to brain development has

been in place for quite some time, but now for the first time,

with the release of the Rand Corporation's book entitled

Investing In Our Children, we can also see the cost benefits.

Because historically there have been so few resources devoted

to early childhood development, programs with measurable

outcomes are limited. However, the Rand study has shown

significant findings with respect to early interventions for

families at risk. The bottom line is that, with the right kinds of

interventions, there can be dramatic reductions in crime, teen

pregnancy, drug abuse, child abuse, and welfare

dependency. Simply stated, this means sizable savings for the

government and the taxpayer.

Early childhood development experts and people in law

enforcement have long known the wisdom of investing in our

4



youngest children. Recently in a statewide law enforcement

conference in Ohio, one district attorney said that justice

doesn't start in the electric chair; it starts in the high chair. The

fact is there are wonderful, effective programs throughout the

country:

Vermont, under Governor Dean, has instituted

Success by Six, which provides families with quality

child care, nutrition and literacy programs, as well as

extensive parent education;

North Carolina Governor Jim Hunt has initiated Smart

Start, a public/private initiative which helps all

children and families throughout the state obtain

quality, affordable child care, health care, and

family support services;

5



'Missouri, under then-Governor Bond, started Parents

As Teachers, an internationally recognized early

childhood family education and support program;

In Rhode Island, Governor Almond helped create

Rite Care as well as Starting Rite, .an expansive

effort to make quality child care more accessible

and affordable;

And the National Governors' Association, under

Governor Miller and Governor Voinovich's

leadership, has made early childhood development

a top priority for the nation's governors.

I myself have taken what I've learned in the last four years and

helped craft, and am chairing, a California initiative called the

California Children and Families Initiative, which has recently

officially qualified for the November ballot. It proposes the

creation of a comprehensive, integrated approach to early

6



19

childhood development which will link health care, quality

child care, intervention programs for families at risk, and parent

education from the prenatal period through age five. And if it

passes, it will be another great model from which to work.

But as successful as these programs have beenand,

hopefully, the one in California will bewe as a nation have

approached early childhood development in an ad hoc,

piecemeal way. We have yet to recognize early childhood

investment as an effective social problem solver. And until we

do, until we recognize that the way to change outcomes is to

attack social problems at the roots, we will continue to stand

by the river, futilely trying to grab babies before they go over

the falls.

Again, thank you for letting me be part of what I hope will lead

to a significant investment in our nation's most precious

resource, our children.
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Mr. SHAYS. Governor, you are a leader in this area, and you
honor this committee with your presence. It is nice to have you
here.

Governor ALMOND. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and
members of the committee. It's a privilege for me to represent the
people of Rhode Island and be before the subcommittee today, and
it's also a privilege to be on this distinguished panel.

I look forward to hearing what I am sure is a compelling story
from Ms. Pearson. And, Rob Reiner, I just want to say from all the
people in Rhode Island, we thank him for what he has done for the
children of this Nation, and I speak for, I know, for all of the Na-
tion's Governors when I thank him for the tremendous commitment
he has made. He joined me in Rhode Island yesterday to speak to
our community about the importance of early childhood programs.

We all know, the evidence is irrefutable, that from birth to age
3 are the critical years in a child's life. We know that today. Ninety
percent of the brain is formed during that period of time. And, of
course, historically, we have put our money in other areas.

We all are working very, very hard, this Congress, all of the Na-
tion's Governors, on education reform. Elementary and secondary
education reform is extremely important. It's long-term. It's going
to take a decade or more before we are going to see the real bene-
fits of the work being done by the States in this Nation.

There is one thing we can do to help education reform, and it will
work, and it will work quickly, and that is to provide good child
care programs for the youngsters in the Nation. We have a chang-
ing economy. Times have changed since my children were born in
the sixties. We have many single parents, unfortunately, in the
United States. A lot of them have been on welfare. We need this
help to transition them off of welfare, but we also have to help the
working poor. There is no question about that.

We view every child in Rhode Island as sitting on a three-legged
stool. One of those legs is the parent in a strong family and to have
parents who know how to nurture their children and bring them
up properly.

We also look at health care. And I am very, very proud as Gov-
ernor to say that we have addressed the health care issues in the
State of Rhode Island. We have a program of managed care for
Medicaid where we insure all children to the age of 18 to 250 per-
cent of the poverty level. We also ensure prenatal to 350 percent
of the poverty level.

Rob was with me yesterday when Christine Ferguson, who used
to be a staffer for Senator Chafee and is currently my Director of
Human Resources, gave some preliminary figures, and some of
them are very startling. She just completed the study of the two
poorest census tracks in the city of Providence with respect to
health care, and low weight births have decreased 50 percent in
the last 3 years by providing good health care to children. Just
think of what that means with respect to the health care industry
and the savings.

You know, we know today that good preventive medicine can
save us an awful lot of money in the future. We are seeing the
spacing between births, which is so important to the health of a
woman, the same for subsidized insurance as it is for private insur-
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ance. We are seeing mothers and pregnant women who smoke or
drink alcohol or abuse drugs declining as we get them the proper
medical attention.

So if we can get children healthy, the next step is to make sure
the children are developing, so that we can meet our goal in Rhode
Island, which is a very, very simple one, to make sure every child
enters school ready to learn. That alone can make a huge impact
with respect to education reform.

Let's understand this. We do today, even with the problems in
public education, graduate a significant number of extremely good
students who go on to higher education. The problem is we have
some who lag behind. What we can do is give them an early start,
which is going to be a big boost to education and education reform
for the future. It's similar to the medical issues with respect to put-
ting money into preventive medicine as to what you save and what
your product is in the future.

I am also very, very proud to say that, in the past couple weeks,
the legislature at my request in Rhode Island passed the Starting
Right program. Over the next 3 years, we will have, and we are
the only State in the Nation that has, child care as an entitlement
for the working poor and for our individuals on welfare. We are
going to go to 250 percent of poverty with respect to a child care
incentive. That is going to be our entitlement. That is going to be
extremely important. And we are in the process of building a child
care system that has to be, it has to be, affordable, it has to be
quality. And this is not about baby-sitting, this is about the devel-
opment of children, and we have to invest in those particular areas.

I will close by just saying to the Congress, I applaud you for
what you did with respect to children's health care. You passed leg-
islation last year that took us to 150 percent of poverty to the
States. We have talked about devolution, how it would be a race
to the bottom by the States and I know that hurt a lot of my fellow
Governors and hurt me. Devolution has turned out to a race to the
top, and we are doing what is right for the people of the State of
Rhode Island and for the Nation.

One thing that bothers me is, when you passed that health legis-
lation, Rhode Island was already well above what you passed, and
there is about $8 million sitting there that I cannot use that I need
because we insure up to 250 percent of the poverty level. And when
you have an individual who is leading the race to the top, and you
say to me, we are going to penalize you because you were there be-
fore we said may I, or I asked may I, that is wrong. And I have
a waiver in to HHS now to allow me to use that $11 million, about
$8 of which I don't think I can use on health programs, to expand
the RIte Care program for poor families.

But I could also use that. I need the flexibility to put that money
to early childhood programs which can help children and help par-
ents, build the work force, and help the economy of the State of
Rhode Island.

Thank you very much.
Mr. SHAYS. Governor, thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Governor Almond follows:]
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Iutroductlou
Good Morning Mr. Chairman, and distinguished members of the Committee on Government

Reform and Oversight. It is an honor to be here today to speak with you on one of the most

important issues facing our nation, early childhood interventions. Also, it is a pleasure to be

speaking with a group of some the great national leaders and academics of our time on this truly

vital issue. In fact, just yesterday I had the distinct pleasure to host Mr. Reiner in Rhode Island

for our first statewide early childhood summit focusing on these very issues. Mr. Reiner's

compelling and dynamic address to the Rhode Island business community and statewide

leadership will undoubtedly lead to meaningful partnerships between business and government.

Let me just add that many of us "outside the beltway" appreciate your willingness to review this

issue and work toward a shared vision because how individuals function from the pre-school

years all the way through adolescence and even adulthood hinges, to a very significant extent, on

their experiences before the age of six. This is why our experience in Rhode Island has been so

compelling.

Emblem
Rhode Island families, like many others across the nation, are experiencing a child care crisis.

With welthre reform underway and our increased understanding of brain-development in young

children, it is clear that having quality child care available for all working families is of extreme

importance. As the Governor, I have charged my adtninistiation with providing affordable and

accessible quality child care and early intervention programs to low and middle income families

so that tomorrow's generation is equipped to live in a technologically advanced and complex

world. And I can say, that under the capable leadership of my Director of Human Services,

Christine C. Ferguson, Rhode Island is well on its way to leading the nation in early intervention



G4

for the most critical years of development, ages 0-6. We have recognized the broad economic

implications of child care and early childhood policies, and we are taking a leadership role in

developing programs for our children.

Quality early childhood care and intervention programs perform a dual function in the economy.

In the short nut, such services meet the needs of the existing work, force by assisting working

parents be meeting their child care needs. Research suggests that employerabenefit fkom lower

absenteeism and turnover, higher employee morale and reduced recruitment costa by providing

child care assistance. In the long teem, quality early childhood programs tau also critical in

preparing children to enter the workplace of the future. Research demonstrates that quality early

childhood education programs all children contribute to higher levels of success in school,

greater achievement motivation, higher vocational aspirations and higher employment rates.

Such strong outcomes, coupled with a changing economic environment, are sparking

considerable interest across Rhode Island in expanding quality early education and childcare

programs as an economic development strategy. Leading experts in Rhode Island indicate that

economic growth over the past 20 years has been the result of an influx of people entering the

workforce, a trend that is not expected to continue. With fewer people entering the labor force,

each worker's productivity is critical to achieving a competitive edge in an increasingly global

and information based economy. While educational achievement was less important in a largely

manufacturing-based economy, the work place of the More will demand more critical thinking

and learning capacities. Moreover without tapping the potential of more disadvantaged children,

critical labor shortages are expected to stymie economic performance.

However, despite all of the progress in Rhode Island, we still face vexing issues that are similar

to other states. And, for many poor and low-income families, child care and intervention

problems can be severe:

Studies like the Cost, Quality, and Child Outcomes Study have confirmed that low to

middle income families still face great struggles in finding affordable, good-quality

childcare and that most care now retained by parents is mediocre, at best.



Despite recent state initiatives to increase child care assistance to low and middle income

families, long waiting lists and rising demands for child care help among both working

and welfare fkmilies pose tough challenges for states. If additional underfunded work

requirements are imposed on states by Washington challenges will become even more

vexing.

Welfare moms are finding it difficult to move from welfare to work while maintaining a

healthy home. Middle income families are scrambling to survive financially and ensure

that their children have the beat possible environment in which to develop and grow.

lhaltholtlahugUndenat -A Sohl4on That Works Nett
Although Rhode Island possesses perhaps the most equitable, balanced and positive child care

policies in the nation, we are now faced with the challenges of making sure that they can be

swiftly and fully enacted and maintained. Rhode Island will draw down all its child care block

grant, 11 million, including matching dollars, and another 1.5 million from Title XX. In

addition, RI will spend 13 million dollars in state ftmds to support working families. Currently,

43% of all families receiving child care subsidy are on cash assistance and 57% are not receiving

cash. Even with statistics such as these, RI has not gotten to the core of beneficiaries on welfare.

Of the families on assistance, only 18% are presently using child care, and we have only reached

the tip of the welfare demand.

In Rhode Island, my administration has worked together with the State Legislature to

dynamically re-engineer socio-economic programs such as health and welfare and their impact

on economic development. In Rhode Island, 95% of all businesses have less than 50 employees.

Small businesses struggle to provide good wages and are often unable to flind quality health and

child care benefits. My administration is making it possible for Rhode Island small bud nesses to

thrive and prosper by providing them with quality benefits to aid workers. It is our belief that

this is helping small businesses in Rhode Island retain their best and brightest employees.

Rhode Island has adopted a simple goal; All children will enter school ready to learn and leave

school ready to work. I believe that the ages of 0-6 are the most critical if our future stands a

chance. We have made Rhode Island the only state in country in which child care and health



care is guaranteed to working families. I would like to outline a few of our accomplishments

because I believe that they are national models which can be shared by other states. These

programs are preparing our society with for the 211 century by ensuring a strong and healthy

family and a positive economic figure.

Health care is vital to every child's growth and development. Studies have shown that if children

lack health insurance, they are less likely to receive needed primary and specialty careincluding

preventive care, treatment for acute and chronic illnesses, mental health services, dental care and

prescriptions. Regular doctor visits are especially critical during early childhood to receive

necessary preventive health care, immunizaticms and anticipatory guidance. In addition, health

coverage is essential is for a vibrant and lively economy. To answer these needs, Rhode Island

created the Rite Care program in August of 1994 to improve access to and quality of health care

for Rhode Island families. My administration has devoted countless hours of time and

commitment into increasing access for children and ensuring some of the highest quality of

health care in the nation.

In Rhode Island, we have seen a change in the health status of children since they enrolled in

Rite Care, the state's health insurance Program. RIte Care provides over 75,000 Rhode Islanders

with access to quality, comprehensive health care.

The health outcomes for this program have exceeded our expectations. Results include:

-a decrease in the number of low birth weight infants

-an increase in the percentage of infants who were up-to-date on their immunizations

-an increase in the percentage of newborns who had their first physician visit within the

first 2 weeks of life



-an increase in the percentage of infants who waited less than 2 weeks for a specialty care

appointment

-a decrease in emergency room visits and hospital utilization and an increase in primary

care physician visits

-98 percent of parents who have children enrolled in a Rite Care health plan were

satisfied or very satisfied with the quality of care received

These positive early intervention programs and outcomes aro designed to ensure a healthier,

skilled, workforce with healthier children.

LituliaglUght- Thafghairfac
As I said earlier, my administration is preparing the business community and our families for the

2l" century. This means that we are ensuring that business and government work together as

partners to create a dynamic working and living environment in Rhode Island. By investing in

early education and child cam we are laying the groundwork for families to have access to care

and hence for our economy to thrive. With greater accessibility and quality health care in place,

parents can enter the workforce with the peace of mind that their children are in excellent hands.

In January of this year, I announced an aggressive initiative called Starting Right, which picks up

where Rite Care left oft I am happy to say that with the state legislatures assistance Starting

Right is now law. Starting Right which will be implemented over three years is designed to

provide a comprehensive child care and early education program focusing on the issues of

quality, affordability, and accessibility. My goal with this is to ensure that all children in the

state we well prepared and able to enter school ready to learn.

This innovative program will expand the state's child care subsidy program to include working

hinnies earning up to 250% of the federal poverty level (FPL), or about $34,000 a year fora

BEST COPY AVAI
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family of three. The subsidy program would also be extended to provide age-appropriate

activities for children 13 through 16. Starting Right will also partner with communities to

develop pilot projects linking the state, business community, schools, child ca.re. Head Start,

preschool, and other similar programs. The number of eligible children enrolled in Head Start

programs would also be increased by approximately 700 slots. Included in this is the

enhancement of services to low-income children including: social services, health, nutrition

services, mental health, parental involvement, and transitional services for children entering

kindergarten.

Health insurance coverage will be offered to child care center employers. The state will offer

partially subsidized health care coverage to licensed child care centers participating in the state's

child care program. While the state leads the nation in providing similar coverage to home based

providers, this plan would also result in an increase in child care placement in centers across the

state. Under Starting Right, the state will work to increase training resources for child care

providers. Enhanced training in the areas of childhood health and safety will be provided.

Special training for care of newborns and infants will also be developed. And, one of the best

ways to make sure our children make a successful step from child care to school is to coordinate

links between the schools, pre-schools and child care providers allowing for a smooth transition.

In addition, since Rhode Island is primarily a small business state, some of these funds will be

used to help small businesses join together in pOblic-private partnerships to help create or offer

early care opportunities for their employees' families. Another focus will be upon areas of

geographic shortages, infant/toddler care, and care during non-traditional hours and for parents

with alternating work schedules, including before and after school care. Once again, this will

result in a workforce that is prepared to meet the demands of the new millennium and create

greater economic growth.

Conclusion- A brighter vision for tomorrow

My administration has adopted a short and simple yet essential goal: All children will enter

school ready to learn and leave school ready to wort What happens to a child between the amt.,

ST C PY VAI BLE
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of 0 to 6 largely determines the outcomes of a child's life. All of us, federal, state, and private

sector need to partner together to build a bridge toward maximizing the investments that we are

all making in health care, child cue, education and early intervention programs.

Families today face unprecedented challenges in raising their youngsters. Low earnings require

many families to resort to multiple wage earners, moonlighting, and overtime, leaving them less

time for their families. Growing numbers of young parents resort to extraordinary measures to

make ands meet and arrange their child care. Concern about balancing work and family life is

not confined to those with low incomes; figly half the population report that they have too little

time for their families. This is why from the beginning of my tenure as Governor I have tried to

make an integrated continuum of care for Rhode Island families a top priority of my

administration.

The current needs for our great nation are many. However, in order to azure the figure, we must

intelligently invest in the present. The most effective investment we can make is in the

development of young children.

Thank you very much.

BEST C 15,1 AVAIL LE
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Mr. SHAYS. Before calling on you, Ms. Pearson, I will be happy,
and I am sure my colleagues on the full committee will be happy,
to work with you to determine how many other States are like
yours.

Governor ALMOND. Vermont, Washington and Hawaii.
Mr. REINER. Minnesota as well.
Mr. SHAYS. It seems to me like that is a solvable problem.
Mr. REINER. Minnesota and Tennessee.
Governor ALMOND. Yes, they varied. We were the highest at 250

percent.
Mr. SHAYS. We will come back to it, but I just say that this is

something we need to put on the record, and I am sure we can be
helpful.

Governor ALMOND. Very good. Thank you very much.
Mr. SHAYS. Ms. Pearson, it's lovely to have you here, wonderful

to have you here. You have the floor, and I look forward to hearing
your testimony, and then we will be proceeding to ask all of you
some questions.

I am just going to ask you to pull the mic a little closer. I am
going to ask you to lower it down just a speck because I want to
make sure we hear you. OK. Thank you.

Ms. PEARSON. I just want to start off by saying my name is
Felicia Pearson. I am 31 years old, a single mother, and I would
like to start off with a quote that I made once that wasn't really
brought out, so this is my opportunity now.

That we, as adults, we have to eat. When we are hungry, we eat.
And we have to think about our newborn babies, that this is a new
life, a new world to them, and everything in front of them is over-
whelming and exciting, and they want to know what is this for,
what is that, how do I do that.

Well, as parents, we have to feed them, and this is their food,
to learn. So that's something I just want everybody to think about.
That in the first year a child's brain grows 70 percent, and it is
very important that we try to push as much as we can with them
in stimulating their minds, so that one day they will grow up and
be healthy adults like us.

I got pregnant in the year of 1997, and by my 6th week, I got
very, very sick, and I went into depression. I also attempted sui-
cide, because I was sick morning, noon and night, and it never
stopped. So I want everybody to imagine if you had the flu 24
hours a day, and it just never stopped. And all you feel like you
want to do, you want to end your life. It's like when am I going
to get relief, and that's all I kept saying to myself. And, of course,
the cowardly thing to do is to take your life, and then I knew I
would have to get help because I knew I wanted this baby, but, at
the same time, I was hating the baby, and I would call it "the
thing."

So I went to the doctor, and I told her what had happened and
of course, she wanted to admit me. She was very upset in hearing
that I wanted to do such an act, and I felt as though I could get
through it, and I told her no, I would wait, and it just got worse.
I completely stopped eating, I stopped drinking, and I would just
wake up in the morning hoping there was blood in the bed, hoping
that the baby was gone. So I knew that I had to get help.



So I went back to my doctor, and I told her to admit me. So they
put me on the OB floor so that they could get my body back to-
gether. Because I was so dehydrated, they couldn't even put the
IVs in me, so they had to put them in my neck, and that, of course,
didn't work. At the same time, they were sending psychiatrists to
visit me, and I was just deteriorating more, still not eating and
drinking, and I just wanted the baby out of me. I wanted it to be
in someone else to grow in and not in me. It was a horrible feeling,
and no one ever prepares you for morning sickness.

They moved me to the psychiatric ward. And meeting with my
psych doctor, she had been talking to me about the Healthy Fami-
lies, that after leaving there that they wanted me to get in contact
with them, and I told her that I would. And once I got home and
got betterI was in the hospital for a month and a halfand after
I got better, I did call Healthy Families, and they sent over an as-
sessment worker to me, and she interviewed me, and then later I
received a call from Lynn Kosanovich, my support worker.

At first, I didn't know if I really wanted the program because I
was feeling much better and I didn't think I was as depressed. But
as time went on, there were times I was still getting sick, and I
still wasn't having love for this baby that I was carrying, and I
didn't know whether or notif I could love him once he was born
and what I would do to him. Speaking with Lynn, I would tell her
that, if he cried, I would just leave him there and do what I had
to do, or I would sit him in front of the window and let him watch
outside while I do what I had to do. And I thought it was cruel,
but that's just how I was feeling and no one can understand that
unless you are in that position and knowing what it's like.

But once Dominica was born, November 3rd, and he cried this
little innocent cry, and all I could do was just cry and just think
about how I called him the thing, and I saw how beautiful he was.
I fell in love with that baby the moment he came out of me, and
it was a beautiful moment.

After that, Lynn visited me once a week, and we just sat and
talked about things that I would experience now, the crying and
what I would do, and she would bring information for me to read.
And, actually, I felt as though I was a pro, pretty much. I was real-
ly surprised. My mom was there with me, and I really didn't need
her. After 4 days, I really wanted her to go home because I knew
what to do with my baby and pretty much because, talking with
my support worker of Healthy Families, she prepared me for a lot
of this, but even then, I was like I don't know, I don't know if I
can do this. But then after he was born, you pretty much things
fall into place.

And now doing all the things with Nico that they have prepared
me with, I see so much now. The product is all coming together.
Nico at 5 months startedyes, at 5 months, he started crawling,
and that's pretty early, and now at 8 months, he can say hi and
he is clapping his hands.

Mr. SHAYS. You are a typical mother because you are boasting.
Ms. PEARSON. I know, but I love him so much.
Anyway, moving on from my son. The program, I feel as

thoughmy favorite quote is, I feel very rich being involved in the
program with Healthy Families. I just do feel sorry for a lot of fam-
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ilies that aren't involved, and mainly because I have some friends
that could use the program, just having that support there behind
you. And sometimes family is just not enough because sometimes
family could be very critical and not telling you sometimes that you
are doing a good job, whereas someone who is on the outside can,
and their eyes are more open.

I do agree with what Mr. Reiner said, that giving information to
our caregivers is very important as well, because weteaching our
children is still not enough when you send them to your baby sitter
or your caregiver. What are they teaching them, once that door
closes?

You are always constantly thinking, are they being nice to them,
are they talking to them, are they singing to them, things I did
when I was with him for the 4 months. I don't want that to stop.
I don't want that to come to an end, because it does stimulate the
mind, and I have seen the product, and it works.

And if we don't do something about it now, I mean, just like I
said, what do we expect in the future for our children? They are
just going to deteriorate and go down and down and down.

That's it. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you very much. If people would like to ap-

plaud, I would welcome that. Congratulations.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Pearson follows:]
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House Testimony - Felicia Pearson - July 16, 1998

Hi. My name is Felicia Pearson. I am a 31-year-old single mother to Domenico, who is now 8
months old. I became pregnant in 1997. About the 6th week of pregnancy, I started getting really sick, so
sick that I eventually became very depressed and finally attempted suicide: I started hating the baby and
would call it "the thing." My doctor wanted to admit me to the hospital, but I turned her down, thinking
that I could make things better. However, when it continued to get worse, I went back to her and finally
was admitted. They first kept me on the OB/GYN floor, trying to get my body back to where it should be
However, the psychiatrists felt that because of the depression I continued to deteriorate and eventually I
was moved to the psychiatric floor. I stayed in the hospital for 1 V: months. When I was ready to be
discharged, my psychiatrist gave me the name of Healthy Families and encouraged me to become involved
with them once I left the hospital. I did contact them when I got home, and the Healthy Families
assessment worker came to my home to interview me. My family support worker, Lynn Kosanovich, was
assigned and began to visit me when I was 24 weeks pregnant, she came twice a month at the beginning,
and then weekly as I approached the seventh month Of my pregnancy.

Before I had the baby, I was having serious doubts about my ability to be a mother. I was very
scared that I wouldn't be able to love this baby. My visits with Lynn often focused on this. I would
describe what I planned to do once the baby was here, and what I said sounded so harsh, as if I had no care
for this child. Even up until the eighth month, I still had feelings of not wanting to have this baby. Lynn
would talk with me, help me plan for whatever happened, and let me know that I could call her at any time
if I needed her. I liked that she came to my home and that I was able to be honest with my feelings and my
fears. We talked about how I would respond in various situations, such as if the baby wouldn't stop crying
or how I would discipline the child. She brought information about labor and delivery and helped me plan
for my care and my child's care in case I suffered from postpartum depression. The object of the Healthy
Families program is to support you and I truly felt like I had Lynn's support behind me.

My son was born on November 3, 1997. Once he was born, a lot of my feelings changed towards
him. From the moment he came into the world, I fell in love with him. 'I cried my heart out, 1) because
I was happy to have this beautiful child, but 2) from thinking about how I could have called this beautiful
baby "the thing" Contrary to my psychiatrists' prediction, I did not suffer from postpartum depression and
was immediately able to love and care for my child.

My Healthy Families support worker has continued to visit me once a week since I came home
from the hospital. At first our visits focused on the needs of a newborn--Lynn would talk to me and also
would leave information with me so I could look back on it if I needed help when she wasn't around. More
recently, we have talked about child development, we have regularly completed developmental screenings
to make sure my son is developing appropriately, we have discussed things like feeding and child care, and
Lynn has brought me information about how to play with and stimulate my son.

Family members often give you advice and tell you what you're doing wrong. Lynn listens to me,
she lets me know how competent a mother she thinks I am, she offers me suggestions and new ideas. To
me the relationship that Lynn and I built, and that she then extended to my son, has been the most important
thing. I feel so rich to have Healthy Families in my life and I feel that I have such a wonderful advantage
over others who haven't been so fortunate. The Alexandria Healthy Families program is open to first-time
parents with a lot of stress in their lives who have been enrolled either prenatally or before the baby turns
two months old. I think the Healthy Families program should be available to all new parents, regardless
of the amount of stress they have or the number of children they already have. It has truly enriched my life
and my son's life.
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Mr. SHAYS. Ms. Pearson, an individual who has been helping you
is here with you. She doesn't need to be up there, so we are not
going to invite her, but we would welcome you introducing her, if
you would like to.

Ms. PEARSON. This is my support worker, Lynn Kosanovich, and
I love her very much.

Mr. SHAYS. Well, you feel rich and you have enriched us, as have
the other two witnesses.

First, let me just acknowledge the presence of our other members
on the subcommittee, Mr. Kucinich and Mr. Barrett and Mr. Scott,
who is here as well, and we also have Connie Morella, who is here
from the full committee, and we welcome all of them, and all can
participate.

I would call on the ranking member to start the questions.
Mr. TOWNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me begin by thanking all of you, all three of you for your tes-

timony, and let me begin with you, Governor. I commend you on
the job that you are doing in your State. As you know, some States
are requiring co-payments from welfare recipients who seek to
place their children in day care. Do you have any thoughts on the
desirability of co-payments?

Governor ALMOND. I think it depends, of course, on how far your
program goes. If you are at 100 to 150 percent of the poverty level,
of course you can't have co-payments. But I think as you go higher
up, you can have some co-payments with respect to day care until
you can get the State resources to supplement those. You certainly
want to cover as much as you can of the population. It's a question
of resources.

As I mentioned earlier, we certainly could use the $8 million that
is sitting there allocated to Rhode Island for health care that I
can't use over on child care, but I would prefer to see a fair pro-
gram with respect to the sliding scale and no co-pay, just as we
have no co-pay for the health care programs.

It is an expensive proposition. One of the biggest issues facing
mothers in child care is the cost. Even for individuals who are
doing very, very well, it's a disincentive to go into the work force.
If mothers can stay home with children, that's fine. We have a lot
of single mothers who can't stay home with their children, so they
have to have child care.

Then we have the two-parent families. A lot of them have to
have two parents working in order to provide for their children and
provide for the future and provide for higher education at some
point and use the savings account in order to be able to afford
higher education for their children.

My wife is here with me today, because we are going to go over
to Maryland to see my daughter who is over there with two chil-
dren in day care. And I can tell you, she is a professional, she is
an engineer, but it's expensive to have two children in full-time day
care. No question about it.

So from a standpoint of co-pay with child care, if we can do it
without, let's do it without, but it's going to take some resources.

Mr. TOWNS. OK. But, you know, when you say take some re-
sources, I sort of hear two things. When you talk to people, you
hear people saying it's just so important if we want to be able to
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make certain our children have the kind of education and support
and to be able to compete with other countries, that we need to
make the investment now. So isn't there some way we can make
the case that we actually are not spending more money. By doing
it we probably will be saving money in the long run?

Governor ALMOND. I agree. And look at it from the standpoint of
the nonprofits, for instance, who are providing child care. You have
low wages in the industry. One of the things we do in Rhode Is-
land, which is very unique, for home care child caregivers, we will
give them RIte Care Health Insurance. Because many of these peo-
ple who are staying at home and taking care of five or six of their
neighbors' children so they can work are paid so low they don't
have health care, and so we are doing that.

In the RIte Care Program, we are going to be subsidizing health
insurance for day care providers. You know, they need resources in
order to be able to do more than just baby sit. They have to hire
professionals. They have to get individuals who are just as quali-
fied as the first and second grade teacher. If you are going to have
quality child care it's expensive. So those are some of the issues.

What I hear, and I am sure that I know I have heard Rob Reiner
say this, if you have day care where you are having a change in
staff on a weekly basis or a monthly basis because your wages are
low, that isn't good for the children because there are no attach-
ments. So you have to look at this as something very important.
And you want the best staff, you got to pay them, and you got to
give them benefits. That's the issue. So it's expensive. Somebody
has to pay the bill.

Mr. TOWNS. All right. Let me move toI guess I want to ask you
this, Mr. Reiner. Thank you very much, Governor.

I am concerned that preschool enrichment programs will not be
universal until they are designed to benefit children from the mid-
dle income families as well as children from poor families. I am re-
minded of the Medicare program, which provides health care for all
seniors. Many believe that Medicare only continues because so
many middle income seniors actually benefit from it. Do you share
my concerns that maybe the best way to assure preschool for the
poor is to provide preschool for the middle class?

Mr. REINER. Absolutely. And as the Governor pointed out, we are
now living in a country where there is 60 percent of families have
two wage earners, and I would bet that, of the 60 percent, a very,
very high percentage of those really need those two incomes to sur-
vive. And we are talking about people in the $45,000, $50,000 a
year category. Those are middle income. Those are middle class
people.

And the fact of the matter is, brain growth and development is
the same for a poor child as it is for a wealthy child or a middle
income child. It is the same process. We are still wanting to create
the best minds to compete in the global economy. And we are in
the information age. There is no getting around it. We are going
to need better educated people.

So regardless of whether or not it's poor people or middle income
peoplenow wealthy people can afford their own child care, and
they can do that, and they are lucky enough to do that. But middle
income people need it as well. And I think if you surveyed this
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country I think you would find the vast majority of people in the
country would be crying for quality child care, not just people com-
ing off of welfare and people in poverty levels.

Mr. TOWNS. Let me just ask what can we do on this side of the
aisle, you know, to sort of create the kind of atmosphere and cli-
mate, that this is very, very important? You know, what can we do
here from a legislative standpoint?

Because I think this issue, of course, is a very, very important
issue, and I think that sometimes people don't realize how impor-
tant it is, and I think we are saying something and then doing
something different. What I mean by that is, if it's important, then
we should behave like it's important by putting the resources there.
And in the long run, I think we are fine. We are going to save
money if we are doing what we are supposed to do in the begin-
ning. So I think if we spend the money on the front end, we won't
have to spend on the back end, and I think if we look at the whole
pattern that we will find we will save money in the long run, along
with all the other things that will happen in the process. And how
do we create that kind of atmosphere?

Mr. REINER. Well, I mean, you have a number of child care
pieces of legislation floating around Congress. Right now, I think
there is something like 40 of them, and there has been an effort
to try to coalesce all those pieces of legislation. But yet we don't
see any kind of stepped up, you know, revenue stream.

As Governor Almond is pointing out, forget the $8 million that
he deserves. Wouldn't it be nice to have a revenue stream devoted
to child care that can be block granted to the States to be used in
an integrated way with health care? Because it has to be linked.
It doesn't work all by itself. You have to link health care and child
care and parent education. All those things need to be linked to-
gether. But if States are willing to participate in an integrated
way, in a comprehensive approach to early childhood development,
why can't we loosely block grant the money to them? I mean, it's
floating around.

I worked on the Senate side with John Kerry, Senator Kerry, and
Senator Kit Bond on a bipartisan piece of legislation to devote $11
billion over 5 years for early childhood interventions and child care
and so on, and, you know, we are pressing. But, I mean, it's dif-
ficult.

We don't have our priorities squared away, it seems to me. You
know, if science is now clearly telling us that those first 3 years
are the most critical in a person's life, and Congressman Shays
pointed out about the trajectory, how we can get off course, and if
we don't start people out right, we are paying for it in prison costs,
we are paying for it in incremental health care costs. We are pay-
ing for it. The only question is, do we want to pay a lessor amount
now or a greater amount later? Because we are going to pay for it
one way or the other.

You will hear testimony later from Dr. Olds and from Lynn
Karoly at the RAND Corp., that will show you conclusively, if you
invest in the right kind of intervention programs like the one that
was testified to here today, you will see, you know, anywhere from
$3 to $4 to maybe even $5 return on your investment for every dol-
lar invested.
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Well, it just makes good business sense. You know, the country
is like a big corporation, and there is no CEO in this country that
would eliminate their R&D. That's the way you grow your com-
pany. I have run companies. I have built companies. You have to
invest in R&D in order to grow your company.

Well, this is investing in R&D. This is our precious resource, our
children. We make that investment, and we will grow our tax base,
reduce our crime, teen pregnancy, drug abuse, child abuse, and so
on. And it is not arguable, I don't think.

Mr. TOWNS. I agree with you.
Governor ALMOND. May I also add, in addition to saving on the

issues of drug abuse, crime, special education, et cetera, look what
it would do for the economy. You know, I am from the Northeast
and the chairman is from Connecticut, and we had a tough time
coming out of a recession, but, thankfully, right now we are at full
employment.

There are individuals out there who are on the margin whether
they can have two parents working or one, and we have people at
home taking care of children. There is nothing wrong today to have
both parents working, as long as they have good, affordable child
care that is going to take care of their child's development. And we
have a lot of individuals who would enter the work force if they
had access to quality, whether they pay it all or not, but it has to
be good child care, and you can build a good child care system if
you do it for all segments of society.

You know, when I go to child care centers in Rhode Island, 40
to 50 percent of the children in those programs are subsidized.
They are altogether. That's great. That is good for society. It will
help the economy.

Mr. TOWNS. Let me say, Governor, we really appreciate your
leadership and the kind of things you are doing in Rhode Island.
We just wish more States would follow.

Ms. Pearson, first of all, how old is your child?
Ms. PEARSON. He is 8 months.
Mr. TOWNS. All right. And, you know, when you leave your child,

I think you are concerned about health and safety and all of that.
You know, do you feel comfortable, in terms of safety and all the
kind of things that a mother is generally concerned with? Do you
feel that?

Ms. PEARSON. I love my caregiver, yes, but you always have that
saying in the back saying, in the back of your mind, no one can
ever take care of your child like you could. I feel like he is safe,
but sometimes there are so many kids there. When does she have
time or can she make time to sit down with all the children and
read to them and sing to them and do the things that you would
do? I mean, her views may be different from mine, and maybe I
may not like it. I mean, I would love it if I could be home with my
son for the first year or so, and then, maybe, once you imbed the
things into thembecause, you know, you are teaching them one
thing and she is teaching them something, and I see that there
might be some confusion if you don't communicate with each other,
and I do try to tell her things I am doing, but is she doing it once
the door is shut?

Mr. REINER. How many children does she take care of?
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Ms. PEARSON. I don't know. There are many days I go and I see
different children each day.

Mr. REINER. They are all infants and toddlers?
Ms. PEARSON. No. I think there are only twowell, my son is the

youngest, and he is 8 months.
Mr. REINER. See, that's critical. When we talk about child care,

we really have to talk about quality child care. Because you should
have no more than three infants or toddlers for one caregiver. Oth-
erwise, there is no way that those children can form attachments.
The only way you are going to stimulate brain growth and develop-
ment is through a secure attachment, and it has to be consistent
over a couple years. So there has to be a relationship with the care-
giver, and that caregiver works in conjunction with the parent so
it's a team. It's a supportive team.

We don't live in groups anymore. If we lived in rural agrarian so-
ciety like we did 150 years ago, we wouldn't have these issues in
front of us. We had grandmas and grandpas and aunts and uncles
all around to help out. Now we are living very separate lives, and
we need to rebuild that support system so that we can work to-
gether. She needs to know that there is a consistent, responsible,
loving caregiver that she can work with on a personal basis that
is her sister, her aunt. And if it isn't, in fact, her sister or her aunt,
it's somebody who is like that.

Mr. TOWNS. Let me say to this committee
Mr. SHAYS. You have the floor, but I just wanted to comment

that this is the first time in my 11 years that I have seen a witness
ask another witness another question.

Mr. REINER. I was totally aware that that probably has never
happened.

Mr. SHAYS. I am even more impressed. I continue to learn as well
every day.

Mr. TOWNS. It was a good question.
Well, a few months ago, just talking about this committee and

where we are and what we are trying to do, we tried to pass a bill
which would have placed health and safety standards on all feder-
ally owned and operated day care centers. And, of course, I intro-
duced several amendments to that bill. Unfortunately, after the bill
passed the subcommittee, it never was placed before the full com-
mittee for a vote. So should Congress demonstrate its concerns
about child care by requiring health and safety regulations in Fed-
eral child care centers? I mean, should we do that here, recognizing
the fact that some people say that is the right of the State? But
the point is, we do have Federal dollars going in; and if we put
Federal dollars in, I am willing to think we should monitor the dol-
lars.

Mr. REINER. Well, I think if there are Federal dollars assigned
to child care, they should be assigned to what constitutes quality
child care, and we know what that is. I mean, that's very easy to
identify, and I think you wouldn't want to, you know, send loosely
block granted money to the States and say, OK, you can use it on
whatever kind of child care you want. I think it would have to be
incumbent on the States to make sure the money was being used
for quality child care and those standards we know.
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I mean, there could be Federal guidelines; but, quite frankly,
each State knows what those standards are; and there are accred-
ited, you know, child care facilities. We know what those standards
are.

Mr. TOWNS. Governor, do you want to comment on that?
Governor ALMOND. We have licensing requirements. We want the

best possible child care that we can have. We want safe child care,
and we are able to do that.

Let me say this. If you want to, you know, set some broad stand-
ards, minimal standards, we will exceed them. I can assure you of
that.

Mr. REINER. I can agree with that. All the Governors I have
talked to are more than happyyou know, they will exceed those
standards.

Mr. TOWNS. OK. Well, you know, when I think about standards
and regulations and all that, and I just listened to Ms. Pearson,
who talked about the fact thatbeing able to communicate with it,
and you have to set a number. Because if you have too many chil-
dren, then it makes it very difficult for her to be able to commu-
nicate or to be able to share her concerns. So I think there are a
lot of things that have to go into this, because she raises a very
interesting point. The fact that if this person is now responsible for
the care, you know, during the time that she is out working or
whatever, and then if she doesn't have the opportunity to commu-
nicate with her views and feelings and concerns and if she has a
lot of kids, I mean, I am not sure you can do that effectively.

Mr. REINER. That's why we know there is a ratio of 1 to 3 for
infants and toddlers, a ratio of 1 to 6 with 3- and 4-year-olds. I
mean, there are certain standards that are put forth by people like
Patti Siegel in California who is, you know, one of the major child
care proponents in this country. And there are child care people
you know, you can go to Children's Defense Fund and talk about
what standards. I mean, it's pretty clear, you know, the ratios that
you need in order to maximize, you know, brain growth and devel-
opment. That is not rocket science.

Mr. TOWNS. I have no time to yield back, but I yield back.
Mr. SHAYS. Ms. Pearson, you went to the hospital with a very se-

rious challenge, and you were told then about the northern Vir-
ginia Healthy Families program; is that correct?

Ms. PEARSON. Yes.
Mr. SHAYS. So you weren't sure at first you wanted to go into

that program, and then decided you did; is that accurate as well?
Just try to walk me through what your reluctance was. I mean, it
seems normal but I would like to hear it from you.

Ms. PEARSON. I was very reluctant due to the fact that I was still
going through the morning sickness. Then once they put me on the
Zoloft that was for my emotional upset, and then they had me on
the Compazine to help my nausea, I started feeling a little better.
Then I was like, maybe I don't need this program; I can get
through this, I can do it.

Once the assessment worker came to interview me, and my
roommate at the time was with me, she explained everything to me
and what would happen. I was like, well, I didn't think that I
qualified for it. So I was like, well, I don't think I need it. My room-
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mate pretty much coaxed me into it, why don't you just try it out
and see what happens?

I did need the program.
Mr. SHAYS. At first the program was designed to help you. When

did you realize that the program was going to help your child?
Ms. PEARSON. Of course, after he was born. I was really con-

cerned, wondering if he was going to be the type of child that a
friend of mine has, who was a very difficult baby. There were many
times that he was at the house when I was pregnant with Nico,
and I was like, I don't want to have this baby because I know this
baby's going to come out acting like him and I'm not going to be
able to deal with this. He was constantly crying, he demanded his
mother's attention 24 hours a day. I didn't think I could do it.

Lynn would bring me information that if certain situations arise
with the crying, that I could do what I could do, and after 10 min-
utes maybe if the baby is crying, go and check on him. I don't know
whether I answered your question.

Mr. SHAYS. You answered it perfectly. Let me just delve a little
deeper if you don't mind.

There is a point where you realized that not only were you being
helped, but that your child would grow up to be a better child be-
cause of the program that you were involved in. When did you start
to see the need for this program for your child, not just yourself?

Ms. PEARSON. Lynn would tell me, one thing it may not be that
big but to me it is, telling me that 15 minutes every day put Nico
on his stomach so he could start strengthening his arms. I didn't
think that was a big deal until I noticed, when I first started doing
it with him, he didn't like it, he cried a lot. But I left him there,
anyway, because I really wanted to see if this worked. Then even-
tually Nico stopped crying a lot and he was much happier and he
was moving all over the place. And also the consistency of me doing
the colors with him. I read to him a lot, and now, like I said, he's
now saying hi, which I think is pretty good for an 8-month-old.

Mr. REINER. It's amazing.
Ms. PEARSON. Of course that brings tears to my eyes when I hear

that. I do the telephone. These are some of the games that I do
with him. I will just say, "Ring, ring, telephone, Nico." He is the
type of child who laughs at anything. He's a very happy baby.
When I do that, he starts smiling because he knows what I'm talk-
ing about. I say, "Hello," put the phone to him, he looks around;
one day he surprised me and he said, "Hi." All I could do was sit
back, I was like, "I love this baby," and I love the program, because
you see the product. And if you're consistent, and that's a hard
thing to do, especially since being adults we tend to get tired of
things after a while, but if you keep it up, you start seeing results.

Mr. SHAYS. This program has provided you wonderful help. You
have developed, from your own words, some tremendous parenting
skills. Did the program also help you get a job?

Ms. PEARSON. I was already employed.
Mr. SHAYS. So you took a leave of absence from work?
Ms. PEARSON. Yes, I was allowed to takewe have 3 months ma-

ternity leave, and I was able to take an extra month.
Mr. SHAYS. Was part of your concern about having a child that

this was interfering with your ability to potentially work and have
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your own productive life-style? Was that a factor in the whole
issue?

Ms. PEARSON. I'm sorry, can you repeat that again?
Mr. SHAYS. Yes. Something that a man doesn't have to weigh as

a general rule is that giving birth does not take that man from his
employment, where giving birth, for a woman, takes her from her
employment. In your early time, and even maybe now, did you see
your child as interfering with your own opportunities?

Ms. PEARSON. There were selfish thoughts that I quickly got
over.

Mr. SHAYS. I don't think those are selfish thoughts.
Ms. PEARSON. They were crazy thoughts. I was like, OK, so I

have this baby, now I can't sleep like I want to anymore; and I
quickly got over that. Now I don't even care about sleep. All I know
is that my son comes first.

Mr. SHAYS. I had someone say to my wife when our child was
born that she wouldn't have a good night's sleep until our child
went off to college. That was not a very nice thought for my wife.
The bottom line is that you are dealing with all the things that a
woman has to deal with, and you received wonderful help.

You have provided tremendous insights to us, but it almost
seems too good to be true. You are a very happy, beautiful young
woman, who seems to be almost like a super mom, and I have to
believe that you still have some challenges as well. But I really
welcome your testimony.

Governor Almond, I would like to know how you got into this
issue. I would like to know why you, as a public officialwhat trig-
gered you? You have all these opportunities as Governor, as you
pointed out. You chose to make this an issue. And you viewed it
as being central to the future prosperity of your State and to your
citizens. What triggered it?

Governor ALMOND. I think several things. I was a U.S. attorney
for 21 years, but I also worked as a volunteer, as chairman of a
very, very successful nonprofit group for economic development. I
know the link of the economy and these types of programs.

I think second it was programs with Mr. Reiner and others at
the National Governors Conference and compelling testimony on
the importance of these particular issues.

None of us take a position in a vacuum. I have two children of
my own. Both of my children my wife put in preschool, even though
she was home with them and took care of them; and I could see
the benefits to my own children of not only having good parenting,
but having a good preschool program. And by the way, that was a
preschool program run by the YMCA.

Now I have five grandchildren. I have a daughter-in-law with
three boys who has decided to stay at home, but all of her children
have 2 years of preschool before they're going to get to kinder-
garten.

And I have a daughter who works for the U.S. Government and
is very, very fortunate to have day care within her Federal agency,
so she takes her two children to work with her in the morning and
they are right in the building. It is a very, very good quality pro-
gram. I have been there and I see the benefits to my grand-
daughters, and I can tell you that being the grandfather and seeing
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your first granddaughter born and finding out that your daughter
is going to go back to work is a little unsettling. You wonder what's
going to happen. Keep in mind, we're separated by several hundred
miles. But to see the quality of the program that she is in is ter-
rific.

It is all of those things, I think, combined that give you the feel-
ing, this is the right thing to do.

Mr. SHAYS. Mr. Reiner, I am tempted to see if you have ques-
tions for the witnesses. I would like to ask youwhen we talked
earlier, you shared with me how you got involved in this issue, but
there is not a person in this room who doesn't feel they know you.
I just think for legislative history, it would be helpful to know why
a famous movie actor and producer and businessman decides that
he is going to champion this issue.

Mr. REINER. This is something I've been thinking about for al-
most 20 years. I went through a very difficult time in my life. I was
going through a divorce, I went into therapy as people do when
they're struggling. During that period, it became very clear to me
that the earliest influences I had had a direct and profound effect
on how I was functioning as an adult. I could see the direct correla-
tion between the two. Being somebody who has been civic minded
my whole life, I thought, there's something in this in terms of af-
fecting social outcomes. I certainly didn't have any scientific evi-
dence to back that up. It was just an instinct.

Then, as I got a little bit more successful and had a little bit of
a power base from which to reach out, I started doing that. I start-
ed finding out what was going on around the country in terms of
early childhood development. I convened a meeting at my house
with policymakers and early childhood development experts, people
from the Carnegie Corp., the Families and Work Institute; and dur-
ing the course of putting together this group, the first person actu-
ally that I called, I called out of the blue, was Tipper Gore. I really
was a babe in this. I really didn't know who to reach out to, but
I heard she was interested in mental health issues; I figured I'd
give her a call.

She took my call, we talked on the phone; she said, come to
Washington, we'll sit around and talk. I went with my wife, met
with her.

Then some of the members of the Department of Education, and
they brought outthis was about 4 years ago; they brought Clin-
ton's Goals 2000 out, the first goal of which was, every child must
enter school with a readiness to learn, and then all these other
goals. I said, it seems to me that if you can reach that first goal,
all the rest of these goals would kind of fall into place. She said,
yes, you're talking about zero to 3. I didn't even know the term at
that time. I said, yeah, I guess I'm talking about early childhood
experience and so on.

I then went and researched this, convened this group of people.
During the course of that research, I came across the Carnegie
Corp.'s Starting Points report, which came out in 1994 and very
clearly, in no uncertain terms, said that there was hard scientific
brain research to back up everything that I had been instinctively
feeling for all those years up till that point.
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I said, well, who knows about this? They said, well, just the sci-
entific community. I said, I'll take it upon myself to get this word
out, because I've always wantedwe've all done this, everybody in
this room has spent their whole life trying to solve social problems.
We come up with little piecemeal ways of doing it. I said, there's
a direct nexus here between what we put in in those first 3 years
and all of these social ills. I know that we can make that bridge.
Instead of having to spend money on remedial costs and closing the
barn door after the horses have left, this is a way to do it. I took
it upon myself to do it.

I thinkit's going to take a while. It's going to be a slow process,
but I think ultimately if I can pass this legislation out in Califor-
nia, I think it will be a tremendous shot in the arm.

Mr. SHAYS. I am going to conclude by boasting about my daugh-
ter, Ms. Pearson. But reinforcing something that I feel very strong-
ly about on this hearing. That is, that I have an 18-year-old daugh-
ter, my only child, our only child. I never took physics or chemistry
in high school. My wife took chemistry and will not show me her
grade. My daughter doesn't consider science her best subject, but
she got an A in both physics and chemistry.

I said to herher name is JeramyI said, Jeramy, why do you
think you did so well in these programs? She said, dadshe
worked very hard on them. She said, dad, I can't stand not under-
standing something. And I thought about that. And I thought, my
wife in particular used to read to her all the time, discovery and
new things, but we enrolled her in a Montessori program, a pre-
kindergarten kind of program. The whole program was based on
discovering and learning. I give a lot of the credit to her success
in high school not to the high school, but to that program way back
when.

Mr. Kucinich, you have the floor.
Mr. KUCINICH. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Thank you

also for the sensitivity that you have expressed on this issue in
calling this meeting, as well as your overall commitment to these
issues. I have at least one question for each witness.

I would like to start with Ms. Pearson. Welcome to this commit-
tee and thank you for sharing with us your heartfelt stories. I am
interested, the medical care that you received, the doctor that you
went to, how did you happen to get that doctor? Is this a family
doctor you had for many years or is it a doctor who came through
an insurance plan that you are involved in?

Ms. PEARSON. Insurance, yes.
Mr. KUCINICH. What kind of a plan was it just curiously? What

kind of a plan was it? How did you happen to have that insurance?
What kind of insurance plan was it?

Ms. PEARSON. It's an HMO.
Mr. KUCINICH. And so the doctor, did he refer you to the psychia-

trist?
Ms. PEARSON. She did, yes.
Mr. KUCINICH. She did. OK. The Healthy Families program, is

that a State-funded program?
Ms. PEARSON. I don't know. Is it?
Mr. KUCINICH. Mr. Chairman, could we haveI am interested in

the answer.

4
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Mr. SHAYS. We are not going to swear you in only because you
are identified, but we will have you come up. Just state your name
and tell us what the program is.

Ms. WAYNE. My name is Nicole Wayne. I work for Healthy Fami-
lies, a northern Virginia family service.

Mr. SHAYS. Your question.
Mr. KUCINICH. The question, thank you. How do you receive your

funding?
Ms. WAYNE. It's a public-private partnership. Northern Virginia

family service is a private, nonprofit agency. Funding for our
healthy families comesfor example, leadership support is given to
us by the Freddie Mac Foundation. Then there are funding streams
that include, in some cases, up to 20 different revenue streams,
some public, some private, that go into our annual budget. You can
see it is a tremendous process every year.

Mr. KUCINICH. How many clients do you serve?
Ms. WAYNE. Over 500 families in northern Virginia.
Mr. KUCINICH. Annually?
Ms. WAYNE. Yes.
Mr. KUCINICH. Thank you very much.
Governor, welcome. One of the things I think we are all going to

be watching is whether welfare reform contributes to lowering or
increasing the child poverty rate, since we know that two-thirds of
welfare recipients, at least the figures that I have seen, have been
children. And, of course, in the reports that I have seen, Rhode Is-
land has done very well as compared to other States in terms of
the overall reduction in the past 20 years in the rate of childhood
poverty. The national average is a 12 percent increase; Rhode Is-
land has a 17 percent decrease. But in addition to that, what I am
interested in, have you yet had enough information to submit your
State report that was, I think, required by the Personal Respon-
sibility and Work Reconciliation Act?

Governor ALMOND. We have, I believe. My director is not with
me this morning, but I'm positive we have submitted that.

Mr. KUCINICH. If you have, do you know offhand whether or not
you have seen a continued reduction in childhood poverty or has
there been an increase?

Governor ALMOND. I would say we have had a decrease, but keep
in mind we have expanded the programs considerably, so that our
caseload will be increasing, because our program is aimed at the
working poor. Keep in mind the people on welfare are the worst in
poverty, the issue of getting them off welfare. So most of our pro-
grams, whether it's the health care or the child care programs, the
money goes to the working poor.

Mr. KUCINICH. The programs that you have, are they targeted for
the parents as well as the children?

Governor ALMOND. Oh, sure.
Mr. KUCINICH. Are they for people who are not employed?
Governor ALMOND. Oh, sure, we have a lot of people who are get-

ting the child care subsidy who may be in education programs, in
transition from welfare.

Mr. KUCINICH. In terms of the expenditures that may have been
made per capita on welfare, is there any difference between the
amount of money that may have been spent before on welfare and
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when you add up all the other programs that you are now using
to try to provide a safety net for those people? Have you made any
comparisons?

Governor ALMOND. I couldn't answer that, but I will get that in-
formation for you and have it transmitted to you.

[The information referred to follows:]
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State of Rhode Island

Total Welfare Expenditures

Actual
1996

Planned
1999

Cash Assistance" $127,518,713 $107,780,299

Employment and Training 4,343,430 10,530,101

DLT/ DCYF Emergency Asst. 16,518,486 18,281,767

DEFRA Payments 3,200,000 2,500,000

Subtotal $151,580,629 $139,092,167

Child Care 15,855,353 32,368,893

Health Care 85,725,123 121,977,906

Total $253,161,105 $293,438,966

*Cash assistance cases have been steadily declining since 1994. Recipients totalled 62,624
in 1994, 58,405 in 1996 and are projected at 52,800 for 109. In order to move recipients to
employment more funds have been invested in training, child care and health care.

WREXP.WK4 08/12/98
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Mr. KUCINICH. I would be interested in that.
Do you have any comment on the methodology that the Federal

Government has required the States to follow with respect to keep-
ing your obligations as outlined in the Welfare Reform Act?

Governor ALMOND. We are currently evaluating our entire case-
load and doing case studies for each family with a transition off the
welfare program for each family. We are spending a lot of time and
money on that particular issue, on an individual basis.

Mr. KUCINICH. That is good to hear. I salute you for that.
Governor ALMOND. And it took time because, keep in mind, the

whole welfare system was geared toward receiving a check. Now
we have had to retrain our entire work force.

Mr. KUCINICH. Mr. Reiner, thank you for your involvement in
this. Do you have any other ideas on how the private sector can
be more active? Certainly you have pointed the way to what an in-
dividual who is not involved in government directly can do. Have
you communicated your concerns to the private sector in trying to
enlarge the scope of involvement such as Healthy Families?

Mr. REINER. Yes. Yesterday we had a meeting in Rhode Island.
The Governor convened leaders of the government, the business
community, all the leaders of the State, brought them together in
one meeting to talk specifically about how State government and
private money and foundation money can all partner together and
make this investment. That was the main purpose of the meeting
and was a wonderful meeting and very energized.

The day before, I hosted a conference in New York City with Kai-
ser Permanente, where we brought business leaders from around
the country to talk specifically about how they could get involved.
Now, there are a couple of things they can do. One is within their
companies: family friendly work practices, providing child care, flex
time for parents to do the best for their children. Those practices
are being promoted amongst the companies.

But there is another element to all this. That is, the fact that
this is all for the common good. We're all part ofchildren are our
future. We've been hearing that our whole lives. We all have to
play a part in that. We have to find ways of partnering up Federal
Government, State government, local governments, the business
community, the foundation community, all together to play a part
and create this integrated system.

Mr. KUCINICH. I think it is significant that Ms. Pearson received
information and a referral. That was a critical moment, I take it,
in your life when you received that referral to Healthy Families.
Have you considered the role that social disorganization plays in
trying to communicate?

Mr. REINER. Yes. Advertising. You have a problem, you have to
advertise it. No question about it; it plays a big part.

Mr. KUCINICH. I am very interested in this.
Mr. REINER. Outreach.
Mr. KUCINICH. Let's talk about outreach a moment, because I

think this is critical. Either you or the Governor might be helpful
in commenting on this since Ms. Pearson has already given us tes-
timony about the effect of someone who reached out, in this case
a medical professional. Because Iand Mr. Towns, I think, we rep-
resent constituents that in some parts have some similarities. The
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difficulty in areas where there is a high degree of poverty is, there
might be programs there---

Mr. REINER. But they can't access them.
Mr. KUCINICH. Exactly. Talk about outreach for a moment.
Mr. REINER. That's one of the wonderful things that Healthy

Families of America does. They engage the community. By the way,
this has to be done on a community-by-community basis. It doesn't
work any other way. If you have the right kind of intervention pro-
grams, you find the right entry.

I know what Healthy Families does, I know the programs it does
because of the one we did in Hampton, VA. They take up with the
churches, with businesses, with schools, with libraries, with the
health care organizations, and State-run agencies and find many,
many points of entry into the system. They look to find families at
risk. They identify families at risk.

What I have experienced, and I don't know if Felicia will tell you,
is 90 to 95 percent of the people who are approached, when they
are identified and approached properly, say, yes, they want to be
involved. Nobody wants to be a bad parent. They just don't know
that it's available.

So you need the right kind of intervention program that under-
stands the concept of outreach and is able to do it effectively.
Healthy Families of America, I thinkyou will correct mehas
about 260, 300 now, communities around the country and they are
very successful. But we need to proliferate that, and it can be done.

Mr. KUCINICH. Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you. I think this
overall point about outreach is critical, because no matter how
many resources might be marshaled, we have to make sure that
people can have a chance to be lifted out of the circumstances of
their poverty, which includes such a degree of social disorganiza-
tion that they may not even know that some service may exist,
even though it is on the same block.

Mr. REINER. One of the things you are wrestling with is you have
3 million children eligible for Medicaid who don't get it because
they don't know it exists. That's why we need an integrated system
of health care, child care and parent education, so that we can link
people up; so that whatever point of entry they make into our so-
cial system, they can be linked up; so that churches and schools
and hospitals and pediatriciansone of the things we do is we
have 154 national organizations which are trying to do that, link
up with other organizations, so they're not working so piecemeal.

Mr. KUCINICH. Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you again.
Governor ALMOND. I was just going to add, in Rhode Island, we

have what we call COZYS, child opportunity zones. They are in the
urban areas. It is one-stop shopping; we integrate all the social
service programs in the schools, working with the parents and with
the children from health care to child care to every other service
that's available. We provide that.

Mr. KUCINICH. If .I could ask, Mr.' Chairman, I would particularly
be interested and I am sure the committee would.

Governor ALMOND. We will send you the material on that.
[The information referred to follows:]
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School-Linked Services:

Child Opportunity Zone Family Centers is

the first in a series of reports focused on

school-linked services, family support
programs, and school-family-community
partnerships in Rhode Island. School

readiness, healthy child development, and

school success are goals that can best be

achieved by working across sectors.

Improving outcomes for children demands
that schools, families, service providers,

and community leaders work together to
craft comprehensive solutions to complex
problems.

There is increasing pressure on the

public education system to monitor
outcomes for children at school entry, in
the fourth grade, and beyond. A school
system striving for excellence is more

likely to be successful when academic

strategies are complemented by efforts to

improve the quality of family and
community life. Many children and
families have complex needs that can not

be met by the education system alone.

School-linked service initiatives across the

country are proving to be viable and
encouraging vehicles to improve school

success through active partnerships among

schools, families, health and human

service agencies, and other community
resources.

This series of reports will highlight
promising efforts in Rhode Island that go
beyond institutional boundaries in order
to improve the health, safety, education,

and economic well-being of families. The
programs highlighted by the series have

taken on the challenge of working across
the health, education, and social service

systems. It is hoped that the lessons

learned from these innovative efforts will
stimulate dialogue on how to best develop,
support, and sustain programs and

institutions that will improve outcomes
for children and families.

"School-Linked Services"
A strategy to improve educational, mental

health, health, and social outcomes for
children and families. School-linked

services connect families with a wide range
of informal supports, community
activities, health care and social services.

"Family Center"
A friendly, welcoming place in or near a
school where parents and other family
members can go to receive information,

support, services or referrals. The program
design for school-linked services often

includes a family center.

"Family Support"
A way of working with families that builds
on their strengths and interests, focuses on

the healthy development of the parent as
well as the child, connects families with a
wide-range of informal supports and
opportunities in the community, and
helps families access services as needed.

"School-Community-Family
Partnership"

A strategy used to improve the educational

achievement of children. Schools, families,

and community agencies work together to
address the educational, health, social, and

economic well-being of children and
families. The most effective partnerships

focus on results, make a commitment to
shared decision-making, and allocate

resources for activities that meet mutually
identified needs.

School-Unked Services

Child Opportunity Zone

Family Centers

Provides a rationale for

school-linked services as a

strategy to improve
outcomes for children.

Describes Rhode Island's

Child Opportunity Zone
(COZ) Family Center

Initiative.

Highlights the current

status of the initiative

tuned on site visits and

interviews In the 13

Rhode Island

communities with COZ
Family Centers.

Suggests program and

policy implications.
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Attributes of Effective
Programs for

Children and Families

Successful programs are comprehensive.

flexible. responsive, and persevering.

Programs take responsibility for providing
easy and coherent access to services that

are sufficiently extensive and intensive to

meet the major needs of the families they

work with. Effective programs recognize
that no matter where the point of entry
into services takes place, families may need

access to a range of prevention and

intervention services. Services and

supports are provided either directly or
through formalized linkages to other
agencies and community partners.

Successful programs see children in the

context of their families. Successful

programs are two-generational. Programs

work to meet the needs of the parent as
well as the child. At the same time, parents
are helped to meet the health and
developmental needs of their children.

Successful programs deal with families as

part of neighborhoods and communities.

Programs have deep roots in the

community and respond to the needs
perceived and identified by the
community. To assure their relevance to

the community they wish to serve,
programs recognize cultural values in their

design and offerings. Staff reflect the

ethnicity of the community and the
community takes part in planning the
services.

Successful programs operate in settings that

encourage practitioners to build strong

relationships based on mutual trust and

respect. Programs are based in

organizations which are widely accepted

by the community (e.g. schools,
community organizations, community-
based family support programs) and that

can be kept open year-round and during

non-traditional hours. Staff have the time,
training, skills, and institutional support
necessary to create an accepting

enyironment and to development
meaningful one-to-one relationships. They

establish a climate that is welcoming,

continuous, and reliable.

Successful programs have a long-term

preventive orientation, a clear mission, and

continue to evolve over time. Programs do

not wait until families are in trouble to
provide services and to reinforce the

strengths of the child, the family, and the
neighborhood. Programs that are

successful with the most disadvantaged

populations persevere in their efforts to
reach the hardest-to-reach and tailor their

services to respond to the distinctive needs

of those at greatest risk. Programs have a

clearly articulated mission, yet managers

are allow their programs to continually
evolve to respond to changing individual,

family and community needs. They
operate in a culture that is outcomes-
oriented, rather than rule-bound.

Successful programs are well-managed by

competent and committed individuals with

clearly identifiable skills. Staff are trained

and supported to provide high qualios

responsive services. Staff are versatile and

flexible and actively collaborate across

bureaucratic and professional boundaries.

Staff do "whatever it takes" - they have the

flexibility to respond to concrete needs for
help with food or housing or a violent
family member, as well as to subtler needs

for a listening ear.

Adapted from Schorr; L.B. (19971. Common
Purpose: Strengthening Families and Neighborhoods

to Rebuild America. New York: Anchor Books; Schorr.

L, Both, D., Copple, C. (Ede.), "Effective Services.*
Young Children: Report of a Workshop". Washington,

RC: National Academy Press. 1991: Judith E
Jones, "Strengthening Families in Need - Models and
Commitments", New York: Columbia thliVrt7h)
National Center fir Children in Poveros 1999.
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Rationale for
School-Linked Services

Promoting School Readiness and School

Success

Recent brain research has heightened

awareness of the critical effects of the early
environment on children's social,
emotional, physical, and cognitive

readiness for school.' Babies raised in safe

and stimulating environments are better
learners later in life than those raised in

less stimulating environments.' In order to
develop pre-reading skills, children need
to have caring relationships with adults
who listen and calk to them, tell them
stories, share books and music, and play

with toys, crayons, and writing materials.'

Students' economic conditions, home
environments, and cultural backgrounds

can profoundly affect their adjustment to
and performance in school. Children's
academic achievement is higher when they

live in communities that provide
supportive environments for parenting
and have a variety of out-of-school

learning opportunities for both adults and
children.4 Schools are finding that they
can best serve the needs of children by

becoming more family-centered and by
increasing collaboration with support
services in the community.'

Children who start school poorly
prepared for formal schoolwork often fall
further behind until poor performance,
low self-esteem, alienation, and frustration
cause them to drop out of school .6 Child

welfare, human service, and juvenile

justice professionals recognize that poor
school performance is often an early

warning sign of a child at risk for
involvement in juvenile crime, substance
abuse, teen pregnancy, or welfare

dependency. School-linked services can be

an important resource for children who
are growing up in families struggling with
poverty, language barriers, poor literacy

a1

and basic skills; who live in families with
substance abuse, domestic violence, or

other social problems; or who live in
communities with limited access to child
care, before- and after- school fttivities,
and recreational opportunities.

Improving Outcomes by More Effective Use

of Education, Health, and Social Service

Resources

A second factor propelling the
development of school-linked service

models nationwide is the recognition that
improving outcomes for children requires
more effective integration of existing
resources for health, education, and social
services. The categorical funding

approaches of the past two decades have

made it difficult to provide appropriate
preventive services to children and

families. School-linked services offer an

added value to the existing network of
services that are often too fragmented,

categorical, and crisis-oriented to offer a

good match with what families need to
succeed.'

By supporting families before they get
into trouble and by connecting families to
existing resources in the community,
school-linked family centers support the
missions of child and family serving
agencies and the wider community.

Schools want to improve student

achievement. Health and social service

providers want physically and emotionally
healthy children and families that will
become productive workers and citizens.

Communities want better outcomes for
children. Citizens want to be sure their tax
dollars go to programs that work. Funders
and 'policymakers are seeking ways to

provide services that are cost-effective.

Families want services that respond

flexibly to their needs and priorities.

Child welfare, human

service, and luvenile

justice professionals

recognize that poor

school performance is

often an early warning

sign of a child at risk for

involvement in juvenile

crime, substance abuse,

teen pregnancy, or welfare

dependency.

To be most effective,

services may have to be

redesigned to minimize

duplication and rigid

categorical boundaries.

Integrated services are

meant to be easily

accessible,flexible,

comprehensive, and

responsive to family needs

and priorities.
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They are linked to schools

- where most of the early

warning signs for health,

education, and social

problems first appear.

They are prevention

oriented, not crisis

oriented.

They cut across

categorical boundaries

and address interrelated

causes of problems.

Non-categorical funding

provides Incentives to

"think outside the box" to
create strategies that cut

across systems.

They provide a connecting

point for Individual,

specialized agencies to

work together to craft
comprehensive solutions

to complex problems.

They use the strengths of

families as resources.

They can help children

succeed in school and in

life.

vG

What We Know
About Successful

School-Linked Services
(From School-Linked Family Center

Efforts In Other States)

The most successful school-linked
service programs reflect active and equal
partnerships among schools, families, and
community agencies.' While schools have
an enormous influence on and unique
access to children and families, successful
programs enlist all community
stakeholders and coordinate existing
resources to improve educational, health,
and social outcomes.

Research across the country has
demonstrated that school-linked
integrated services can promote school
readiness and student success. School-
linked services can help to increase student
achievement, save money and reduce
overlapping services, reach those children
and families most in need, make schools
more welcoming to families, increase
community support for the school, and
help at-risk families develop the capacity
to manage their own lives successfully.

There is no single model of school-
linked services that is accepted as most
effective. Rather, school-linked services are
based on the attributes of effective practice
that have been documented in the
literature. The most effective school-
linked service models across the country
connect families with services and
supports that are family-focused,
comprehensive, integrated, culturally
diverse and responsive, preventive,
community-based, and accountable for
results.'

Experience in several states indicates that
school-linked family centers are a cost-
effective way to provide supports to
families and to link families to needed
services. School-based programs for

families with young children provide
families with support and educational
services, such as parenting classes, literacy
education, and referrals to other agencies.
Increased collaboration between schools
and human service agencies is most
effective when families are involved in a

variety of roles. For example, a recent
evaluation of the California Healthy Start
School-Linked Services Initiative found
that when parents are more involved,
school-linked services tended to be more
accessible, integrated into the life of the
school, and more culturally relevant.'

Successful programs rely on a full-time
coordinator or program director, who
builds a team of personnel sensitive to
issues related to youth development,
family support, cultural diversity, and
community empowerment. In many
locations, bilingual staff are essential. A
designated space such as a clinic or a
center in a school acts as a focal point for
bringing in services from the community.
One of the most important outcomes of
developing school-linked services is the
ability to leverage resources to improve
outcomes for children and families."

Effective school-linked service programs
emerge out of extended negotiations with
health, social service, and other agencies.
Each agency has a specific contribution to
make, through relocating personnel,
training, supervision, or accepting
referrals. Experience has shown the
importance of having a full-time person
designated as coordinator of the program
at a very early stage in development.
Communities have a much better chance
of developing school-based centers in
states that stimulate program development
with grants."
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The Effectiveness of
School-Linked Services

School-linked services can improve child
and family well-being. Some examples of
indicators that have been positively
impacted by school-linked family center
initiatives in other states include:

Improvements in:

Student achievement.

Parent participation in the schools.
Improved classroom behavior.

Enrollment in Medicaid and other benefit
programs.

Access to health and dental care

Access to child care and transportation.
Parenting skills and family functioning.

Reductions in:

Student mobility.
School violence.

Suspension rates and unexcused absences.

Grade retention.

Unmet needs for food and clothing.

School-linked family centers are most
effective when the following elements are

supported by resource allocation and
program design:

Program Development:

There are active and equal partnerships

among schools, families, and community
agencies.

Efforts are well-integrated into the life of
the school.

Parents are more involved with site

activities.

Program Implementation:

Services are two-generational - focusing on

the child and family.

Services are culturally competent.

A mix of both prevention and
intervention programs are available.
Programs are flexible in responding to

family needs and work with Families over
time.
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State School-Linked
Service Programs

Efforts are underway in states across the

country to build networks of school-
linked family centers and to foster
community partnerships that make health
and human services more accessible to

families and students. Two examples of

school-linked service efforts that are
showing promise include:

Kentucky Family Resource and
Youth Services Centers

Kentucky's Education Reform Act of
1990 authorized support for Family
Resource and Youth Service Centers in all

elementary and high schools in which
20 percent or more of the students are

eligible for free or reduced-price lunches.

The Centers are designed to coordinate a
community's social and health services for

students and their families. Although the
centers provide some services directly, the

majority of efforts focus on accessing
existing community services for families.

Typical program components include
preschool and after-school child care,

information and referral, and family
support services.

The School of the 2I't Century

The School of the 21st Century was
initiated in 1987 by the Bush Center on
Child Development and Social Policy at
Yale University. Communities across the
country follow guiding principles set by
the Yale Bush Center and receive training

and technical assistance through an annual

institute. The basic components of the

program - child care, information and
referral, home visits to new and expectant

parents, and a network of family child care

providers - are designed in accordance

with community resources and needs.

"All over the country,

school and community

people are putting

together the pieces to

help schools meet the

varied needs of today's

students and their

parents. I call the product

of these collaborative

efforts full-service schools.

The full-service school Is a

homegrown product that

can take many shapes:

community schools,

lighted school houses

called Beacons, school-

based clinics, family

resource centers." joy

Dryfoos,"Full-Service

Schools", Educational

Leadership, 1996
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There are many children

who are not acquiring the

skills and Imowledge

needed to support

successful and productive

lives. Educators, parents,

and other community
leaders must find ways to

meet the social service

and health needs of all our

children to enable them

to learn. Report of the 21"

Century Education

Commission, 1992

Children enter school

ready to learn.

Children experience

success In school.

Children graduate

prepared to lead

productive lives.
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School-Linked Services
in Rhode Island:

Child Opportunity Zone
Family Centers

Child Opportunity Zone Family
Centers are the first statewide effort to

link schools with comprehensive support
services for children and families. The
national movement toward school-linked
services provides evidence that school-

linked services can be an effective strategy

to improve the quality of family and
community life, involve parents in their
children's education, and improve

outcomes for children. The concept of
"Child Opportunity Zones" was first
introduced in Rhode Island in 1992 as
part of the Report of the 21" Century
Commission. Legislation was passed in

1993 calling for the Rhode Island
Department of Education and the Rhode
Island Children's Cabinet to develop
Child Opportunity Zone Family Centers
in communities across the state.

A public-private partnership was
established to oversee the development of

the Family Centers and to provide a pool
of funding for allocation to local school
districts and their community partners.
Founding partners of the COZ Family
Center Initiative included the Rhode
Island Department of Education, the
Rhode Island Department of Substance

Abuse (now part of the Rhode Island
Department of Health), and the United
Way of Southeastern New Erigland. The
COZ Family Center Initiative is currently
managed by a statewide management team

comprised of the Rhode Island
Department of Education, the Rhode
Island Department of Health, the United
Way of Southeastern New England, and
local COZ Family Center coordinators.

Child Opportunity Zone Family
Centers are designed to address the

growing health, social and emotional
needs of children in order to reduce
barriers to learning. The goal is to

promote school success among children

currently in the education system and
promote readiness for school among

young children. A comprehensive response

to the health, social and economic needs

of children and families extends beyond

the traditional mission of the school and
requires the investment of social service

agencies and community members. While
the school districts are actively involved in
forging partnerships with community
agencies and families, schools are meant to

be a partner among equals.

Guiding Principles

Based on research from school-linked

services nationwide, the COZ Family
Center initiative developed guiding
principles for use by local sites in program
design and implementation. Schools,
families, and communities are expected to
work as equal partners in planning,

developing, and implementing Family
Center activities and to share resources

and responsibilities. There should be a

focus on the priorities and needs of the
whole family, rather than individual
members. Families should be assisted in

identifying their capacities in order to
build supports and access resources.

Family Centers are to be located at, or

close to, schools and serve as a hub of

activities for all families. A Center
becomes a place that facilitates the

development of neighborhood networks
and offers families leadership roles in

decisions and governance. Family Centers

are a source of information and support to

families. Activities and services are flexible,

accessible, and promote developmental

prevention approaches.
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Child Opportunity Zone
Family Centers 1993-1998

COZ Family Centers are operational in
13 Rhode Island communities as of the
1997-1998 school year. The Child

Opportunity Zone Family Centers were
originally funded with planning grants in
1993-1994 and 1994-1995. The range of
funding in the planning years varied from
$3,000 to $60,000 per community.
During the planning phase, a community
resource and needs assessment was

completed by all sires to provide
information used to set goals and

priorities for the COZ Family Center. In a
few communities, parents have been and

continue to be extensively involved in
making decisions about program design

and implementation. Most COZ Family
Center communities are just finishing
their third or fourth year of operation.

Funding through the state COZ Family
Center initiative in the 1997-1998 fiscal
year is $35,000 per COZ community.
This funding level requires that COZ
Family Center communities seek other
sources of funds for programs and make

linkages with existing programs in order to

address local needs and priorities. Each

COZ community has developed a
working partnership that involves the
school, human service agencies,

community members, and parents. There

is a deliberate focus on doing whatever it

takes to break down the fragmentation of
the existing service delivery model,

facilitate access to services, and connect

parents to each other and to informal
support networks in the community.

Of the thirteen communities involved in
the COZ Family Center initiative, nine
are working in more than one school in

the district. Eight have school-based

locations for their Family Centers, one has
a community-based location, and four

have both school and community-based
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locations. COZ Family Centers are
connected with 32 elementary schools, 2

middle schools, and 2 high schools in the

13 participating communities.

COZ Family Center
Core Areas

While the COZ Family Center Initiative
does not require a core set of program

components, all sites are expected to

develop programs and services that help

children experience success in school by

focusing on one or more outcomes in four
core areas:

Children's Learning Environments

All children will have access to high
quality and developmentally appropriate

early childhood experiences and
opportunities to learn in school, in before-
and after-school programs, and during the
summer - in environments free of drugs,
crime, and environmental hazards.

Physical and Mental Health
All children and families will be provided
with health information and education
and will have access to primary care

services, including prenatal care, well child

care, specialty care, mental health care.

Economic Opportunity
All families will have access to

opportunities, information, services and
education that enable them to be
economically self-sufficient including
adult education, job skill training, literacy
training, and career development.

Family Support
All parents will have access to information,

opportunities, services and education to
support their role as a parent. A
continuum of opportunities will be
available for parents to be involved in their
children's education. All Families will have

access to food, clothing, and housing,

among other basic needs.

ST CO Y AVAI LE

While the school districts

are actively involved in

forging partnerships with

mmunity agencies and

families, schools are

meant to be a partner

among equals. COZ

Family Centers are often

"in" the school but not
solely"of" the school.

The COZ Family Center

does not necessarily pay

for all services and.

program components.

Rather it links children

and families to existing

supports and services,

taps into informal support

networks and community

associations, and develops

partnerships with

agencies or groups that

can fill gaps in services.



Guarantee Quality Child

Care Chokes

Ensure Good Health and

Protection

Promote Responsible

Parenthood

Mobilize the Community

to Support Young

Children

Total funding over live

years, including Starting

Point=

$2,915,775

Total funding 1997-1998,

including Starting Points:

$667,060
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Child Opportunity Zone Family
Center Funding 1993-1998

The initial funding to launch the Child
Opportunity Family Centers in 1993-
1994 was a partnership among the Rhode
Island Department of Education, Rhode
Island Department of Substance Abuse
(integrated into the Rhode Island
Department of Health in 1995), and the
United Way of Southeastern New
England. The Department of Health
joined the funding partnership in 1995-
1996. Since that time the Child
Opportunity Zone Family Center
statewide initiative has been funded by a
partnership of the Rhode Island
Department of Education, the Rhode
Island Department of Health and the
United Way of Southeastern New
England. Other funders of the initiative
have included the Department of
Children, Youth, and Families and the
Rhode Island Foundation.

In 1996-1997 and 1997-1998, the State
of Rhode Island received funds from the
Carnegie Corporation of New York to
integrate the Starting Points focus on

children birth to three into Rhode Island's
COZ Family Center initiative. Carnegie
provided $150,000 over two years to

support early childhood work in nine
communities with COZ Family Centers.
The Starting Points funding was
supplemented with $215,000 in
additional funds over two years from the

United Way of Southeastern New
England, the Rhode Island Department of
Health, the Rhode Island Department of
Education, and the Rhode Island
Department of Children Youth and
Families. The Starting Points funding has
enabled the nine Starting Points
communities to focus increased attention
on issues of child care, early childhood

education and the transition to
kindergarten, and parent support and
education.

Statewide Funding of Child Opportunity Zone Family Centers
1993-1998

United Way of Southeastern New England

Carnegie Corporation of New York 11%

RI DCYF 2%
The Rhode Island Foundation f;.7:;.,

58% RI Department of Education

RI Department of Health 20%

Total funding over five years= $2,915,775

(does not include funds raised locally, school district match, or non-COZ Family Center grants to
local communities; does include Starting Points funding of $365.000 over two years)
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Program and Policy
Implications

The COZ Family Center Initiative,
planned and implemented in 13 Rhode
Island communities over the past five
years, shows promise as a mechanism for

improving child and family well-being.
The COZ Family Centers in each
community are innovative, yet fragile,
efforts to provide supports to families
before they are in trouble, to build parent

leadership, and to leverage resources across

the education, health, and human service
systems in order to improve outcomes.

The full potential of school-linked family
centered services in Rhode Island can not

be realized without deliberate attention to
program and policy issues that affect the

quality and scope of the COZ Family
Centers in each community.

Financing

The level of funding and mechanism for
financing children's programs have

significant impacts on the quality and
scope of the programs. It is still true that

financing often drives the priorities and
goals of the programs to be offered,

making it difficult for local efforts to stay
focused on achieving outcomes. The COZ
Family Center initiative attempts to
reverse this dynamic by providing a small
amount of flexible funding to local
communities in order to move toward the
Family Center's desired outcomes. Most
local COZ sites have been effective in

creating strong linkages with existing

resources, developing partnerships to fill
gaps in services, and seeking funding to

meet identified needs. The median budget
for the 13 COZ Family Centers is

$83,000 and the range is from $52,000 to
$268,000. Ten communities have more
than doubled the state investment of

$35,000 per community and four COZ

DI

Family Centers have program budgets

totaling over $100,000. These figures do

not include the significant resources

invested by partnership organizations that
provide staff, space, and in-kind resources

to meet Family Center goals and priorities.

Despite the progress COZ Family
Centers have been able to make with

extremely limited resources, the fragile

financing of the initiative limits the
potential to make lasting change and
achieve long-term goals. Several barriers to

progress include the overwhelmingly
categorical, crisis-oriented nature of state

funding. The purpose of linking services
with a child's educational development is

to ensure that supports are there when the

child and family need them. COZ Family
Centers will continue to be limited in
scope and impact until more flexible,
preventive funding is available across the

health and human service systems.

Evaluation

Investments in ongoing documentation
and evaluation of school-linked family
centers is critical to meeting long-term
goals and making real change for children
and families. The demand for

accountability requires the identification
and measurement of at least some

indicators of child well-being related to
school readiness and school success. The

process of deciding on appropriate

indicators must take into account not only
those indicators that are most meaningful
to the state and local agencies but also

those with which parents and community
members are most concerned.'' Evaluation
measures need to be realistic and not

overpromise results that are not in line
with the level of resources committed to

the local communities. Investments in
evaluation can confirm success and can

reveal where programs need to be refined
and improved.

Flexible,non-categorical,

preventive funding

encourages broader and

more flexible approaches

to the underlying

situations confronting

families. School-linked

services can not move

forward for the long-term

or at sufficient scale

unless deliberate

attempts are made to
move beyond temporary

and fragile combinations

of existing programs."

The fact that COZ Family

Centers span a number of

schools in a single district

and across thirteen

communities guarantees

a high degree of program

variability, as each

community adapts the

general model to the

particular circumstances

of local funding, goals, and

service availability.This

complexity needs to be

factored into the

evaluation design, which

should reflect some

common elements that

can be measured across

sites but also unique

elements important to
individual communities.
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As of the 19974998

school year, COZ Family

Centers were connected

with:
32 Elementary Schools

2 Middle School

2 High Schools

and were located in the

following communities:

Bristol Warren
Central Falls

Coventry

Cumberland
East Providence

Middletown

Newport
North Kingstown
Pawtucket

Providence

Westerly

Woonsocket
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Program Profiles
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BRISTOLWARREN
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ
Schools
Hugh Cole School
Main Street School

Childs Street School

Grade
Levels

K-5
1.3

I -3

Total Percent
Enrollment Low-Income

301 36%

148 33%

151 34%

Advisory Board
A 32-member Service Committee is comprised of 18 agency staff, S school staff, and 4 parents.The

Service Committee plans programs and coordinates resources to meet the goals of the COZ Family
Center, including the Starting Points focus on children from birth to age three.The Family Center
is in the process of establishing a Parent Advisory Board which will have increased representation on
the Service Committee.

Community and School Locations
The Bristol Warren Family Center is located in Mary V. Quirk Building, also known as the Bristol
Warren Adult Education Community and Family Resource Center. In addition to the COZ Family
Center program components, the Quirk Center offers adult education programs sponsored by the
School District and family programs sponsored by Self-Help, Inc.The COZ does not have family
center space in the three elementary schools. An after-school program for children in grades K-5 is
offered on-site at the Hugh Cole School for 30 children who attend any of the three elementary
schools. Mental health counseling services for children and families are offered on-site at the Main
Street School by East Bay Mental Health Center.

Funding 1997-1998:$83,000
(does not include in-kind support from school district, in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or time
contributed by parent and community volunteers).

Children's Trust Fund

School District

Starting Points (Department of Education.
Department of Health. United Way, Carnegie)

12%

30%

42% COZ Family Center (Department of Education.
Department of Health. United Way)

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Parent Leadership Program

Parents Anonymous

Home Visits for Parents of Newborns
Welcome Bags with Resource Information for
Parents of All Newborns
Infant Toddler Car Seat Distribution
Car Safety Education Program
Parenting Skills Series

Toy and Book Library at the Quirk Center

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Drop-In and Play Program

Parents as Teachers (School District COZ)

Child Care
Before- and After-School Child Care

Training for Family Child Care Providers
Family Child Care Provider Network

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Summer Programs for Children (Barrington
YMCA)

School-Linked Health and Social Services
School-Based Counseling Program (East Bay
Mental Health Center)

Family and Community Development
Family Recreation (Self-Help/DCYF Family
Preservation)

Contact
Joan Ricd,Coordinator

Participating Schools:

3 Elementary Schools

Auspices

Bristol Warren Regional

School District

AfMlattorrs

Schools of the 21st

Century -Yale Bush

Center

Carnegie Starting Points

Address

COZ Family Center

Mary V. Quirt( Building

790 Main Street

Warren, RI 02885

(401) 247-3730

Staff:

Coordinator (full-time)
Senior Child Care

Coordinator (part-time)
Assistant Child Care

Provider (part-time)

2 Home Visitors (part-

time)
Starting Points

Consultant (part-time)
2 Parent Anonymous

Facilitators

2 Parent Educators

Children reach

kindergarten ready to
learn.

Guarantee quality child
care choices.

Parents have resources

that support their role as
parents.
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Contact
Mario Pepitto,

Coordinator
Participating Schools:

1 Early Elementary

School

Auspice=

Central Falls School

District
Affiliation=
Carnegie Starting Points

Address

Central Falls COZ

Central Falls School

Department
21 Medley Avenue

Central Falls, RI 02863

(401) 127-7700

Staff:

Coordinator (part-time)

Children reach

kindergarten ready to

learn.

Parents are involved in

their children's education.

Children and families are

physically, mentally, and

emotionally heathy.

Parents have resources

that support their role as

parents.

so

CENTRAL FALLS
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE

COZ Grade Total Percent
School Levels Enrollment Low-Income
Captain Hunt Early School preK and K 329 100%

Advisory Board
The COZ/Family Support Center Parent Advisory Board, comprised of 20 parents, gives advice and

ideas on programs to be offered and publishes a parent newsletter. Representatives of 9 partner
agencies, the Captain Hunt School principal, and 4 Captain Hunt teachers and staff participate In

planning, meetings, and discussions but do not vote.

School Location and Community Location
Activities of the Central Falls COZ are linked with the Captain Hunt School.The COZ does not have
family center space at the school. Staff for the COZ and the community-based COZ site are
frequently at the school working with teachers, parents, and children. The Family Support Center,
operated by Children's Friend and Service, Is the community-based site for the Central Falls COZ.The
Family Support Center offers intensive home, center, and school-based services to children under five
and their families. Services are available in English and Spanish.The contact for the Family Support

Center in Central Falls is Fatima Martins, 729-0008.

Funding 1997-1998: $91,456
(does not include in-kind support from school district, in-kind support from health and human service agencies, finding for
The Family Support Center operated by Children's Friend and Service, or contributions of parent and community
vvlunteers).

COZ Family Center (Department of
Education. Department of Health, United Way)

Starting Points (Department of Education. 12%
Department of Health, United Way, Carnegie

School District

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Family Support Center operated by Children's
Friend and Service provides information, referral.

and follow-up for individual families; Crisis
intervention for families; Early Start - intensive

home-based family support services; Parenting

support groups; emergency clothing, diapers,

formula; Resource Counselor for parents of
children who are disabled (RI Parent Information
Network) ;Transportation/ child care to
programs (Starting Points).

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Parents as Teachers (School District, RI Youth

Guidance); Building Bridges (School District);

HIPPY (School District); Summer story hour;
Healthy body curriculum at Captain Hunt School

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Literacy nights and lending library at Captain

Hunt School

Family Support Center provides: Consultation
with teachers on children's mental health;
Expressive therapy group for children; Support

for parents and children in the transition to
kindergarten:The Right Question Project;
Teacher referral of children with signs of
emotional problems.

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Child Outreach screening at the Family Support
Center (School District); Intensive home-based
family support, child counseling, service linkage

(Family Support Center); Lead poisoning

prevention education (VNA); Lead poisoning
screening and treatment (Starting Points. Fatima

Clinic); Playground safety project

Adult Education
GED/ ESL classes (RIRAL, Literacy Volunteers)

Family and Community Development
Parent Newsletter; Family field trips: Fall fair;

May breakfast Pot luck suppers
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COVENTRY
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTERS

COZ Grade Total Percent
Schools Levels Enrollment Low-Income
Blackrock School K-6 4S3 23%

Hopkins Hill School K-6 367 22%

Oak Haven School K-6 301 31%

Tiogue School K-6 480 18%

Washington Oak School K-6 641 20%

Western Coventry School K-6 387 11%

Coventry Middle School 7-8 858 20%

West Bay Area Career &Tech. 11-12 enrollment w/High School
Coventry High School 9.12 1,645 10%

Advisory Board
The Coventry COZ has a Steering Committee comprised of agency representatives, teachers,
community members, business leaders, and parents.

School Locations
The Coventry COZ considers all of the schools to be part of the CO2 initiative. Washington Oak and
Oak Haven Elementary Schools have a family resource center on site each staffed by a five hour per
week parent coordinator.The remaining four elementary schools, the middle school, and the high
school do not have physical space but parents, students, and school staff are involved in activities

sponsored by the COZ.There is a small office at the high school for use by the COZ Coordinator,
whose main office is at the Coventry school administration building.

Funding 1997.1998: $36, I27
(does not include in-kind support from school district. in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or time
contributed by parent and community volunteers). 9% i.egisktive Grant

(School District ...)'

....

53% COZ Family Center (Department of
Education. Department of Health. United Way)

Notes Coordinator position was vacant from October 1997 -April 1998

Program Components

Parent Education
Parenting skills training (School district)
Family Resource Centers at two schools
Community resource information at all schools
Parent volunteer handbook

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Pre-school story hours
Reading to children in home-based child care

(RIC)

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Mental health counseling (Tides Family Services)

Teen pregnancy prevention education

Education on postponing sexual involvement
Education on teen dating violence
Student resource information at the high school

Family and Community Development
Health fairs

Community fairs
Red Ribbon Week parade (Substance Abuse Task

Force)

If AVAIL l BLE

Contact
Sue Conde, Coordinator

Participating Schools:

6 elementary schools

I middle school

2 high schools

Auspices:

Coventry Public Schools

Address

Coventry COZ

Coventry Public Schools

222 MacArthur Blvd.

Coventry, RI 02816

(401) 822-9400

Staff:

1 Coordinator (part-time)

2 Parent Coordinators

(part-time)

Children reach

kindergarten ready to

learn.

Children experience

success in school.

Parents are involved in

their children's education.

is

f.



Contact
Jeanne Rheaume,

Coordinator
Participating Schools:

2 Elementary Schools

Auspices:

Cranston Public School

District
Afli Radom

Carnegie Starting Points

Address

Cranston COZ Family

Center
Gladstone School

SO Gladstone Street

Cranston, RI 02920

(401) 943.3029

Staff:

Coordinator (part-time)
Parent Outreach Worker

(part-time)
Bilingual Parent

Advocate (part-time)

Children and youth

experience success in

school.

Children and families are

physically, mentally, and

emotionally healthy.

Young children are

ensured good health and

protection.

Community members

have access to adult

education opportunities.
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CRANSTON
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ Grade Total Percent
Schools Levels Enrollment Low-Income
Arlington School K-5 154 89%
Gladstone School K-S 400 69%

Advisory Board
The COZ Family Center Advisory Board is comprised of 26 members, including 9 parents. 6 school
representatives. 6 agency representatives, and 4 representatives from business, church, or civic

organizations. and I representative of local government.The Advisory Board is responsible for
planning, updating action steps, evaluating progress. and ensuring that activities meet familypriorities
and further the mission of the family center, including the Starting Points focus on children from birth
to three.

School Locations
In the winter of 1998. the COZ Family Center moved into a large space at the Gladstone School that
was renovated by school staff, parents, and community volunteers.The new Family Center allows for

additional program capacity on-site at the Gladstone School, which is about two blocks from the
Arlington School. Both schools serve children and families from the surrounding neighborhood.A
bilingual parent advocate provides outreach to Southeast Asian families and provides translation
services.The Cranston COZ has a small office space for information and referral at the Arlington
School and COZ staff are frequently on-site working with families and teachers.

Funding '97-98: $74,400
(does not include in-kind support from school district in-kind support from health and human service agencies, and
contributions of parent and community volunteers).

School District

Starting Points (Department of Education.
Department of Health. United Way. Carnegie) 23%

47% COZ Family Center (Department of Education.
Department of Health. United Way)

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Family Center at Gladstone School; Information,
referral, and follow-up for individual families;

Parenting classes; Information on child care and
health care; Clothing giveaway; Infant toddler car
seat distribution; Car safety education program
CPR classes; Infant care classes

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Parent/toddler story hour; Reach Out and Read
(Cranston Community Health Center)

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Support for parents and children in the
transition to kindergarten; Bilingual Child
Outreach screening/Head Start registration;
Support for parents and children in the
transition to middle school

Professional development for school staff on
social service issues; Financial aid/enrollment for
summer camp (Cranston YMCA, PTA)

Adult Education
GED classes (Cranston Adult Education, School

District); ESL classes (Cranston Adult Education.
School District); Job skills workshops (SER-Job

Development);Training of literacy tutors
(Providence Literacy Volunteers)

Family and Community Development
Crimewatch block party; Safety fairs for school
and community; Community resource fair;

Parent newsletter; Parent coffee hours at the
schools

BEST COPY AVAILABLE



63

CUMBERLAND
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ Grade Total Percent
Schools Levels Enrollment Low-Income
B.F. Norton School K-5 408 33%

Advisory Board
The B.F. Norton Family Center Governing Board is comprised of 6 parents. 6 agency representatives.

and the school principal. The Governing Board meets quarterly to plan, evaluate progress, and ensure
that activities meet family priorities as identified in the annual needs assessment.

School Location
The B.F. Norton Family Center is a large room in the school building.The Family Center coordinator
is also the Title I and Language Arts Coordinator for the school, facilitating close connections with
teachers and staff. Parents are frequent volunteers and resources to Family Center programs.The
school primarily serves children and families from the surrounding neighborhood.There are many
Portuguese and Spanish speaking families in the area and the Norton School has the ESL classrooms

for the district. Materials from the Family Center are provided in both English and Portuguese.

Funding 1997-1998: $73.448
(does not include th-kind support from school distrift in-Itind support from health and human service agencies. and
contributions of parent and community volunteers).

School District

Substance Abuse Prevention Task Force

46% COZ Family Center (Department of
Education. Department of Health. United Way)

DCTF (through Northern RI Mental Health)

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Family Center at the B.F. Norton School
Information, referral, and follow-up for individual
families

Coat and boot distribution
Parenting skills training Mepskills, Systematic
Training for Effective Parenting (STEP)

Infant toddler car seat distribution
Car safety education program

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Parent-child cooperative preschool
Drop-in play group

Child Care
After-school child care on-site at Norton
(Cumberland YMCA)

Children's Learning and Enrichment
After-school homework/mentoring program
(Substance Abuse Prevention Task Force)

After-school mini-courses for K-5 students
(Norton teacher. Cumberland-Uncoln Boys and
Girls Club)

Scholarships to the Boys and Girls Club
(Substance Abuse Prevention Task Force)

Family literacy program - literacy book bags

Math games night for parents and children
Workshops for parents on education issues and
home/school involvement

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Child Outreach screening at the Family Center
(School District)
Workshops for teachers and parents on
children's mental health (Northern RI Mental
Health Center)
Feelings After Divorce-Support support group

(Substance Abuse Task Force)

Adult Education
GED classes (RIRAL)

English as a Second Language classes (School

District)

Family and Community Development
Family fun activities

STC1PYAVAIL

Contact
Kathryn Deslardins,Tide

I/Literacy/Family Center

Coordinator
Participating Schools:

I Elementary School

Auspices

Cumbertand School

Department
Address

Family Center

B.F. Norton Elementary

School

364 Broad Street

Cumberland, RI 02864

(401) 726-2030

Staff
Family Center

Coordinator (part -time)

Parent-Child Preschool

Coordinator (part -time)
Program Assistant (part -

time)

Children reach

kindergarten ready to

learn.

Parents have resources

that support their role as

parents.

Parents are involved in

their children's education.

Family members have

access to adult education

opportunities.

17



Contact
C race Osediacz. Director

rarticlpating Schools:

3 Elementary Schools

Auspices:

Self-Help, Inc.

East Providence School

Department
Affiliations:
Carnegie Starting Points

Address

East Providence COZ

Family Centers

Self Help, Inc.

100 Billiocks Point Avenue

East Providence, RI 02915

(401)437-1000

Staff:

COZ Director (full-time)
3 Family Center

Coordinators

(parttime)
Family Outreach

Advocate (part -time)

Children experience

success in school.

Parents are involved in

their children's education.

Parents have resources

that support their role as

parents.

Family members have

access to adult education

opportunities.
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EAST PROVIDENCE
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTERS

COZ Grade Enrollment Low-Income
Schools Levels Total Percent
Grove Avenue Elementary School K-6 292 57%

Orlo Avenue Elementary School 1 -6 293 47%

Whiteknact Elementary School K-6 279 49%

Advisory Board
The East Providence COZ has a newly formed Governing Council comprised of 23 members. Fifty-
one percent are parents and 49% are representatives of schools. community agencies. community

members, government, and business.

School Locations
The East Providence COZ has a community room at the Grove Avenue School, a Family Resource
Room at the Whiteknact School, and office space and meeting space at the Orlo Avenue School.The
three schools serve children from the surrounding neighborhoods.A Family Center Coordinator is
assigned to each school 5 hours a week to organize events, work with the Parent Teacher
Organization, and support parent involvement in the COZ Family Center and the school.After- school
child care is provided at the Orlo Avenue and Whiteknact School by the Newman YMCA. Before-
school child care is available at the Orlo Avenue and Grove Avenue School.

Funding 1997-1998 $60,893
(does not include in-kind support from school district, in-kind support from health and human service agencies, and
contributions of parent and community volunteers).

3% Other ( Feinstein, Substance Abuse Task Force)

School District 4:

Starting Points (Department
of Education. Department of 28%
Health. United Way. Carnegie)

57% COZ Family Center (Department of Education.
Department of Health. United Way)

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Information, referral, and follciw-up for individual
families

Family Resource Rooms at Grove and

Whiteknact Schools
Information on community services
Parenting skills training

Conflict resolution training (School District)

Child Care
Before- and after-school child care (Newman
YMCA)

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Mentoring and academic support (Rhode Island
Children's Crusade);After-school tutoring
(Substance Abuse Prevention Task Force)

Math/Science night for children and families

Students as mediators (School District)

Feinstein Good Deeds Program

Parent and teacher curriculum day/Ice cream

social

Open house/pizza party for parents and
teachers

Parent-child lunches and classroom visits

Conflict resolution training for teachers (School
District).

Adult Education
English as a Second Language classes (RIRAL)

GED classes (RIRAL)

Citizenship classes (RIRAL)

Family and Community Development
Family field trips

Parent coffee hours
Bike rodeo
Family fun activities

Voter registration
Father-daughter dance
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MIDDLETOWN
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTERS

COZ Grade Enrollment Low-Income
Schools Levels Total Percent
Forest Avenue Elementary School K-4 315 40%

Aquidneck Elementary School K-4 267 14%

Kennedy Elementary School K-4 309 32%

Linden Elementary School preK and K 153 30%

Advisory Board
The Middletown COZ has a Steering Committee comprised of agency representatives, teachers.
guidance counselors, and parents.Approximately 1 S members participate each month to plan activities.

and evaluate progress.

School Location
The Middletown COZ has a family resource center in each of the four participating elementary.
schools.The COZ staff, who have offices at the School Administration Building, are frequently on-site
in the schools connecting with teachers, school staff, parents, and children.kn after-school child care
program for children in the Middletown school system is offered on-site at the Linden.Aquidneck, and
Forest Avenue Schools by the Newport CountyYMCA.A before-school child care program is offered

at the Linden School.

Funding 1997-1998: $61,907
(does not include Inland support from school district in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or time
contributed by parent and community volunteers).

School District

7% United Way

57% COZ Family Center (Department of Education.
Department of Health, United Way)

Program Components

Parent Education
Parenting workshops (New Visions, Newport

County Child and Family Services. Family

Networks)
Parent Resource Library at each school

Learning Lending Library of toys, games, books.

software

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Parents as Teachers play groups - birth to age 3

Parents as Teachers (School District)
Play groups for 3-and 4-year olds

Child Care
Before-school child care (Newport County
YMCA)
After-school child care (Newport County
YMCA)

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Parent newsletter on how to support children's

learning

After-school science club

Book swaps
Book group for children with attention deficit
disorder

Family and Community Development
Museum passes for families

Parent-child celebration lunches

VAS

Contact
FatherineJones,

Coordinator
Fartidpating Schools:

4 Elementary Schools .

uspicac

Middletown Public

Schools

Affiliationt
Schools of the 21st

c.ntury -Yale Bush

Center
Address

tilddletown Initiative for
Children and Families/

COZ
Orphan School
Administrative Offices

26 Oliphant Lane

Mickfletown,R1 02842

(401) 849-2122

Staff:

Coordinator (part-time)
Resource Assistant (part

time)
2 Parent Educators (part-

time)

Children reach

kindergarten ready to

learn.

Children experience
success in school.

Parents are involved in

their children's education.



Contact
Christine Arouth, Family

Center Director
Participating Schools:

I Elementary School

Auspices:

New Visions of Newport

County

Newport Public Schools

Affi liadons:

Carnegie Starting Points

Address:

Family Center

Sullivan School

Dexter Street
Newport, RI 02840

(401)845.8579

Staff:

Family Center Director

(full-time)
Bilingual Outreach

Worker (part-time)
Family Development

Specialist (full-time)

Program Assistant (part-

time)

Children reach

kindergarten ready to
learn.

Children experience

success in school.

Parents are involved in

their children's education.

Parents have resources

that support their role as
parents.

0
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NEWPORT
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ Grade Total Percent
School Levels Enrollment Low-Income
Sullivan School preK - 5 234 100%

Advisory Board
The Family Center has a 13- member Governing Council made up of 51% parents and 49% agency,

school, and business representatives.The governing board provides input into the strategic direction
of the Family Center, makes linkages with existing programs that support the Family Center's mission.
and ensures that activities meet the priorities of parents in the school community.

School and Community Locations
The Sullivan School Family Center is located in a trailer attached to the school and shares space, staff.
and resources with the Even Start Family Literacy Program. Recently an additional room was
renovated in the Sullivan School building for a Parent Information and Resource Center, including a

lending library and resource staff.A bilingual outreach worker and program assistant provide outreach
and translation services to Spanish-speaking parents.The community site for the Sullivan School
Family Center is the Florence Gray Center, located across the hill from the school at the Tonomy Hill
Public Housing Development.The Florence Gray Center is a large community center with classrooms,
office space, and resources for a variety of family and community programs.

Funding 1997-1998: $113,200
(does not include in-kind support from school district in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or time
contributed by parent and community volunteers).

Other (Children's Crusade.
Commission for National and
Community Service, Legislative Grant)

Children's Trust Fund

4% United Way - John Clark Trust Fund

31% COZ Family Center (Department of Education,
Department of Health. United Way)

19% Starting Points (Department of Education,
Department of Health. United Way, Carnegie)

2% School District

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Family Center at Sullivan School; Parent

Resource and Information Center in Sullivan
School; Information, referral, and follow-up;
Mother-for-Mother mentoring program (Child
and Family Services);Translation services ;

Lending library of toys, books, puppets, puzzles;

Parenting workshops (Family Networks
Program. Middletown and Newport COZs)

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Parents as Teachers: Books-Are-Us story hours;
Kindermusik

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Reading mentors;Tutoring (Child and Family
Services): Mentoring and academic support.

history project (Children's Crusade);

After-school activities for grades K-2
(Americorps. CiryYear);After- school programs
for grades 3-5:Art program with Newport Art
Museum. Drama program with Newport
Children's Theater, Hip-Hop dance program

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Health Center at Florence Gray Center (New
Visions); Developmental screening for children

enrolled in Even Start; Bilingual Child Outreach

screening (Even Start. School District)

Adult Education
GED clines and ESL classes (Even Start)

Family and Community Development
Adult health and aerobics (Child and Family
Services, United Way) ; Family fun activities
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NORTH KINGSTOWN
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ Grade Total Percent
Schools Levels Enrollment Low-Income
Davisville Elementary School I -S 211 42%

Forest Park Elementary School 1.5 281 26%

Advisory Board
The North Kingstown Child Opportunity Zone has a Steering Committee of parents. community
volunteers, and agency representatives.Workgroups are created as needed to plan and implement
specific projects. If a need is identified as a priority for the school and the parents, the COZ seeks out
appropriate community partners to ensure collaborative ownership of the program.

School Location
The Child Opportunity Zone works with students and families in the Davisville and Forest Park
Elementary Schools. Both are primarily neighborhood schools. Children from the transitional housing
program for homeless families located in the neighborhood attend Forest Park School. The COZ
seeks to develop programs that meet the needs of all children and families, with special attention to
the needs of families in the transitional housing program.The COZ has office space in the Davisville
School and is planning a community-based Family Resource Center to be located in the neighborhood.

Funding 1997-1998: $95,509
(does not include in-lcind support from school district, in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or time
contributed by parent and community volunteers).

Other (United Way. Citizens Bank.
Substance Abuse Task Force)

Community Development Block Grant

Mental Health Advancement Resource

13% School District

36% COZ Family Center (Department of Education,
Department of Health. United Way)

21% McKinney Homeless Funds

Program Components

Parent Education
Family resource literature and referrals;

Handbook of "education terms"; Reference
guide to support services; Scholarships to
parenting conferences; Parent /school staff

workshops; Car seat and bicycle safety

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Parents as Teachers: Pre-school story hours;

Book bags for babies and parents

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Tutoring and Academic Support:After-school
recreation and mini-courses;Arts enrichment
program; Summer School Collaborative-
Academic Support. Enrichment Camp.

Scholarships (COZ, School District, Recreation
Dept.); Reading skills support/classroom

curriculum:Academic support and education
plan development for children in transitional

housing; Healthy Foods Clubs;"Teaching

tolerance" posters/curriculum; School breakfast
pilot

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Health and dental services, immunizations

(Bayside Family Health Services); Professional

development on homelessness and children's
mental health

Adult Education
Scholarships for adult education; Scholarships for

computer skills training

Family and Community Development
"Welcome to Our School" Tile Art Mural
Project Gardens, nature trails, outdoor
classrooms created by families and school -

staff (United Way, Citizens Bank); Stroller/walking

club; Family swim night (Local fitness club);

Aerobics (Local fitness club); Parent/child fitness
activities (Local fitness club)

Contact
DonnaThompson

Coordinator
Participating Schools:

2 Elementary Schools

Auspices:

North Kingstown Public

Schools

Address:

DavIsvine Elementary

School

SO East Court

North Kingstown, RI

02852

(401)2944581 ext 252
Staff:

Coordinator (part -time)

Parent Educator (part -

time)

Children reach

kindergarten ready to

learn.

Children experience

success in school.

Parents are involved In

their children% education.

Children are physically,

mentally, and emotionally

hea/thy.
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Contact
Mary Parella

Coordinator
Participating Schools:

I Elementary School

1 Middle School

Auspices:

Pawtucket Public Schools

Affiliations:

Carnegie Starting Points

Carnegie Middle Schools

Robert Wood Johnson

School-Based Health

Centers

Address:

Cunningham( Slater COZ

Cunningham School

40 Baldwin Street

Pawtucket, RI 02860

(401) 729-6291

Staff:

Coordinator (full -time)

Parent Coordinator (part-
time)

Children reach

kindergarten ready to

learn.

Children experience

success in school.

Children are physically,

mentally, and emotionally

healthy.

Parents have resources

that support their role as
parents.

L2
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PAWTUCKET
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ Grade
Schools Levels
Cunningham Elementary School K-5
Slater Junior High School 6-8

Total
Enrollment

477

511

Percent
Low-Income

100%

75%

Advisory Board
The Pawtucket Child Opportunity Zone Family Center creates or participates in workgroups as
needed to plan and implement specific projects.The COZ Coordinator receives input and feedback
on program needs from parents participating in programs, through outreach by the parent
coordinator, and through participation on existing coalitions in the community.

School Location
The Child Opportunity Zone Family Center works with students and families in the Cunningham
Elementary School and Slater Junior High School, two schools located adjacent to each other. Both

are primarily neighborhood schools, serving children from the Wood lawn neighborhood of Pawtucket.
The COZ Family Center is located in a large classroom in the Cunningham School.

Funding 1997-1998: $268,852
(does not include in-kind support from school district. in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or time
contributed by parent and community volunteers).

. URI 4%
COZ Family Center (Department of

,Education. Department of Health, United Way)

1% Starting Points (Department of Education,
147. Department of Health. United Way. Carnegie

Corporation)

4%
School District

Juvenile Justice Task Force

Children's Trust Fund

Even Start (RI Department of Education)

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Parent-to-parent mentoring program (URI
Cooperative Extension); Parenting skills training
(URI Cooperative Extension); Resource

counselor for parents of children with disabilities
(RI Parent Information Network); Infant toddler
car seat distribution; Car and bicycle safety
education; Child care and transportation to
events

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Parents as Teachers (RI Youth Guidance, Starting

Points); Home Instruction Program for
Preschool Youngsters - HIPPY (Pawtucket

District); Pawtucket Home Visiting Program;

Even Start Family Literacy Program

Children's Learning and Enrichment
After-school clubs for grades 3-8;After-school
enrichment program for grades 3-5 (URI 4-H
Program): Four week summer camp for grades

3-4;Two-week summer enrichment institute for
grades 5,6,7 (URI); Four-week summer academic

program for grade 8; Support for the transition
to middle school: Support for the transition to
high school; Guaranteed Admissions Program

with URI; Students as Mediators: Girls

Mentoring program (Brown University)

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Social Skills groups (Community Counseling

Center); School-based health center to open
9/98 (RI Department of Health, Blackstone
Valley Health Center, Memorial Hospital); Lead
poisoning screening and treatment (Starting
Points, Fatima Clinic)

Adult Education
Adult Basic Education classes; GED classes; ESL

classes (Swearer Center); Citizenship classes

(Project Hope): Summer literacy programs

Family and Community Development
Annual Family Fair; Breakfast with Santa; Family

Field Trip; Family fun activities; Bike Rodeo;

Parent coffee hours (Project Hope,
Americorps)
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PROVIDENCE
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTERS

COZ Grade Total Percent
Schools Levels Enrollment Low-Income

D'Abate Elementary School K-S 392 96%

Gilbert Stuart Elementary School K-S 772 100%

Fogarty Elementary School K-S 529 100%

Camden Avenue Elementary School K-5 638 97%

*Of the four schools with COZ Family Centers, only the William D'Abate Family Center submits
applications to and receives funding through the state COZ Family Center initiative described in this
publication.The remaining three COZ Family Centers are part of The Providence Plan's Enterprise
Community COZ Family Centers.The Gilbert Stuart COZ is operated by Dorcas Place Family
Literacy Center. the Fogarty Elementary School COZ by the Salvation Army, and the Camden Avenue
School COZ by the Smith Hill Center.The following information refers only to William D'Abate COZ

Advisory Board
The D'Abate COZ Family Center does not have an official governing board.A number of agencies
serving the Olneyville neighborhood meet on a monthly basis to share-information and to provide
input on programs.

Community Location
The D'Abate COZ is located In a large suite of offices/classrooms adjacent to the school building.
There is no direct access to the school from the Family Center. which has office space for program

staff from the COZ Family Center, Parents Making a Difference, Olneyville Housing, the Rhode Island
Parent Information Network, the U.S. EPA. and Providence Community Police. Conference and
classroom space in the Center is used by a variety of agencies and community groups.

Funding 1997-1998 for D'Abate COZ Family Center: 5159,569
(does not include support from health and human service agencies, or contributions of parent and community volunteers;
does include in-kind from the Providence School Department).

Starting Points (Department of Education,
Department of Health, United Way, Carnegie) ,I4% 22% COZ Family Center (Department of Education.

Department of Health, United Way)
.,-;;;;

School District

Program Components at the
D'Abate COZ Family Center

Parent Support and Education
D'Abate COZ Family Center; Parents Making a
Difference Family Center (Americorps)
Resource counselor for parents of disabled
children (RI Parent Information Network);
Parenting skills workshops; Information and
referral; Housing information and workshops

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Support transition to middle school; Peer
mentoring for fifth graders (TIDES); Summer
lending library; After-school computer club

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Immunization clinics (Travelers Aid); Mental

health counseling for student and families
(TIDES. RI Youth Guidance); Child outreach

screening (Providence School Department)

Adult Education
Community access computer lab (TechCorps);

Child care worker job training (Starting Points);
Job training (Youthbuild); GED and ESL classes

(RIRAL,Adult Academy): College, career, job
skills counseling, scholarship information (URI.

CCRI, EEOC)

Family and Community Development
Community projects in Olneyville; Community
police office at Family Center (Providence Police
Department): Environmental outreach and
education (Olneyville Housing); Greenway
Project (Providence Plan)

Contact
Thomas DiPippo,

Director of Federal
Programs

Participating Schools

4 Elementary Schools

Auspices: Providence

School Department
Affiliations:

Providence Enterprise

Community,

The Providence Plan

Address

Providence School

Department
797 Westminster Street

Providence, RI 02903

(401) 456-9220

D'Abate COZ
Contact
Kathie Hackett,

Coordinator
Auspices:

Providence School

Department
Affiliation=

Carnegie Starting Points

Addres=

Wm. D'Abate COZ
17 Hyat Street

Providence, RI 02909

401. 546-1710

Staff:

1 Coordinator (full-time)

I Clerk (full -time)
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Contact
Sally Mitchell,

School Psychologist/

WISSP Coordinator

Participating Schools:

I High School

Auspice=

Westerly School

Department

Address

Westerly Integrated

Social Services Program

Westerly High School

23 Ward Avenue

Westerly, RI 02891

(401) 596-0315 ext.2.18

(401)596.2109
Staff:

1 Coordinator (part-time)

I Program Assistant (full-
time)

Children achieve success

in school.

Children and families are

physically, mentally, and

emotionally healthy.
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WESTERLY
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ Grade Total Percent
Schools Levels Enrollment Low-Income
Westerly High School 9-12 1,004 7%

Advisory Board
The Westerly Integrated Social Services Program has an Advisory Council of 17 members representing
the school, human service agencies, town government. community members, and families. The advisory
council meets 6-8 times a year to set the strategic direction of the WISSP Program and to
provide Input on programs and services.A Teen Committee of 15 students meets bimonthly to plan
programs and to provide feedback on existing services.

School Location
WISSP is located in a suite of offices on the first floor of Westerly High School, adjacent to the
Guidance Department and Schoolto-Career program.WISSP hasa reception area that is staffed
during the school day, 4 office spaces, and a medium size conference room. Programs are offered in
the WISSP offices, throughout the school, and in the community.

Funding 1997-1998: $58,200
(does not include in-kind support from school district, in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or
contributions of parent and community volunteers).

School District

3% Other (Substance Abuse Task Force.Town, Donations)

60% COZ Family Center (Department of
Education. Department of Health. United
Way)

Program Components

Children's Learning and Enrichment
Peer Tutoring Program

Natural Helpers Program - Peer Mediation
Teen Helpline student volunteer training
WISSP Teen Committee

School-linked health and social services
Information, referral, and follow-up for individual
students

Teen Helpline 2pm - 10 pm

Teen parenting group (Visiting Nurse Services)

Dating violence education and support
(Women's Resource Center)
Anger management groups (DAPAC)

Nutrition counseling (Westerly Hospital)
Bereavement counseling (VNS Hospice)
Al-A-Teen

Juvenile hearing board referrals for services

Substance abuse assessment and referral
(Marathon; Sympadco)

Family meetings and counseling (DCYF)

Individual counseling (South County Child and
Family Consultants)

Emergency crisis intervention (South Shore
Mental Health)

Joint staff development for schools, human
service agencies

Adult Education
GED Program and Tutoring (Washington County
Adult Learning Center)
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WOONSOCKET
CHILD OPPORTUNITY ZONE FAMILY CENTER

COZ Grade Total Percent
Schools Levels Enrollment Low-Income,
Second Avenue School K-3 63 100%

Fifth Avenue School K-2 204 90%
Coleman Elementary School 3-5 277 91%

Citizens Memorial School K-5 274 92%

Advisory Board
The Board of Connecting for Children and Families acts as the governing council for the Child
Opportunity Zone.This 15-member Coordinating Council has fifty-one percent parents and forty-
nine percent human service, education, business, and civic leaders.The Coordinating Council sets the

strategic direction and gives advice on programs to be offered that meet parent priorities.

School and Community Locations
The Fairmount Family Center operated by Connecting for Children and Families is the primary site
for the Woonsocket COZ.Activities of the Fairmount Family Center are linked with three schools in
the Fairmount neighborhood, all within a three-block area Staff work with children and families at the
Family Center, in the neighborhood, and in the schools.There is a family resource room in the
Coleman school and activities are offered on site at Coleman aftenschootA school-based health
center is being planned for Coleman School and a Family Room is planned for Citizens Memorial.

Funding 1997-1998: ;183,700
(does not include in-kind support from school district in-kind support from health and human service agencies, or
contributions of parent and community volunteers).

Other (United Way. Citizens Bank. Fleet Bank) 4%

1

COZ Family Center (Department of
ism Education. Department of Health. United Way)

'.' . 12% Starting Points (Department of Education.
' Department of Health. United Way. Carnegie)The Rhode Island Foundation

Program Components

Parent Support and Education
Fairmount Family Center: Family resource room
at Coleman School; Information, referral, and

follow-up; Parent support groups; Resource
Counselor for parents of children who are
disabled (RI Parent Information Center);
Neighbor - to-neighbor prenatal support Parent-
to-parent mentoring; Outreach home visits;
Translation services; Child care for events; Infant
toddler car seat distribution; Car safety
education

Infant and Pre-School Programs
Family Literacy Program (Even Start)

Children's Learning and Enrichment
After-school clubs and mini-courses; Self- esteem

program (URI); Sports and art classes (Northern
RI Mental Health Center); 6-Week Summer

Camp for ages 0.1 I:Summer Teen Employment

(Family Resources); Neighborhood teen action

group; Parent-teacher coffee hours;Translation
support for the school events and IEPs

School-Linked Health and Social Services
Immunization clinic (Thundermist); Supervised
family visits at the Family Center (DCYF);

School-based health center planned for Coleman
School (Thundermist Health Center)

Adult Education
ESL and computer classes (RIRAL, Literacy

Volunteers); Internships for adults enrolled in
Pathways Program; Family home child care
provider training

Family and Community Development
Neighborhood safety committee; Lending library
at the school; Safe Sitters class: Neighborhood

newsletter; Multicultural festival. Family activities
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Contact
Teresa Curtin,

Executive Director

Participating Schools:

4 Elementary Schools

Auspices:

Connecting for Children

and Families

Woonsocket Education

Department
Affiliation=
Carnegie Starting Points

Address:

Fairmount Family Center

28 First Avenue

Woonsocket, RI 02895

(401)766-3384

Staff:

I Executive Director (full-

time)
I Community Outreach
Worker (full-time)

I SecretarylRecepdonlst
(full-time)

I Starting Points

Coordinator (part-time)

Children achieve success

in school.

Parents have resources .

that support their role as
parents.

Parents are involved in

their children's education.

Children and families are

physically, mentally, and

emotionally healthy.
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Mr. REINER. I was also involved with Governor Whitman in New
Jersey of doing exactly the same thing in the west ward of Trenton
where we do a one-stop shopping kind of thing, again, all family
support services in one place.

Mr. KUCINICH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your indulgence. I
appreciate it very much.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. It is wonderful to have your participa-
tion. We are going to get to the next panel, but we would welcome
any closing comment from any of you.

Governor ALMOND. I just thank you for the opportunity. It has
been very enlightening for me, the questioning. We will be very,
very happy to supply you with some more information. We thank
you very, very much for having the hearing.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. Governor Almond, we are going to work
with your staff and your Washington representative because we
want to be sensitive. The last thing we want to do is punish a State
that has taken an initiative. I want to say that one of the ways we
look at the States is as 50 individual laboratories where interven-
tion can happen.

Mr. Reiner, when you and I were talking, I was thinking three
may be great, four in some States.

Mr. REINER. It has to be flexible.
Mr. SHAYS. We do need that flexibility.
Ms. Pearson, do you have any closing comment you would like

to make?
Ms. PEARSON. Yes, one thing I would like to state, one thing

about Healthy Families I liked and I didn't know about, when I
met with the First Lady, Mrs. Clinton, she had mentioned to me
that it would be best if I could go and check on my child from time
to time. I told her that I thought about that, but I felt like I would
be a little sneaky doing it. And then Lynn said, she is required
she can do that. When she told me that, I was like, really?

So that's a good thing, too. That Lynn went and checked on my
son and that my care giver was, of courseI think she would take
my son a little bit more seriously knowing that someone is coming
into their home and that he has some love there and someone be-
hind him, not just me, but outside people as well. I just wanted you
to know that.

Mr. SHAYS. So the First Lady is your friend as well?
Ms. PEARSON. She came into my home. It was a wonderful day

for me.
Mr. SHAYS. She is a wonderful woman. Her advice is very sound.
Mr. Reiner.
Mr. REINER. One last thing. If you -don't think that early brain

development is important, I-want to do. little experiment. It has
probably neverjbeen clone in a hearing room before. Everybody who
took a second language, studied a second language in high school,
raise your hand, everybody in the room. Everybody.

OK, keep your hands raised if you can speak that language flu-
ently.

The point is
Mr. SHAYS. Let the record note that about 100 people raised their

hand and about 4 left their hands up.
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Mr. REINER. The point is, we know that early on is when the
brain gets wired for a .lifetime of learning. When you learn a lan-
guage in the first, up until age 10. After age 10 it is very difficult
to learn a language. Early childhood brain development is critical.
There is no escaping that.

Mr. SHAYS. The one thing I would want to leave this hearing
with, though, is to say that, for those of us who were under-
achievers at an early age, there is still hope.

Mr. REINER. Absolutely. Absolutely.
Mr. SHAYS. I learned to speak Fijian in the Peace Corps because

they started us at 6 a.m., and went until 9 p.m. And in 3 weeks
I learned what college couldn't teach me in 3 years.

Mr. REINER. You can learn. Obviously you can learn after age 10.
But the point I'm making is it is much more difficult afterit has
to be done at the age-appropriate time.

Mr. SHAYS. I am almost tempted to invite you to ask the other
witnesses questions and come up here, but I don't have that au-
thority.

Mr. REINER. I understand that. I have to get elected. I under-
stand that.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. You have been a wonderful panel, all
three of you. Thank you so much.

We are going to call our next panel and welcome the second
panel much as we have welcomed our first: Dr. Lynn Karoly,
RAND Corp., Santa Monica, CA; Dr. Jane Knitzer, director of pro-
gram and policy analysis, National Center for Children in Poverty,
Columbia School of Public Health, New York City; Dr. David Olds,
professor of pediatrics and preventive medicine, University of Colo-
rado, Denver; then finally, Mr. Peter Burki, chief executive officer,
Dependent Care Connection, Inc. And that is where?

Westport, CT, of course. There is no coincidence to the fact that
I represent Westport.

We are going to start with Dr. Karoly, then Dr. Knitzer, then Dr.
Olds, then Mr. Burki. If you would remain standing, because I will
swear you in.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. SHAYS. For the record, all four of our witnesses have re-

sponded in the affirmative.
Dr. Karoly, we are going to start with you. We really appreciate

all three of you being here and appreciate the fact that you listened
to our earlier panel. I might add that if you want to paraphrase
your statement and comment on things you have heard, be our
guest; we have your written testimony. But if you want to pursue
your written testimony, that is fine as well. You are on.
STATEMENTS OF LYNN A. KAROLY, RAND CORP.; JANE

KNITZER, DIRECTOR OF PROGRAM AND POLICY ANALYSIS,
NATIONAL CENTER FOR CHILDREN IN POVERTY, COLUMBIA
SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH; DAVID OLDS, PROFESSOR OF
PEDIATRICS AND PREVENTIVE MEDICINE, UNIVERSITY OF
COLORADO; AND PETER G. BURKI, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFI-
CER, DEPENDENT CARE CONNECTION, INC.
Ms. KAROLY. _Good morning. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-

man and members of the subcommittee. I am delighted to be here
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this morning to speak to you today about early childhood interven-
tions.

Just for the record, I'm a senior economist and director of the
labor and population program at RAND, a private nonprofit re-
search organization based in Santa Monica, CA. The testimony I
am presenting today draws on my own research experience and
does not necessarily represent the position of RAND or RAND's
sponsors.

I want to focus my remarks this morning, in an abbreviated for-
mat from my written testimony, on a study on the costs and bene-
fits of early childhood intervention that I just completed with a
group of colleagues at RAND. Our study is titled Investing In Our
Children and was motivated by the body of evidence that you have
heard referred to already today, focusing on the importance of the
early years of childhood, not only from birth to age 3, but in the
early years before school entry. We know that the research increas-
ingly has identified the important factors that determine whether
those early years are productive years that lead to individuals who
are successful in school and later in life.

With funding from the California Wellness Foundation, RAND
constructed an interdisciplinary team of researchers that examined
the evidence regarding the benefits and costs of targeted early
intervention programs, those programs that were designed to ad-
dress stressers in early childhood such as impaired emotional rela-
tionships or reduced levels of cognitive stimulation or inadequate
resources to meet basic needs. Our aim was to provide an objective
assessment of what the research to date can tell us both about the
benefits of early childhood intervention programs, their costs, and
the perspective that one might care about as policymakers in terms
of the returns for investing in those programs.

A book reporting on our findings, which I am going to summarize
this morning is available from RAND both in hard copy and in
electronic form. Let me just give you a brief overview of our find-
ings.

Our study set out to address two questions that we thought were
particularly important for policy. The first question is, can early
intervention programs targeted at disadvantaged children benefit
those children and their families? After carefully reviewing the lit-
erature on well-designed and evaluated early intervention pro-
grams, we find consistent evidence that early intervention pro-
grams can yield significant benefits both to participating children
and to their families. These benefits accrue in several key domains,
including the emotional and cognitive development of the children,
the emotional and cognitive support of parents, educational
achievement for both children and parents, economic outcomes for
children and their families, and the health status of family mem-
bers. While some improvements are shorter lived, many of these
gains do persist well into later years of childhood and even into
early adulthood.

Now, for some, these benefits, which I will say a little bit more
about in a minute, would be enough to justify spending money on
early childhood and, particularly, well-designed programs. For oth-
ers, it is important to compare the costs of these programs with the
benefits that they generate, particularly the savings to government.
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Therefore, we asked a second key question: Are these programs jus-
tifiable on economic grounds?

For two programs that we reviewed, which were amenable to this
type of cost/savings analysis, we find that early intervention pro-
grams can generate savings to government that exceed program
costs by severalfold. We also provide evidence that there are added
benefits to other members of society that exceed even these savings
to government that further justify spending on these programs. In
both cases, we estimate that our calculations are conservative be-
cause we are not able to put a monetary value on all of the benefits
that are produced by the programs we review.

It is important to note that these hopeful conclusions rest, how-
ever, on a limited number of carefully evaluated programs in tl-,1
literature. The number of scientifically sound studies is limited and
therefore our ability to extend the conclusions that we draw based
on these studies means that there may be many programs out
there today being implemented on a smaller- or larger-scale basis
for which these conclusions may or may not be relevant. Thus, we
believe there are many important questions that remain to be ad-
dressed in this area, such as the ability to scale up model programs
and have them be as successful as they were at a smaller scale;
and the optimal mechanisms for targeting children at risk, identify-
ing who will benefit most from the programs as they are designed.
Therefore, we think it's important while we proceed that we do so
with caution, drawing on the proven models, where those proven
models have been shown to be effective; and at the same time, con-
tinuing to evaluate both programs that have been implemented on
a small scale and which are implemented now on a larger scale, as
well as evaluating new program models as they go into effect on
smaller and larger scales.

Let me just provide a little bit more detail in the remaining time
on our two key questions and the specific findings in each of those
areas, first, turning to the benefits of early intervention programs.

Given the importance of these early years of childhood, a number
of model programs have been implemented and carefully evaluated
and published in the scientific literature. These programs are de-
signed, as I mentioned earlier, to overcome many of these stressers
in early childhood that can place certain limitations on the ability
of children to grow to be healthy, productive members of society.
Our research focused in particular on nine programs published in
the literature. These programs were somewhat different from many
others in that they had careful evaluations, evaluations that in-
cluded both treatment in control groups, evaluations that also had
in most cases long enough followup so that we would know what
would happen to program participants compared to nonpartici-
pants, not only at the time a program is implemented but years
down the road.

The programs that we reviewed differ in many respects in terms
of their design, the types of children and families who were tar-
geted, and the period during childhood in which the intervention
took place. They ranged from programs that began in the prenatal
period and offered, for example, home visits to young mothers.
They included programs that began later in childhood, for example,
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at ages 3 and 4, and offered high quality preschool programs to dis-
advantaged children.

All of these programs, I should emphasize, did target disadvan-
taged children. So, much of what we know about early childhood
intervention is specific to children who face disadvantages early in
childhood. We know much less about the effect of these programs
on children more broadly distributed across the population.

Despite the diversity of these programs in their design and their
features, we did find a consistent result that the programs that
were evaluated do show important gains to both children and their
families. These include gains in emotional and cognitive develop-
ment, substantial improvement in educational processes, increases
in economic self-sufficiency measured by things like reductions in
welfare participation, reduced levels of crime and juvenile delin-
quency, higher levels of employment and income in adulthood, as
well as improvement in health outcomes.

Let me just give you a couple of examples. One study that we
looked at, for example, showed that children who participated in
the intervention experienced a 52 percent reduction in the use of
special education services by age 15; this is compared to a group
of children who did not participate in the program. Likewise, an-
other study evaluating children who participated in a program by
age 15 found a 73 percent reduction in measures of juvenile crime
and delinquency.

One study that we examined which included the longest follow-
up, measuring outcomes for children in adulthood, when they were
age 27, showed that children who had participated in a high qual-
ity preschool program had earnings at age 27 that were 60 percent
higher than nonparticipating individuals.

In another example, some of the benefits accrued to the parents
who participated in the program. In this case, mothers of children
in the intervention experienced a 33 percent reduction in welfare
utilization by age 15 of the child, again compared with mothers
who did not participate.

Let me say just a little bit more about the costs and benefits of
these programs and, in particular, the savings to government. For
some, the types of benefits that I have just mentioned might be
enough to justify these programs. But we could also put them in
economic terms.

In two cases of the nine programs we examined, it is possible to
undertake a cost/savings analysis which we did to compare the pro-
gram costs with the savings generated down the line. In particular,
we took into account the savings to taxpayers as a result of early
intervention programs in the form of higher taxes paid by program
participants, both mothers during the time that their children were
in the programs, or afterwards, as well as the children once they
became adults, savings to taxpayers in terms of reductions in social
welfare spending like welfare programs, and subsidized health
care, reductions in the cost of criminal justice expenditures, as well
as other special savings such as in education.

One example that I will highlight, which you will probably hear
more about from Dr. David Olds, was the Elmira Prenatal/Early
Infancy Project implemented in New York. In this case, children
have been followed through age 15, and we were able to account
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for the savings to government both by improvements in mothers'
outcomes as well as in the children's outcomes. In this case, the
program, which costs about $6,000 per mother-child pair generated
savings that were about four times as large, roughly $24,000. In
this case total savings to government, therefore, exceeds expendi-
tures by a ratio of about 4 to 1. Moreover, since the savings to gov-
ernment accrued largely due to changes in the mother's behavior,
these were savings that were generated very early on, soon after
the program ended, so that the program payback period was rough-
ly 3 years; in other words, the savings generated paid back the
costs within a 3-year timeframe.

In other cases, the savings to government will take longer to ac-
cumulate, particularly if the benefits accrue to participating chil-
dren. Many of those benefits will not be realized until those chil-
dren are in school, until we see the savings because of lower special
education costs, reductions in crime and delinquency, as well as
savings later on as those children become adults. In the Perry Pre-
school example, we estimated that the program costs, which were
about $12,000 per child, generated savings to government of about
$24,000 per child, a ratio of 2 to 1, but that those savings took
longer to accrue, so that the payback period was closer to 20 years
rather than the shorter period we saw for the Elmira program.

In addition to these savings to government, I mentioned as well
that there are benefits to other members of society. Other members
of society benefit from savings in terms of reduced levels of crime
that benefit potential crime victims, as well as the increase in in-
come to program participants.

I would like to emphasize that these studies do pertain to dis-
advantaged children, so that program targeting is a critical issue.
The ability to target individuals who will benefit most from these
programs is likely to generate the greatest amount of savings to
government.

In conclusion, I think that we can identify proven models, pro-
grams that have been carefully evaluated, that have demonstrated
successful track records in terms of the benefits to participating
families and children, as well as in terms of savings to government.
But also we have much yet to learn in this area, so that continued
evaluation is critical as we implement new programs or take exist-
ing models and extend them on a larger scale. Only in this way can
we make sure that these investments produce the greatest return
for our dollar.

Thank you very much.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Dr. Karoly, we are going to be asking a

question or two about those studies. Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Dr. Karoly follows:]
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Written Testimony of Lynn A. ICaroly

THE COSTS AND BENEFITS OF EARLY CHILDHOOD INTERVENTIONS

PREPARED STATEMENT OF LYNN A. KAROLY

Around the beginning of 1997, RAND was approached by the "I Am Your Child" Early
Childhood Public Engagement Campaign to conduct an independent, objective review of the
scientific evidence available on early childhood interventions. "Early childhood interventions"
were defined as attempts by government agencies or other organizations to improve child health
and development, educational attainment, and economic well-being. The aim was to quantify the
benefits of these programs to children, their parents, and society at large. Funding for the project
was secured from The California Wellness Foundation.

My testimony today draws on the results of our study titled Investing in Our Children: What We
Know and Don't Know about the Costs and Benefits of Early Childhood Interventions. The
research was conducted by an interdisciplinary research team from RAND's Criminal Justice
Program and Labor and Population Program including two economists, a criminologist, two
mathematical modelers, and a developmental pediatrician.

Introduction

Over the last year or so, there has been a renewed interest in the influence of early childhood
especially the first 3 years of lifeon child health and development, educational attainment, and
economic well-being. Public attention has been stimulated by television shows and stories in
national news magazines, and governors and legislators have been initiating programs to direct
budgetary surpluses to services for young children. Much of this activity has been given impetus
by research findings that the great majority of physical brain development occurs by the age of
three. These findings have been interpreted to suggest that early childhood furnishes a window
of opportunity for enriching input and a window of vulnerability to such social stressors as
poverty and dysfunctional home environments. The response has been an attempt to promote
healthy child development, particularly among disadvantaged children, with home visits by
nurses, parent training, preschool, and other programs.

It is unclear what will happen to these programs once the media spotlight moves on and budgets
tighten. Perhaps a public clamor over the next hot issue will draw funds away from early
childhood programs; perhaps it should. The current period of relative largesse provides the
opportunity not only to initiate programs but to undertake the kind of rational evaluation of those
programs that will help clarify the choices that must eventually be made. In our recent study,
Investing in Our Children, we assemble the evidence now available on early childhood
interventions to try to answer two questions that will be of interest to policymakers who must
allocate resources and to the public who provides those resources:

Senior Economist and Director, Labor and Population Program, RAND, Santa Monica, California- This testimony is based
cm the RAND study: Lynn A. Karoly, Peter W. Greenwood. Susan S. Everinghiun, Jill Hoube, Rebecca Kilburn, C. Peter
Rydell, Matthew Sanders and Jim Chiesa, Investing in Our Children: What We Know and Don't Know about the Costs and
Benefits of Early Childhood Interventions, MR-898, Santa Monica. California: The RAND Corporation, 1998
(ISBN 0-8330-2530-9). Full text available at http//www.rand.org/publications/MR/MR898/MR898.feature/. The views
presented here do not necessarily represent those of RAND or RAND's research sponsors.

dEST COPY AVAI LE



83

Written Testimony of Lynn A. Karoly

Do early interventions targeted at disadvantaged children benefit participating children
and their families? After critically reviewing the literature and discounting claims that are
not rigorously demonstrated, we conclude that these programs can provide significant
benefits.

Might government funds invested early in the lives of some children result in compensating
decreases in government expenditures? Here, we examine the possibility that early
interventions may save some children (and their parents) from placing burdens on the state
in terms of welfare, criminal justice, and other costs. Again, after updating and refining
earlier estimates, we find that, at least for some disadvantaged children and their families,
the answer to this question is yes.

We use words like "can" and "might" deliberately. We cannot freely generalize these
conclusions to all kinds of targeted early interventions, especially not to large-scale programs,
because of various limitations in the evidence collected to date. We pay special attention in our
analysis to these limitations, which have important implications for future initiatives. In
particular, these limitations suggest that better evaluations of new and continuing intervention
efforts would be of great value to future decisionmaking.

What Are the Benefits?

The term "early intervention" can be broadly applied. It can be used for services generally
available to and needed by many children, such as immunizations and child care, and to
programs not specifically aimed at children, such as Food Stamps and Medicaid. In Investing in
Our Children, we restrict its application to programs targeted to overcome the cognitive,
emotional, and resource limitations that may characterize the environments of disadvantaged
children during the first several years of life.

Even the term "targeted early intervention" is a broad concept. It covers programs concerned
with low-birthweight babies and those concerned with toddlers in low-income families;
interventions targeting children as well as those targeting their mothers; services offered in
homes and those offered in centers; programs aimed at improving educational achievement and
those aimed at improving health; and services as diverse as parent skills training, child health
screening, child-abuse recognition, and social-services referral.

This diversity makes it impossible to draw overall generalizations about "targeted early
intervention" and limits us to inferences as to what some programs can do, depending on the
characteristics of the program and the families it serves. Furthermore, given the shortcomings
and limitations in the design of many early intervention evaluations and the measures omitted
from them, what we don't know about the effects of early childhood intervention may exceed
what we know (more on this appears below). Nonetheless, our review supports the proposition
that, in some situations, carefully targeted early childhood interventions can yield measurable
benefits in the short run and that some of those benefits persist long after the program has ended.

We reached that conclusion after examining a set of nine programs in which evaluations had
been performed that assessed developmental indicators, educational achievement, economic
well-being, and health for program participants and compared them with the same measures for
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matched controls. In most of the programs, controls were selected by random assignment at
program outset. We also sought programs with participant and control groups large enough at
program implementation and follow-up to ensure unbiased results, although resource limitations
on these programs did not always permit that.

Figure 1 schematically summarizes the results of our review of the effects of these programs on
participating children.' The filled squares show which of a number of developmental,
educational, economic, and health indicators were measured for each program reviewed. Dark
gray indicates a favorable (and statistically significant) result, and black indicates no statistically
significant result; light gray denotes mixed fmdings.2 As the figure shows, each program
favorably affected at least one indicator, and most of them affected several (that is, participants
had better outcomes on these indicators than did children in the control group).3 Although many
studies did not find favorable outcomes across the full range of effects they examined (especially
in the long run), favorable effects dominate. A companion analysis of program effects on
mothers also showed that measured results tended to be favorable, although the ratio of favorable
to null results across all programs was not as high.

The programs thus led variously to the following advantages for program participants relative to
those in the control group:

Gains in emotional or cognitive development for the child, typically in the short run, or
improved parent-child relationships.

Improvements in educational process and outcomes for the child.

Increased economic self-sufficiency, initially for the parent and later for the child, through
greater labor force participation, higher income, and lower welfare usage.

Reduced levels of criminal activity.

Improvements in health-related indicators, such as child abuse, maternal reproductive
health, and maternal substance abuse.

While many significant differences between participants and controls were found, a statistically
significant difference is not necessarily an important one. The size of the difference also needs
to be taken into accountand the size of many of the differences could be fairly characterized as
substantial. For example, the Early Training Project, Perry Preschool, and the Infant Health and

The nine programs are the Early Training Project, Perry Preschool, Chicago Child-Parent Center (CPC), Houston Parent-
Child Development Center (PCDC), Syracuse Family Development Research Program (FDRP), Carolina Abecedarian. Project
CARE (Carolina Approach to Responsive Education), Infant Health and Development Project (IHDP), and Elmira (New York)
Prenatal/Early Infancy Project (PEIP). We also review Project Head Start; but results we not summarized in Figure 1 because
there are multiple evaluations that cannot be readily summarized.

2 A favorable result may be either an increase or decrease in an indicator among program participants relative to controls
depending on the indicator. For example, while a favorable result for IQ means that the IQ was higher for treatment children
compared with controls, a favorable result for criminal behavior occurs when the incidence is lower for the treatment group.

3 In addition, in most cases even when results were not statistically significant (black in the figure), the difference between
treatment and control groups was in the expected direction for the program to produce beneficial results.
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Development Project (IHDP) found IQ differences between treatment participants and controls at
the end of program implementation that approached or exceeded 10 points, a large effect by most
standards. The difference in rates of special education and grade retention at age 15 in the
Abecedarian project participants exceeded 20 percentage points. In the Elmira, New York,
Prenatal/Early Infancy Project (PEIP), participating children experienced 33 percent fewer
emergency room visits through age 4 than the controls, and their mothers were on welfare 33
percent less of the time. In the Perry Preschool program, children's earnings when they reached
age 27 were 60 percent higher among program participants. Thus, we conclude that there is
strong evidence to support the proposition that at least some early interventions can benefit
participating children and their mothers.

It is also apparent from Figure 1, however, that for most programs, most indicators are not
measured. This is even truer of the maternal analysis, where five of the nine evaluations paid no
attention to possible effects on the mother other than parental development. Our analyses thus
represent only a partial accounting of program benefits. Furthermore, most evaluations did not
involve long-term follow-ups, and some benefits could take a number of years to accrue (some
could also erode with the passage of time).

What Are the Savings?

Some people may think that the benefits of targeted early intervention programs for participating
families are enough to justify public expenditures on them. Others may appreciate the benefits to
disadvantaged children but may be reluctant to raise tax burdens to accomplish such goals or
may wish, at least, for broader favorable ramifications from an investment of public funds. One
source of broader benefit is the potential savings the government (and thus taxpayers) realize
when families participating in early interventions require lower public expenditures later in life.
Participating children may spend less time in special-education programs. Parents and, as they
become adults, children may spend less time on welfare or under the jurisdiction of the criminal
justice system. They may also earn more income and thus pay more taxes.

In Figure 2, we compare program costs with eventual government savings for two of the nine
programsPerry Preschool and the Elmira PEW. The Perry Preschool program enrolled 123
disadvantaged African American children in Ypsilanti, Michigan, in the mid-1960s. The
program was a part-time preschool that included weekly home visits by the teacher and lasted for
one or two school years. For the Elmira PEW, 400 disadvantaged, primarily nonminority
families received home visits by nurses trained in parent education, establishment of support
networks for the mother, and linkage of the family to other health and human services. Mothers
received an average of 32 visits from the fourth month of pregnancy through the child's second
year. We chose these two interventions for three reasons:

They were random trials that satisfied sample size and attrition criteria.

They measured progress on developmental, educational, economic, criminal justice, and
health measures that could be expressed in monetary terms.

They followed the, children long enough for benefits to accrue. The latest Elmira PEIP
follow-up was at age 15 and Perry Preschool at age 27.

9 0
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For the Elmira PEIP estimates, we followed the approach taken in the evaluation of that project,
which was to split the results into two groups. One contained the higher-risk families (those with
single mothers and low socioeconomic status) and the other the lower-risk families. Costs and
savings for the two Elmira PEIP groups and for the Perry Preschool participants are shown in
Figure 2.4 Costs are known with a fair degree of certainty. The precision of the savings
estimates, however, depend on the sample sizes, and the vertical lines indicate the 66 percent
confidence band (that is, there is a 66 percent probability that the true benefit level falls along the
vertical line). A vertical line of twice the length shown would indicate a 95 percent confidence
band.

a

8

30,000

20,000

10,000

0

10,000
Elmira PEIP Elmira PEIP

lower-risk families higher-risk families
Perry

Preschool

SOURCE: See Figure 3.5 In Investing In Our Children.
NOTE: All amounts are In 1996 dollars and are the net present value of amounts over
time where future values are discounted to the birth of the participating child, using a 4
percent annual real discount rate.

Figure 2Program Cost Versus Savings to Government (Taxpayers)

For the Perry Preschool and the higher-risk families of the Elmira PEIP, our best estimates of the
savings to government are much higher than the costs (about $25,000 versus $12,000 for each
participating Perry family; $24,000 versus $6,000 for Elmira). Although there is considerable
uncertainty with respect to the benefit estimates, from a statistical point of view we. can be more
than 95 percent certain that the benefits exceed the costs.5 It is worth pointing out, however, that
while benefits exceed costs, the costs accrue immediately, while the benefits are realized only as
the years pass and children transition through adolescence to adulthood.

In the case of the lower-risk participants of the Elmira PEIP, the savings to government are
unlikely to exceed the costs. In fact, our best estimate of the net savings is that they are negative:

4 Dollars shown have been converted to present valuei.e., future costs and savings have been discounted (at 4 percent per
year) to recognize the standard assumption in economics that, even apart from inflation, people attach less value to future
dollars than to current ones. "Present" here is the year of the child's birth. All amounts are in 1996 dollars.

s There are however, other uncertainties that are not related to sample size and that cannot be measured with statistical
methods.

9
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The government savings, while positive, are not enough to offset program costs. This result
illustrates the importance of targeting programs to those who will benefit most if the hope is to
realize government savings that exceed costs.

We emphasize, however, that while we included the full costs of the programs, we could not
account for all benefits. The Elmira PEIP, which has followed participating children only to age
15 so far, provides no basis for calculating the amount these children may save the government
in welfare costs, or the extra taxes they may pay as adults. We might expect such savings even
for the lower-risk participants, although the longer-run savings may be less than those generated
by children in the higher-risk families. The Perry savings may also be underestimated because
benefits to mothers were not measured.

Furthermore, the programs generate additional benefits to society beyond the government. These
include the tangible costs of the crimes that would eventually have been committed by
participating children, had they not participated in the program. The benefits also include the
extra income generated by participating families (not just the taxes on that income), which can be
reckoned as a benefit to the overall economy. We estimated these two benefit sources combined
as roughly $3,000 per family in the case of the lower-risk Elmira participants, about $6,000 per
family for the higher-risk Elmira participants, and over $24,000 per family in the Perry case.

While the net savings and other benefits from these programs appear promising, caution must be
exercised for various reasons in drawing generalizations for public policy. We explain most of
these reasons below, but two relate specifically to the cost-savings approach. First, because
these are the only two programs whose evaluation characteristics permit estimates of long-term
savings with any accuracy, we cannot say that different programs would also generate such
savings (by the same token, we cannot say that they wouldn't). Second, because there was some
variation between the two programs in the indicators of success measured, we cannot conclude
from the different net savings numbers that one program is better than the other.

One final caveat: Cost-savings analysis is a useful tool because, when the results are positive, it
provides strong support for program worth. That is, it shows that only a portion of the benefits
those easily monetizableoutweigh the program's entire cost.6 However, because only some of
the benefits are taken into account, a negative result does not indicate that a program shouldn't
be funded. Policymakers must then decide whether the nonmonetizable benefitse.g., gains in
IQ, in parent-child relations, in high-school diplomasare worth the net monetary cost to the
government.

What Remains Unknown and What Does It Mean for Policy?

On the basis of research conducted to date, we know that some targeted early intervention
programs have substantial favorable effects on child health and development, educational
achievement, and economic well-being. We also know that some of these programs, if targeted
to families who will benefit most, have generated savings to the government that exceed the
costs of the programs. There is still much that we do not know about these programs, however,
and this limits the degree to which these conclusions can be generalized to other early

6 A decision as to Mamba to fund a program must, of course, also take into account budgetary constraints and other uses for
the money.
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intervention programs. One of the big unknowns is why successful programs workand others
don't. In particular, we do not know.the following:

Whether there are optimal program designs. There have not been enough controlled
comparisons that can support choices between focusing on parents versus children (or
both), intervening in infancy versus the preschool years, integrating interventions versus
running them independently, or tailoring to individual needs versus treating children the
same but treating a greater number.

How early interventions can best be targeted to those who would benefit most. It is not yet
known which eligibility criteria would generate the most positive benefit/cost ratios. In
addition, whatever criteria are used will have dramatic implications for program cost and
implementation.

There are other unknowns:

Whether the model programs evaluated to date will generate the same benefits and savings
when implemented on a large scale. The demonstrations have been undertaken in a more
resource-intensive, focused environment with more highly trained staff than is likely to be
achievable in full-scale programs.

What the full range of benefits is. Typically, evaluations have focused on those aspects of
development that the intervention was intended to influence. But we know from some
studies that programs can have a broad array of effects beyond their principal objectives.

What the implications of the changing social safety net are. Previous demonstrations were
carried out under the now-superseded welfare system. To some extent, those interventions
depended on that system for collateral support of families, and the savings generated were
partly in terms of welfare costs that the government may not now be paying out anyway.

These unknowns will have to be resolved if wise decisions are to be made among early
intervention alternatives and if the programs chosen are to be designed to fully realize their
potential for promoting child developmentand saving money. In particular, research is needed
into why programs work. Otherwise, inferences cannot be drawn about new program designs,
and every such design would be unproven until tested and evaluated.

The scope of further research should depend on the specific information sought or the scale of
the program. New demonstrations are needed to answer questions that require variations in
program design or that reflect the evolving society and economy, and broader testing of previous
designs is required to answer questions of scale-up. However, on questions of targeting, benefits
beyond objectives, and other issues, much could also be gainedand less expensivelyby
making the most of evaluations already under waye.g., by further follow-ups and expansion of
the set of benefits measured. Finally, where governments see fit to initiate large-scale public
programs on the basis of current knowledge, careful evaluation should be a component. Then,
when budgets tighten again and choices need to be made, the worth (or lack of worth) of these
programs will be more firmly established.

BEST COPY AVAI LE
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The research required represents a substantial commitment of fundsmost likely in the millions
or even the tens of millions of dollars. However, the early intervention programs that may prove
warranted (and that some people are already advocating) will represent a national investment in
the hundreds of millions or billions of dollars. A modest if substantial expenditure initiated now
could thus ensure that maximum benefits are achieved from a much larger expenditure over the
long term.
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Mr. SHAYS. Dr. Knitzer.
Ms. KNITZER. Thank you. I am Jane Knitzer, the deputy director

of the National Center for Children in Poverty which is part of the
Columbia University School of Public Health. Our mission is to
focus on issues affecting low-income children from zero to 6.

In my testimony today, what I would like to do is talk about a
report that we recently released entitled, "Map and Track: State
Initiatives for Young Children and Families, 1998 Edition," which
asks the question, OK, we have this wonderful scientific and con-
sistent set of data, empirical data. What are States actually doing?
How are they investing in promoting positive outcomes for young
children and families? I will talk a little about the key findings
from that study, four challenges that the report raises and the im-
plications for some Federal action.

Let me just say that the report really focuses on State invest-
ments; it does not say, what is a State doing with Federal dollars,
with Federal programs like Head Start, et cetera. Nor did we track
child care initiatives or health initiatives, because these are single-
system initiatives. We were really focusing on what you are calling
"early intervention" and what we called "comprehensive programs."
It is what Representative Towns was talking about, programs that
combine promoting healthy child development, help parents with
family support and link parents and children to needed services.

Key finding No. 1: States increasingly are recognizing the impor-
tance of early intervention/ comprehensive programs for young chil-
dren. How do we know this? In the 2 years since the first edition
of the report was released, 26 States now report statewide support
for programs for infants and toddlers; 26 do, 24 don't. Virginia, by
the way, is one of the States that does not support a statewide pro-
gram. The program that Ms. Pearson was in does not exist
throughout Virginia.

Our framework in Map and Track, however, went beyond looking
for programs for infants and toddlers, because we think the pre-
school years are important and we must not forget about those, so
we also looked at what the States were doing for preschool age chil-
dren. For preschoolers, what we saw was a deepening of existing
programs. Thirty-four States in 1996 reported programs for pre-
schoolers, 34 States in 1998; however, three States, including New
York, Connecticut and New Jersey, have significantly deepened
their preschool programs. New York may eventually have a univer-
sal program. This is the good news.

Not so good was the finding that there appears to be a disconnect
between these comprehensive programs and the implementation of
welfare reform, and this speaks exactly to the point that Mr. Towns
was raising. We are very concerned about that. Only 10 States re-
ported deliberate statewide strategies to link their comprehensive
initiatives with the implementation of welfare reform. We are very
concerned about that. Such integration, we believe is critical to en-
sure that as adults concentrate on moving into jobs, we do not for-
get the importance of giving their children real opportunities.

The second set of findings: The data suggests that there is grow-
ing recognition that a program-by-program strategy is not enough.
This has basically been the strategy that we have used for years.
How do we know this? In two ways. First, over half the States are
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developing planning and community mobilization strategies that
are seeds for public-private partnerships. Second, we have, as in
Rhode Island, a small number of States mounting multistrategy
initiatives that are weaving together multiple kinds of efforts, lay-
ers of efforts to raise the State's priority attention to young chil-
dren and families.

Four challenges: One, although many of the States report initia-
tives on behalf of young children, the scope is broad but not deep.
Often a relatively limited number of children have access and fund-
ing levels are low.

Second, the range of public-private partnerships that is emerging
is very positive and does seem to bring new resources to the table.
There has been no systematic evaluation of how can we grow these
so that it's not just a commitment of the day.

Third, some issues reported by the field remain largely
unaddressed in State initiatives. The one I wanted to talk about
today is how we can help care givers support families with the
kinds of levels of stress that we are actually seeing in the early
childhood community, particularly related to substance abuse, men-
tal health, domestic violence issues and the kind of depression that
you heard about.

The second issue is that we can't forget about fathers in these
early childhood programs. This is a wonderful point of outreach to
young fathers, particularly through welfare reform.

The fourth issue: Although in many States the programs that are
being implemented are modeled after national initiatives, some of
which have proven track records, there is little evaluation of these
State initiatives, and it is not clear whether the desired effects will
be sustained in these State efforts, as we have seen in the carefully
controlled research.

How can the Federal Government help? That was a question
Mr. SHAYS. I am sorry, I am going to be walking out for about

5 minutes. I didn't want to show you any disrespect. I will be com-
ing back. I just have to meet with someone.

Ms. KNITZER. Thank you.
This, I think, repeats a theme that was heard this morning ear-

lier, ensure that Federal dollars can be used flexibly. States need
to be able to mix and match funding streams. This, I know, is a
new way of thinking for the Federal Government.

And also I think we need to build inand the Federal Govern-
ment has a major roleincentives for quality improvement. We are
far beyond just thinking about health and safety licensing require-
ments. We need incentives for quality improvement. We need in-
centives to States to develop community mobilization planning and
networking capacity on behalf of young children and families. We
need incentives to States to promote positive outcomes for young
children and families affected by welfare changes. The changes are
significant.

Programs are hurting, family support programs, Healthy Fami-
lies of America, families that have traditionally been visited during
the day, are out at work. People are saying, the parenting piece is
not important, just go get a job. There is a real need to underscore
the importance of this.
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Fourth, we need the Federal Government to help develop fiscal
and programmatic consultation and other strategies to support
those home visitors, for example, so that they can cope with the
kinds of needs that families are bringing to them.

Fifth, we need to encourage the evaluation of statewide programs
for young children and families so we know what we have gotten.

I will stop there and respond to any questions later.
Mr. TOWNS [presiding]. Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Knitzer follows:]
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My name is Jane Knitzer. I am the Deputy Director of the National Center for
Children in Poverty (NCCP) and, on behalf of the Center, I very much appreciate
the opportunity to testify before you on how states are seeking to enhance the well-
being of infants and toddlers, preschoolers, and their families.

The National Center for Children in Poverty is a nonpartisan research
organization that is part of the Columbia University School of Public Health. Our
mission is to identify and promote strategies to reduce poverty and to improve the
life chances of low-income young children (from birth to age six) and their families.
NCCP conducts state-by-state demographic analyses of young child poverty rates
(see Appendix A), and carries out research intended to improve policies and
practices for young children and their families. For example, we are part of the team
documenting the lessons learned from Starting Points, the initiative of the Carnegie
Corporation to help states and communities focus attention on young children and
families.

Every two years, NCCP also issues a report entitled Map and Track: State
Initiatives for Young Children and Families. This report identifies existing state
programs for young children, if individual states are encouraging community
planning efforts on behalf of young children, and if states have made enhancing
outcomes for young children a priority at the highest levels of government. The
report also provides state-specific information on demographic indicators of young
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child and family well-being and information about welfare decisions of special
relevance to young children. All 50 states provide data and review the profiles
before publication.

In my testimony today I would like to do four things first, describe briefly the
overall findings from the 1998 edition of Map and Track, second, highlight some of
the states' major strategies, particularly giving examples of public-private
partnerships; third, identify some of the critical issues the report raised; and fourth,
talk about the implications for future state and federal policies.

The Overall Findings

There is growing recognition across the states about the importance of
developing comprehensive programs for infants, toddlers, and preschoolers. These
programs are comprehensive in the sense that they seek to enhance the young
child's development, help parents meet the challenges of parenting and link both
parents and children to other needed support services (See Appendix B for an
overview map).

Almost half of the states (24) report supporting statewide comprehensive
programs for infants and toddlers. Since 1996, ten states have started or added
new programs. These new programs appear to be at least in part developed in
response to the emerging information about the importance of early brain
development in young children. Funding levels range from one or two million
dollars to $31 million.

Program strategies include: outreach to new parents (typically, these aim to
be universal); comprehensive programs for high-risk infants and toddlers;
parenting education and family support initiatives to provide basic information to
families and to strengthen infant-parent relationships; and, initiatives to meet
special needs (for example, programs to meet the needs of parents with mental
illness or substance abuse).

Thirty-four states report expanding or supplementing existing programs for pre-
school age children. State expenditures for these programs range from $300,000
to $200 million

Program strategies include comprehensive prekindergarten programs, state
support for Head Start, parent education, family support and family literacy
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efforts, and "enabling grants" to communities to design a mix of services tailored
to community needs.

Ten states report explicit, deliberate efforts to link these-typtt of comprehensive
programs with the implementation of welfare reform.

These states report three strategies: using TANF and/or state dollars to expand or
target services to families with young children receiving or at risk of receiving
welfare; explicitly encouraging parents to participate in parenting programs
either in lieu of, or in tandem with, work requirements, and giving priority for
enrollment in comprehensive programs to young children in families receiving or
at risk of receiving public assistance.

There is also recognition of the importance of looking beyond support for
individual "programs" to supporting the development of systems of early care and
education. Thus a growing number of states report efforts to engage community
stakeholders in planning processes to better meet the needs of the young children
and families in their communities. Most typically these efforts are linked to state-
level planning and broader systems reform efforts.

Just over half (27) of the states report community mobilization strategies linked
with state-level strategies to promote systemic change on behalf of children.
Fourteen of these have a clear focus on young children and families.

The process by which states are implementing these new planning and
systems varies. For example, Hawaii has developed Good Beginnings, a public-
private partnership focusing on children that works through a state-level council
with four counties to develop community-based partnerships as well. In Georgia,
much of the planning and community mobilization takes place through the
public/private state Family Policy Council, which works with community
partnerships to achieve five designated results for children, including for the
youngest, ensuring that they enter school ready to learn.

The extent and type of commitment to young children and families varies
considerably from state to state. Some states report only programs, others program
and community mobilization strategies. Only a handful of states report sustained,
high-level comprehensive initiatives that encompass a variety of state-initiated
strategies.
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In 1998, eight states, Colorado, Georgia, Minnesota, North Carolina, Ohio,
Oregon, Vermont, and West Virginia, met our criteria for comprehensive
initiatives some combination of high-level leadership, integrated program and
community mobilization strategies, continued commitment to increased funding,
and a framework for state action. These were the same eight states identified in
the 1996 edition of Map and Track.

The Issues

The national picture that emerges then is mixed. The good news is that there is
widespread recognition of the importance of developing supportive early learning
experiences. More and more states appear to be recognizing that promoting the
well-being of young children and families is everybody's business: parents, business
leaders, community leaders, and services providers. There has been an increase in
the number of programs for infants and toddlers and their families, and an expansion
of support for preschoolers in most of the states that have already recognized the
importance of early learning experiences for children.

A trend is also visible toward providing enabling funds to communities (or
sometimes school districts) encouraging them to design services that are tailored to
the particular needs of a community. Further, although overall levels of state
investments in comprehensive programs for young children and families remain
relatively low, the number of programs with increases in funding over a two-year
period outweighs those with reduced funding.

At the same time, there are clear inequities across the states in access to
comprehensive programs, in funding levels, and in leadership. There are still no
statewide programs for infants and toddlers in 26 states, and none for preschoolers
in 16 states. Most troubling, only 20% of the states report deliberate efforts to
ensure a focus on young children in implementing welfare reform. Even fewer states
report any efforts to respond to issues of great concern to practitioners the level of
stress in many families with young children, often related to domestic violence,
substance abuse, and mental illness, as well as challenging behaviors in young
children. A few states, such as Vermont, are partnering with mental health,
substance abuse, and early intervention agencies to invent a secondary support
system to help these most vulnerable families, but special national attention to this
issue is required.

With respect to the use of public-private partnerships focused on the well-
being of young children and families, states are taking a variety of approaches. In
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some instances, the public-private partnership involves foundations and government
either within the states or across multiple states. In other instances, such as
Colorado Bright Beginnings, the business community is deeply engaged in the
partnerships. In still other instances, the aim is to engage a bitiatl-Vatidrof
stakeholders at the community level making sure that early childhood is
everybody's business. For example, this is the strategy of the North Carolina Smart
Start Partnership for North Carolina's Children. Smart Start, now in 55 of the state's
counties, and soon to be statewide, joins local partners from the public sector,
private sector, and families to improve access to health care and the quality of early
childhood services for its young children. A statewide public-private partnership
provides leadership, technical assistance, and resource development. In Florida,
there has been a major effort to "partner" in a different way with key policy makers,
providing them with information about early brain development.

The states providing the most leadership are using many different pathways to
build a sustained commitment to young children and families over time. (See
Appendix C for description of the initiatives in the eight states with the most
comprehensive efforts..). For example, Colorado's First Impressions has four goals:
(1) universal health care for children; (2) universal volunteer home visits and
support for new parents; (3) improved quality, affordability, accessibility of child
care; (4) and "child-oriented" communities. Colorado has used its Carnegie
Corporation Starting Points grant to create the Warm Welcome program, and is
involving the business community in paying for home visits as a benefit. Prior to
that, Colorado invested in a prekindergarten program and developed a state-level
management strategy to build a system of supports to young children and families,
through a Children's Cabinet and a state-level management team. To strengthen the
local infrastructure for early care and education the state has begun a pilot effort in
12 counties. It has also established a pilot mental health project for young children.

In West Virginia the approach is different. Starting Points Centers have been
established as part of West Virginia's pre-existing community mobilization strategy,
known as the Family Resource Network. These Centers in turn, are becoming the
hubs for the delivery of a variety of services, including those related to welfare
reform. The state has also funded a prekindergarten program. Leadership for the
overall initiative is provided by the Early Childhood Implementation Commission
which is a part of the Cabinet on Children and Families.

In Ohio, three basic goals drive the community mobilization and program
development effort ensuring access to early care and education for every family that
wishes- it, improving child health, and increasing family stability. The state began
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with a state-level Family and Children First Council, then invited counties to
develop their own councils. Initially in a few counties, such councils now exist in
each of Ohio's 88 counties, with the state providing technical-assistance and--
support. These councils are now beginning not to just plan, but also to manage
resources. All have family members as part of them. The state has also invested
significantly in a state-funded Head Start program, and most recently, in Early Start,
an early intervention home visiting program for young children and families at risk
by virtue of environmental and biological risk factors. (Particularly noteworthy is
that the state has targeted TANF dollars for this program and made it available to
those receiving or at risk of receiving welfare.)

The states providing the strongest leadership on behalf of young children and
families share several characteristics. (1) The effort is bipartisan and involves
leaders from both inside and outside the government. (2) Efforts to build community
support co-exist with efforts to fund programs and increase resources for effective
services. There is an interweaving of multiple, deliberate strategies. (3) In most
instances, there is a clear framework for action, reflected in statements of basic
goals for young children. (4) The states all started in different places, with different
mixes of services and leadership, but the vision and the commitments have
continued to evolve. (5) The need for more resources is critical; infrastructure
development and community mobilization is necessary, but not sufficient. 6) New
partnerships do bring new resources to the table.

Implications and Recommendations

Taken together, there are two central messages from Map and Track. First,
states are making progress focusing on young children and families, but with some
exemplary exceptions, neither state leadership nor state investment is deep enough
across all the states. Second, Map and Track not only documents the current state of
the art of early childhood initiatives but it also points to new directions that might be
supported either by the states or the federal government or both, which are provided
in detail below.

Distinctions among different types of program approaches are blurring as states
strive to create program approaches, whatever the age focus, to address
parenting issues, child development issues and adult development issues,
including literacy and employment skills.

Flexibility in how dollars can be used, along with careful planning processes and
accountability mechanisms, are critical. Program-by-program funding streams,
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rigid eligibility, and funding criteria make developing supportive communities for
young children more complex. States need to be able to mix and match dollars to
help communities create the needed system of supports to young children and
families that are tailored to community need.

Building community support structures on behalf of young children and families
takes time, technical assistance from the states or others, and seems to work best
if there are clear objectives. Support for these activities can come from public or
private funds, or some combination, but is crucial to the success of program
efforts.

Incentives to states to promote positive outcomes for young children and their
families in the context of welfare reform is important, since so much of the effort
to implement welfare reform is adult driven.

Identifying and testing new strategies to help programs serving families with
young children better meet the needs of the most troubled families would
strengthen their efficacy.

Investments are needed in evaluations of program, community mobilization or
comprehensive state strategies on behalf of young children and families. Further,
although states are setting outcome based goals, in many places, administrative
data systems do not have the capacity to track these outcomes. The few
evaluations that do exist, however, are encouraging.

Sustaining systems-change efforts poses a challenge across the states. Efforts to
expand understanding of the importance of investing in early childhood at all
levels of government and with public-private partnershipt may be key to
ensuring that the efforts that are now underway will withstand changes in
administrations.

Taken together this suggests ways in which federal initiatives might support
state efforts; such an agenda might include ensuring that federal dollars can be used
flexibly to enhance developmental outcomes for young children and families;
providing incentives to states to develop comprehensive community mobilization,
planning and networking capacity on behalf of young children and families;
promoting positive outcomes for young children in families affected by welfare
changes; developing consultation and other strategies to promote the well-being of
young children at risk of poor learning and behavior disorder, and encouraging the

8
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evaluation of statewide comprehensive programs for young children and families.
Implementing such an agenda would go a long way to support the states in their
efforts to ensure that the next generation does in fact, as the national goal calls for,
enter school ready to learn.

9
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Mr. TOWNS. Dr. Olds.
Dr. OLDS. Thank you for the opportunity to testify on this impor-

tant topic. My name is David Olds. I am a professor of pediatrics
and director of the prevention research center for family and child
health at the University of Colorado Health Sciences Center. For
over 20 years, my colleagues and I have been developing and study-
ing a program of prenatal and early childhood home visitation by
nurses that reduces child abuse and neglect, use of welfare, and
crime in low-income families. The program serves low-income
mothers who had no previous live births, many of whom are un-
married adolescents.

The nurses visit pregnant women in their homes during preg-
nancy and the first 2 years of children's lives. In those visits, they
help women reduce prenatal cigarette smoking, the use of alcohol
and drugs; they help women improve their diets and identify
emerging complications of pregnancy that can be treated before
they compromise the health of the mother and the fetus. They help
parents provide more responsible care for their children, and they
help parents develop a vision for their future and plan subsequent
pregnancies, complete their educations and eventually find work.

The program has been developed, refined and tested over a 20-
year period, so that today the nurses have structured, written pro-
tocols and intensive training to guide them in working with fami-
lies who live in highly challenging and often dangerous situations.

Over the years we have been encouraged to disseminate this pro-
gram, but we have waited to do so until now because we wanted
to have sound scientific evidence of its effectiveness and thoroughly
developed program protocols. In this way, we can now provide
greater assurance to communities that programs replicating this
model will reproduce the results achieved in the research.

We have examined the program in three separate, large-scale
randomized trials. Randomized trials are the most scientifically
credible method of determining the effectiveness of health, social
service and medical interventions. The first study was carried out
in Elmira, NY, with Caucasian families. The second was conducted
in Memphis, TN, with African-American families. The third is
being completed now in Denver with a large portion of Mexican-
American families.

We have found that the program can reduce some of the most in-
tractable health and social problems facing at-risk families in our
society, and as you heard from Dr. Karoly, a recent report by the
RAND Corp., shows that the program can more than pay for itself
in reduced government expenditures, when it is focused on unmar-
ried, low-income parents.

A recent report on the Elmira study shows that by the time the
child reached 15, nurse-visited, low-income, unmarried mothers
had 33 percent fewer subsequent births, 30 months greater spacing
between the first and second births, 30 fewer months on welfare,
81 percent fewer arrests and convictions, and 79 percent fewer
verified reports of child abuse and neglect.

Compared to their counterparts who have been assigned to com-
parison services, the 15-year-old children born to nurse-visited,
low-income, unmarried mothers had 60 percent fewer instances of
running away, 56 percent fewer arrests, 81 percent fewer convic-



115

tions and violations of probation and 56 percent fewer days of alco-
hol consumption. There were very few benefits for higher-income,
married women and their children.

One of the hallmarks of good evidence is being able to reproduce
it. The major findings from the Elmira trial in the early years of
the child's life have now been reproduced in an urban replication
conducted in Memphis. For example, by the children's second birth-
days, compared to women and children randomly assigned to com-
parison services, those who were nurse-visited had 30 percent
fewer hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, 50 percent more fre-
quent breast feeding, 81 percent fewer days that children were hos-
pitalized with injuries or ingestions, fewer conditions in the chil-
dren's hospital records indicative of neglectful or abusive care, and
30 percent fewer subsequent births.

During the past decade, the findings from this program of re-
search have been used to promote a wide variety of home visiting
programs for pregnant women and parents of young children, but
unless they share the essential elements of the program tested in
these trials, those other programs are not likely to produce the
same results.

Very few programs have been scientifically proven to improve
high-risk parents' early care of their children. Brain development
is rapid in the first 3 years. But the science of learning how to ef-
fectively improve at-risk parents' care of their own children is in
its infancy. We need continued investments in research in this
area. Even when communities choose to develop programs based on
models with good scientific evidence, all too often the programs are
watered down and compromised in the process of being scaled up.

We have begun to address this problem. We have been invited
by the Justice Department to disseminate the program in high-
crime neighborhoods in different parts of the country. We are using
this initiative to learn more about what it will take in new commu-
nities to develop the program with fidelity to its essential elements.
We have established the program in 14 communities and are study-
ing what it will take to successfully develop the program on a much
larger scale.

In this initiative, State and local governments are securing finan-
cial support for the program out of existing funds, such as TANF,
Medicaid, child abuse and crime prevention dollars. The program
itself requires no new appropriation. Communities are making
these investments in part because the evidence indicates that ex-
penditures in these budgets will be reduced later on. This means
that the cost of the program, which in 1998 dollars is now $7,000
per family for 21/2 years of service, can be shared by a variety of
government agencies. This reduces the strain on any one budget.

We have recently been invited by a major philanthropy to de-
velop a system of regional replication centers based in schools of
nursing and public health to develop this program on a national
scale. We have estimated that it will take 20 additional years to
develop this program for all low-income parents in our society, if
we wish to preserve those elements of program quality that are
necessary to reproduce the results I have just summarized on a na-
tional scale. This is because quality programming requires recruit-
ing qualified staff, intensive training and excellent supervisors, ca-
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pacities that require development over time. To do it well will even-
tually require Federal support of this system of replication centers.

In general, we believe that policies and practices for assisting
young children and their families ought to be based on the best sci-
entific evidence available. Public hope and confidence in the prom-
ise of such programs are scarce commodities that we dare not
squander on approaches that are not likely to succeed. As health
and social welfare policy is redesigned in the near future, I believe
it makes sense to begin with programs that have been tested, rep-
licated and found to work.

Thank you.
Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Dr. Olds.
[The prepared statement of Dr. Olds follows:]
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Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to testify on
this important topic.

For over 20 years, my colleagues and I have been developing and studying a program of
prenatal and early childhood home visitation by nurses that reduces child abuse and
neglect, use of welfare, and crime in low-income families. The program serves low-
income mothers who have had no previous live births, many of whom are unmarried
adolescents.

The nurses visit pregnant women in their homes during pregnancy and the first two years
of children's lives. In those visits:

they help women reduce prenatal cigarette smoking, and use of alcohol and drugs;

they help women improve their diets, and identify emerging complications of
pregnancy that can be treated before they compromise the health of the mother and
fetus;

they help parents provide more responsible care for their children; and

they help parents develop a vision for their future and plan subsequent pregnancies,
complete their educations, and eventually find work.

The program has been developed, refined, and tested over a 20-year period so that today
the nurses have structured written protocols and intensive training to guide them in
working with families who live in highly challenging and often dangerous situations.
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Over the years, we have been encouraged to disseminate the program model, but we have
waited to do so until now because we wanted to have sound scientific evidence of its
effectiveness and thoroughly developed program protocols. In this way, we can now
provide greater assurance to communities that replicate this program will reproduce the
results achieved in the research.

We have examined the program in three separate, large scale randomized trials.
Randomized trials are the most scientifically credible method of determining the
effectiveness of health, social service, and medical interventions.

The first study was carried out in Elmira, New York with Caucasian families.

The second was conducted in Memphis Tennessee, with African American families.

The third is being completed in Denver with a large portion of Mexican-American
families.

We have found that the program can reduce some of the most intractable health and social
problems facing at-risk families in our society and a recent report by the Rand
Corporation shows that the program can more than pay for itself in reduced government
expenditures, when it is focused on unmarried, low-inconie parents.

A recent report on the Elmira study shows that by the first child's 15th birthday, nurse-
visited low-income unmarried mothers had:

33% fewer subsequent births;

30 months greater spacing between first and second births;

30 fewer months on welfare;

81% fewer arrests and convictions; and

79% fewer verified reports of child abuse and neglect;

Compared to their counterparts who had been assigned to comparison services, the 15-
year old children born to nurse-visited, low-income, unmarried mothers had:

60% fewer instances of running away;

56% fewer arrests;

81% fewer convictions and violations of probation; and

2

4_ 2 2



119

56% fewer days of alcohol consumption.

There were very few benefits for higher income, married women and their children.

One of the hallmarks of good evidence is being able to reproduce it. The major findings
from the Elmira trial in the early years of the child's life have now been reproduced in an
urban replication conducted in Memphis.

For example, by the children's second birthdays, compared to women and children
randomly assigned to comparison services, those who were nurse-visited had:

30% fewer hypertensive disorders of pregnancy;

50% more frequent breast feeding;

81% fewer days that children were hospitalized with injuries or ingestions;

fewer conditions in the children's hospital records indicative of neglectful or abusive
care;

30% fewer subsequent births.

During the past decade, the findings from this program of research have been used to
promote a wide variety of home-visitation programs for pregnant women and parents of
young children. Unless programs share the essential elements of the program tested in
these trials, however, those other programs are not likely to produce the same results.

Even when communities choose to develop programs based on models with good
scientific evidence, all too often the programs are watered down and compromised in the
process of being scaled up. We have begun some work to address this problem.

We have been invited by the Justice Department to disseminate this program in high-
crime neighborhoods in different parts of the country. We are using this initiative to learn
more about what it will take, in new communities, to develop the program with fidelity to
its essential elements. We have established the program in 14 communities and are
studying what it will take to successfully develop the program on a much larger scale.

In this initiative, state and local governments are securing financial support for the
program out of existing funds, such as TANF, Medicaid, child-abuse, and crime-
prevention dollars. The program itself requires no new appropriation. Communities are
making these investments in part because the evidence indicates that expenditures in
these budgets will be reduced later on. This means that the cost of this program, which in
1998 dollars is about $7,000 per family for two and a half years of service, can be shared
by a variety of government agencies. This reduces the strain on any one budget.
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We have recently been invited by a major philanthropy to develop a system of regional
replication centers based in schools of nursing and public health to develop this program
on a national scale. We have estimated that it will take 20 additional years to develop
this program for all low-income women in our society, if we wish to preserve those
elements of program quality necessary to reproduce the results I have just summarized on
a national scale. This is because quality programming requires recruiting qualified staff,
intensive training, and excellent supervisors capacities that require development over
time.

In general, we believe that policies and practices for assisting young children and their
families ought to be based upon the best scientific evidence available. Given the recent
emphasis on brain development in the first three years of life, there is a lot of enthusiasm
these days about the promise of early preventive intervention.

We know that brain development is rapid during the first three years of life and that many
neuronal pathways are established during this time. There are very few programs that
have been scientifically proven to improve parents' care of their children, however, and I
see almost no evidence that programs have been able to improve children's neurological
development; At this point, we have lots of theory but not much proven to work.

The few well conducted studies of programs designed to promote early parental care
should give us pause, given that almost all of those tested have failed to achieve the kinds
of results we so desperately need.

I am particularly concerned about the expansion of Early Head Start before research on
its effectiveness is completed. I am deeply concerned that the programs in place have not
been sufficiently well developed clinically to produce meaningful results. I have similar
concerns about the federal Healthy Start program.

To fund such programs before they have been developed clinically and carefully tested is
likely to put in place a system of services for young families that is deficient and not
reflective of what our evidence indicates that' we, as a society, could achieve.

Public hope and confidence in the promise of such programs is a scarce commodity that
we dare not squander on approaches that are not likely to succeed. As health and social
welfare policy is redesigned in the near future, I believe that it makes sense to begin with
programs that have been tested, replicated, and found to work.

In the next century, we have a unique opportunity to guide policies for children and
families with solid scientific evidence. I hope we do not miss the opportunity.

4
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I. INTRODUCTION

Many of the most pervasive and intractable problems faced by young children and

parents in our society today can be traced to adverse maternal health-related behaviors during

pregnancy, compromised care of the child, and stressful conditions in families' homes that

interfere with parental and family functioning. These problems include infant mortality, pre-term

delivery, low birthweight, and neurodevelopmental impairments in young children resulting from

poor prenatal health;' child abuse and neglect, and accidental childhood injuries resulting from

dysfunctional caregiving;4 youth violence resulting from a combination of neurodevelopmental

impairment and harsh and neglectful caregiving; and diminished economic self-sufficiency of

parents resulting from closely spaced pregnancy, educational failure, and sporadic workforce

participation!

Through 1993, we published a series of papers on a randomized trial of prenatal and

infancy home visitation by nurses in Elmira, New York (N=400) that was designed to reduce

these problems through the improvement of maternal health and behavior. The program was

focused on women who were either unmarried, adolescents, or poor. Early results showed

significant promise for the program, and were reviewed in an article on the effects of prenatal,

infancy and early childhood home visitation published in 1993.9

At the time the 1993 review article was written, some of the program effects evaluated

through the child's fourth year of life had been published. Compared to counterparts randomly

assigned to receive comparison services, women who were nurse-visited experienced greater

informal and formal social support, smoked fewer cigarettes, had better diets, and exhibited

fewer kidney infections by the end ofpregnancy. (There also was a non-significant decrease in

the number of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy.) Babies born to nurse-visited women

2
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identified as smokers were 75% less likely to be born prematurely, that is, before 37 weeks of

gestation.'

From birth through the child's second birthday, nurse-visited children born to women

with all three risk characteristics used for sample recruitment (poor, unmarried, or teen-aged)

were 80% less likely to have been identified through state Child Protective Service Records as a

victim of child abuse or neglect than were their counterparts in the comparison group. Moreover,

nurse-visited children were seen in the emergency department 56% fewer times than were

children in the comparison condition during the second year of their lives that is, when children

are more likely to be injured because of their increased mobility but immature motor

development. These findings were corroborated by observations of the children's homes and

parents' reports of their care of their children."

During the first four years after delivery of the first child, nurse-visited women who were

low-income and unmarried at registration were found to have 42% fewer subsequent pregnancies

and 84% greater participation in the work force.' An economic evaluation of the program from

the standpoint of savings to government showed that for low-income women the discounted cost

savings to government exceeded the cost of the program before the children were four years of

age.13

Given these encouraging results, beginning in the late 1980's many groups urged us to

develop the program in new communities on a much wider scale. They reasoned that the

program worked and that at-risk families in our society deserved the program. We chose not to

replicate the program outside of research contexts, however, for three reasons.

First, we did not know whether the findings produced early in the life of the child would

endure. Other preventive interventions had produced effects that washed out after the program

3
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ended. We needed to see enduring benefit before we could justify a public investment in this

service.

Second, we did not know whether the findings from the Elmira program were limited to

the population studied (primarily whites living in a Central New York county) or whether they

might apply to a wider range of communities and populations. In particular, we needed to be

sure that this was a program that would work with minorities living in urban areas.

Third, we needed to develop the program protocols and methods of training nurse home

visitors to the point that new programs based upon this model would reliably reproduce the

essential elements of the program tested in the randomized trials. Many programs examined in

research settings are subsequently altered or watered down in the process of being scaled up,

often leading to reduced effectiveness. We wanted to avoid that fate for the current program and

needed to be able to provide clear guidance for new communities about what, exactly, they

should do to replicate the program.

In the meantime, several national groups used the findings from the Elmira trial to

promote a variety of home-visitation models in spite of the fact that the promoted programs bore

little resemblance to the program tested in Elmira. Some programs employed paraprofessional

visitors who began during pregnancy but had little follow-up during infancy. Others began after

delivery and employed paraprofessionals as home visitors. Rarely were such programs designed

explicitly to promote maternal life course (plan future pregnancies, stay in school, find work,

etc.). We did not discourage organizations using data from the Elmira trial to promote such a

wide variety of program types because, for all we knew at the time, the Elmira findings might be

reasonably applied to a many types of programs. We chose, instead, to focus our efforts on

conducting a follow-up of the Elmira study to examine the durability of the early effects,

4
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replicating the program in a major urban area (Memphis, Tennessee) and refining the program

protocols and training. If the program were truly effective, we then could help new communities

develop the program in accordance with the. proven model so that they could be reasonably sure

of achieving the effects observed in the randomized trials..

As the results of new randomized trials of other home visitation programs became

available, however, we grew increasingly concerned that the findings from Elmira did not have

broad applicability to all types of home visitation programs. Two reviews of randomized trials

of prenatal and early childhood home visitation programs showed that such programs needed to

adhere to certain standards to produce desired effects on maternal and child health.'"

More recently, in light of the considerable proliferation of programs of home visitation by

lay community health visitors, without solid evidence that such visitors could achieve the same

results as has been found with nurses, we developed a third trial in Denver (N=735) in which

nurse home visitors were contrasted with trained lay community health visitors when both visitor

types were provided the same protocols developed in the Elmira and Memphis trials. This study

was designed to determine the extent to which absence of effects for programs delivered by

paraprofessionals is due to the background of the visitors or to the program protocols typically

followed by paraprofessional visitors.

In this paper, we summarize findings from the Elmira trial that have been published since

1993 the point at which we published the most recent review of this evidence 9 and

summarize findings from the Memphis replication study. Outcomes from the. Denver trial are

not yet available, although data on differences between the nurse and paraprofessional home

visitors in implementation of the program are briefly summarized here. Before we summarize

these findings, we outline the epidemiological and theoretical foundations of the program and its

5
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content and methods. It is important to understand these features of the program in order to

interpret its effects.

II. DEVELOPMENTAL EPIDEMIOLOGY

The program tested in this series of randomized trials has been firmly grounded in

epidemiology and theories of child development. Kellam has referred to the integration of these

disciplines in guiding prevention science as developmental epidemiology." In planning the

original Elmira trial, we noted that although the problems identified above cut across all

segments of. U.S. society, they were more common among children born topoor, adolescent, and

single parents. This observation led to our decision to focus recruitment on women bearing first

children who were either adolescent, unmarried, or from low-income families. Any pregnant

woman bearing a first child was accepted into the study, irrespective of her age, marital status or

income, however, in order to avoid creating a program stigmatized because it served only the

poor or people with problems. Given that the beneficial effects of the Elmira program (described

below) were concentrated on women who were unmarried and from low-income families, we

modified the sampling designs in Memphis and Denver to focus more exclusively on low-income

women, the vast majority of whom were unmarried and adolescent.

All three of the trials focused on women who had no previous live births because we

reasoned that offering them services during the transition to parenthood would increase their

receptivity to offers of help. Moreover, from the standpoint of a public health strategy, this

approach held the promise of improving the life chances of subsequent children because parents

who received these services were hypothesized to have better skills for managing the demands of

pregnancy and early care of subsequent children after they had been helped with their first child.

In addition, to the extent that the rates of rapid successive births were redUced, parents would be

6
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able to focus their caregiving resources on a smaller number of children. The program was

directed toward improving the outcomes of pregnancy, parents' caregiving skills (and the

corresponding health and development of the child), and the early life course of the mothers.

In designing the program, we reviewed the literature to determine behavioral and

contextual conditions that were consistently and uniquely associated with the adverse maternal

and child outcomes that we wished to affect. We analyzed the literature to determine the extent

to which these risk factors were likely to be causally related to the outcomes of interest and

which were simply markers for maladaptive functioning. Those thought to be causally related to

the outcome of interest and that were potentially modifiable with social and behavioral

interventions became the primary candidates for targeted interventions to reduce the adverse

maternal and child outcomes identified for prevention. Theory played an important role in

helping us integrate the epidemiologic data into a coherent developmental framework regarding

the proximity of risk to adverse outcome, the developmental progression of maladaptive

functioning, and how clinical interventions might be applied to reduce risk. It is important to note

that the epidemiologic evidence indicated that some of the problems targeted for prevention early

in the program were also risks for later antisocial behavior. This is best illustrated by reference

to Figure 1.

A. Modifiable Risks for Low Birthweight, Preterm Delivery, and Fetal

Neurodevelopmental Impairment

Epidemiologic evidence on risks for low birthweight indicates that prenatal exposure to

tobacco, alcohol, and illegal drugs are established risks for compromised fetal growth' and, to a

lesser extent, shortened length of gestation.' Similarly, prenatal exposure to these substances

increases the likelihood of compromised neurodevelopmental impairment."'6'21 While the

7



129

evidence on these risks was not as coherent at the start of this series of trials 20 years ago as it is

today, we chose to promote a reduction in use of all of these substances as a precaution.

Evidence also indicated that other prenatal behaviors, such as inadequate weight 011,22

inadequate diet," inadequate use of office-based prenatal care," and unattended obstetric

complications, such as genitourinary tract infections and hypertensive disorders" increased the

risk for low birthweight, preterm delivery, and compromised neurologic development.

These observations guided the development of the content covered in the prenatal

program protocols.

B. Modifiable Risks for Child Abuse and Neglect and injuries to Children

We made an explicit inventory of risks for child abuse and neglect and organized them

according to their levels of immediate proximity to parental behavior. At a proximal level, risk

assessment focused on the mother's psychological immaturity and mental health problems that

affect parents' competencies in caring for their infants."." At a more distal level, risks focused

on those environmental conditions that create stressful conditions in the household that interfere

with parents' care of their children, such as unemploymen0 poor housing and household

conditions," marital discord," and isolation from supportive family members and friends." A

history of punitive, rejecting, abusive, or neglectful caregiving on the parent'sown part was

considered a risk factor, especially if it occurred in the presence of other rislcs.31

C. Modifiable Risks for Welfare Dependence and Compromised Maternal Life-Course

Development

One of the major risks for compromised maternal educational achievement and workforce

participation is rapid, successive pregnancies, particularly among unmarried women. Proximal

risks for rapid successive pregnancies include women's having limited visions for their futures in
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the areas of education and work,' as well as a limited sense of control over their life

circumstances and over contraceptive practices in particular.'""

D. Modifiable Risks for Early-Onset Antisocial Behavior

More recently, we have analyzed risks for early-onset antisocial behavice.''''' and

determined that the impact of the program on maternal and child health early in the life cycle

reduces risks for these problems. Children who exhibit early-onset antisocial behavior are more

likely to develop violent behavior during adolescence and are hypothesized to-become chronic

offenders.' Figure 1 provides a framework for integrating our thinking about how these diverse

influences converge in producing childhood-onset conduct disorder and how thisprogram of

prenatal and early childhood home visitation by nurses reduces its risks. Children who develop

early-onset disorder are more likely to have subtle neurodevelopmental deficits (such as

compromised intellectual or language functioning and attention deficit disorder) combined with

harsh, punitive, and rejecting parenting." Maternal life-course factors also predict the

development of antisocial behavior, in that children with these behaviors are more likely to come

from large families, with closely spaced children, where parents themselves are involved in

substance abuse and criminal behavior."

III. THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS

The program has been grounded in theories of human ecology,'" self-efficacy,' and

human attachment." The earliest formulations of the program gave greatest emphasis to human

ecology, but as the program has evolved, it has been grounded more explicitly in theories of self-

efficacy and attachment."

A. Human Ecology Theory

9
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Human ecology theory emphasizes the importance of social contexts as influences on

human development." Parents' care of their infants, from this perspective, is influenced by

characteristics of their families, social networks, neighborhoods, communities, and the

interrelations among these structures. This theory focuses the home visitors' attention on the

systematic evaluation and enhancement of the material and social environment of the family.

While this theory provides an elaborated conception of the environment, the original

formulation of the theory tended to treat the immediate settings in which children and families

find themselves as shaped by cultural and structural characteristics of the society, with little

consideration given to the role that adults (in particular, parents) can play in selecting and

shaping the settings in which they find themselves." Consequently, self-efficacy and attachment

theories were integrated into the model to provide a broader conception of the parentsetting

relationship.

B. Self-Efficacy Theory

Self-efficacy theory provides .a useful framework for understanding and promoting

women's health-related behavior during pregnancy, their care of their children, and their own

personal development. This theory distinguishes two cognitive influences on motivation:

efficacy expectations and outcome expectations.' Outcome expectations are individuals'

estimates that a given behavior will lead to a given outcome. Efficacy expectations are

individuals' beliefs that they cith successfully carry out the behavior required to produce the

outcome. Individuals' perceptions of self-efficacy can influence their choice of activities and

settings and can determine how much effort they put forth in the face of obstacles.

Self-efficacy theory influenced the design of the program by focusing the nurses'

attention on both the mothers' beliefs about the consequences of their behavior and on building
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their confidence for behavioral change. Much of the educational content of the program was

focused on helping women understand what is known (or thought about) the influence of

particular behaviors on the health and growth of the fetus, on women's own health, and on the

subsequent health and development of the child. This represented an effort to bring women's

outcome expectations into alignment with the best evidence available. Improvements in

individuals' behavior depends upon their confidence in their ability to change. Because

individuals gain confidence if they actually observe their accomplishments, the home visitors

emphasize methods of enhancing self-efficacy that rely on women actually carrying out parts of

the desired behavior. The visitors help parents establish realistic goals and small achievable

objectives that, once accomplished, will increase parents' reservoir of successful experiences,

and in turn will increase their confidence in taking on larger challenges.

While self-efficacy theory provides powerful insights into human motivation and

behavior, it is limited in several respects. First, it is primarily a cognitive-behavioral theory. It

attends to the emotional life of the mother and other family members only through the impact of

behavior on women's beliefs or expectations, which, in turn, affect emotions. It also attends to

environmental influences in only a cursory way. These shortcomings of self-efficacy theory

have been addressed in the program with attachment and human ecology theories.

C. Attachment Theory

Attachment theory posits that infants are biologically predisposed to seek proximity to

specific caregivers in times of stress, illness, or fatigue in order to promote survival.' This

organization of behavior directed toward the caregiver is called "attachment." Stated simply,

a growing body of evidence indicates that children's trust in the world and their later capacity for

empathy and responsiveness to their own children once they become parents can be traced to the
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degree to which their needs were responded to sensitively and competently as they were growing

up.42

Attachment theory has affected the design of the home-visitation programs in three

fundamental ways. The first has to do with its emphasis on the visitors' developing an empathic

relationship with the mother and other family members. The establishment ofa relationship

based on empathy and respect was expected to help women eventually trust others and to

promote more sensitive, empathic care of their children. The second has to do with an emphasis

in the program on helping mothers and other caregivers review their own childrearing histories

and make decisions about how they wish to care for their children in light of theway they were

cared for as children. And third, attachment theory has led to the explicit promotion of sensitive,

responsive, and engaged caregiving in the early years of the child's life.'"."

While attachment theory provides a rich set of insights into the origins of dysfunctional

caregiving and possible preventive interventions focused on parent-visitor and parent-child

relationships, it gives scant attention to the role of infants' constitutional differences as

independent influences on parental behavior, and it provides inadequate attention to issues of

parental motivation for change in caregiving. It also minimizes the importance of the current

social and material environment in which the family is functioningas influences on parents'

capacities to care for their children. For more systematic treatments of these issues, we turned to

self-efficacy and human ecology theories.

The nurses thus have been equipped with a set of theory-driven program protocols that

guide their efforts to help women improve their health-related behaviors, their care of their

children, their planning of subsequent pregnancies, the completion of their education, and

participation in the work force.

12
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IV. PROGRAM DESIGN

A. Frequency of Visitation

The frequency of home visits changes with the stages of pregnancy and can be adapted to

the mother's needs. Mothers typically are enrolled through the end of the second trimester of

pregnancy. Visits are scheduled once a week during the first month after enrollment, which

assists the new mother and the home visitor to establish a trusting relationship. Thereafter, visits

are scheduled every other week until the birth of the baby. Nurses again visit weekly for 6 weeks

after the baby is born, helping the new mother and newborn adjust. From the child's 2nd to 2Ist

postnatal month, visits are scheduled twice a week. From the 21st to 24th postnatal month, visits

are scheduled once a month. In Elmira and Memphis the nurses completed an average of 9

(range 0-16) and 7 (range 0-18) visits during pregnancy respectively; and 23 (range 0-59) and 26

(range 0-71) visits from birth to the child's second birthday. In calculating these rates of

completed visits, all cases assigned to the nurse-visited conditions were included in the

denominator, irrespective of the families' dropping from the program for any reason. Each visit

lasted approximately 75-90 minutes.

B. Nurses as Home Visitors

This program calls for nurses to be the home visitors. We have chosen nurses because of

their formal training in women's and children's health and because of their competence in

managing the complex clinical situations often presented by at-risk families. We have

hypothesized that nurses' abilities to address effectively mothers' and family members' concerns

about the complications of pregnancy, labor, and delivery, and the physical health of the infant

provide nurses with increased credibility and persuasive power in the eyes of family members.

Moreover, through their ability to teach mothers and other family members to identify emerging
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health problems and to use the health-care system to address those problems, they enhance their

clinical effect through the early detection and treatment of disorders. Each nurse carried a

caseload of 20-25 families and received regular clinical supervision.

C . Program Content

During the home visits, the nurses carry out three major activities. They promote

adaptive change in women's behavior thought to affect the outcomes of pregnancy, the health

and development of the child, and maternal life course; they help women build supportive

relationships with family members and friends; and they link women and their family members

with other health and human services. The nurses follow detailed visit-by-visit program

protocols. The content of the protocols is organized developmentally to reflect challenges that

women are likely to confront at different stages of pregnancy and during the first 2 years of the

child's life. Specific assessments are made of maternal, child, and family functioning, and

specific educational content and psychosocial interventions are prescribed, depending upon the

nature and degree of vulnerability revealed in the assessments.

V. OVERVIEW OF RESEARCH DESIGNS, METHODS AND FINDINGS

In each of the three studies of the program described above, women were randomized to

receive either home visitation services during pregnancy and the first two years of the children's

lives or comparison services. While the nature of the home-visitation services was essentially

the same in each of the trials, the comparison services were slightly different. The designs and

methods employed in each of the trials are outlined below.

A. Elmira Design and Methods

The first study was conducted in a small, semi-rural county of approximately 100,000

residents in the Appalachian region of New York State. The program was conducted through

14
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Comprehensive Interdisciplinary Developmental Services, Inc.

Pregnant women were actively recruited for the study through their sources of prenatal

care if, at intake, they had no previous live births, they were at less than 26 weeks of gestation,

and they had any one of the following characteristics that predispose to infant health and

developmental problems: (i) young age (<19 years); (ii) single parent status; and (iii) low

socioeconomic status. Any woman who asked to participate was enrolled, however, regardless

of her age, marital status, or income, if she had no previous live birth. This approach avoided

creating a program that was stigmatized as being exclusively for the poor and created sample

heterogeneity, enabling us to determine if the effects of the program were greater for families at

higher risk. Five hundred women were invited to participate and 400 enrolled, 85% of whom

were either low-income, unmarried, or <19 years of age at registration; none had a previous live

birth. Eighty-nine percent of the sample was Caucasian. There were no sociodemographic

differences between those who enrolled and those who declined, although participation was

higher among African-Americans. We stratified the sample on a number of demographic factors

and then randomly assigned participating women to one of four treatment groups.

Families in Treatment 1 (n=94) were provided sensory and developmental screening for

the child at 12 and 24 months of age. Based upon these screenings, the children were referred for

further clinical evaluation and treatment when needed. Families in Treatment 2 (n=90) were

provided the screening services offered those in Treatment 1 plus free transportation for prenatal

and well-child care through the child's 2nd birthday. There were no differences between

Treatments 1 and 2 in their use of prenatal and well-child care (both groups had a high rate of

completed appointments). Therefore, these two groups were combined to form a single

comparison group. Families in Treatment 3 (n=100) were provided the screening and

15



137

transportation services offered Treatment 2 but in addition were provided a nurse who visited

them at home during pregnancy. Families in Treatment 4 (n=116) were provided the same

services as those in Treatment 3, except that the nurse .continued to visit through the child's 2nd

birthday. For assessment of the prenatal phase of the program,-Treatments 1 and 2 were.

combined and compared to the combination of Treatments 3 and 4.

Assessments of outcomes were made by interviews, observations of mother-child

interaction, observations of conditions in the home, and reviews of medical and-social service

records by individuals who were not aware of the women's and children's treatment assignment.

Details of the research design and methods can be found in our earlier reports. 1112,35

B. Elmira Results

At the stage of randomization, the treatment conditions were essentially equivalent on all

background characteristics examined. Moreover, at the 15 -year follow-up, assessments were

completed on over 90% of the women and children originally randomized who did not die or

where there was no adoption. Low attrition and no treatment-control differences in background

characteristics on those assessed after enrollment means that the estimates of program effects

were not biased by loss of families. All analyses of program effects were based upon an

intention-to-treat approach, that is data were employed for outcome analyses irrespective of the

degree of program participation.

It is important to note that we hypothesized that the effects of the program would be

greater for families who experienced greater stress and had fewer resources to cope. We tested

this hypothesis by focusing the analysis on low-income unmarried women.

1. Caregiving and Child Development Results. With few exceptions, the beneficial

effects of the program on caregiving outcomes were not present for the sample overall. Nurse-
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visited at-risk women and their children, on the other hand, consistentlyexhibited lower rates of

adverse outcomes indicative of grossly deficient care of the child.

As noted in our earlier reports, nurse-visited children born to low-income, unmarried

teens had 80% fewer verified cases of child abuse and neglect during the first two years of the

child's life. Moreover nurse-visited children, irrespective of risk, were seen in the emergency

department 56% fewer times for injuries during the second year of the child's life. As indicated

in Figures 2 and 3, the effect of the program on child abuse and neglect and emergency-

department encounters was greater among children whose mothers had little sense ofcontrol

over their lives (measured at registration during pregnancy).

The impact of the program on health-care encounters for injuries endured during the two-

year period after the end of the program: irrespective of risk, children of nurse-visited women

were less likely to receive emergency room treatment (1.00 vs 1.53 visits, p<.001) and to visit a

physician (0.34 vs 0.57, p=.03) for injuries and ingestions than were their comparison-group

counterparts." The impact of the program on state-verified cases of child abuse and neglect, on

the other hand, was attenuated during the 2-year period following the end of theprogram.°

We hypothesized that this pattern of results was probably due to increased surveillance

for child abuse and neglect in the nurse-visited group, given that nurses were mandated to report

suspected maltreatment and that they linked families with needed community services -- where

their parenting needs were likely to be more completely assessed by other service providers.°

An examination of the living conditions and emergency-department encounters for the

"maltreated" children showed that nurse-visited "maltreated" children lived in homes that were

more conducive to children's development, as indicated by higher HOME scores; their homes

were substantially safer; and the children themselves had far fewer emergency-room encounters
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and physician visits in which injuries were detected. We have interpreted these differences as a

reflection of greater surveillance for child abuse and neglect, leading to more frequent

identification of less serious forms of maltreatment in the nurse-visited condition.'

This interpretation has been reinforced with results from a 15-year follow-up of the

Elmira sample" in that the program-control differences in rates of state-verified reports of child

abuse and neglect grew between the children' fourth and fifteenth birthdays. Overall, during the

15-year period after delivery of their first childl in contrast to women in the comparison group,

those visited by nurses during pregnancy and infancy were identified as perpetrators of child

abuse and neglect in 0.21 versus 0.46 verified reports (p < .001). This effect was greater for

women who were unmarried and from low-SES households at registration (p < .001)."

2. Prenatal Tobacco Exposure, PrenatalHome Visitation, and Development in the

First 4 Years of the Child's Life. While there were no overall program effectson children's

mental development, children born to women who smoked a moderate to heavy amount when'

they registered in the program during pregnancy and who received prenatal home visitation .had.

significantly higher IQ scores at 3 and 4 years of age than did their counterparts in the

comparison group."." As shown in Figure 4, control-group children born to women who

smoked 10 or more cigarettes per day during pregnancy had mental development scores that

declined over the first 4 years of the child's life, in contrast to their counterparts in the

comparison group whose mothers did not smoke during pregnancy.' In the nurse-visited

condition, children born to women who smoked 10 or more cigarettes at registration during

pregnancy had mental development scores in infancy, toddlerhood, and the preschool period that

were the same as those who did not smoke at all or who smoked only a few cigarettes per day."

These beneficial effects of prenatal home visitation held for the group visited only during
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pregnancy and were not explained by differences in measured aspects of the postnatal

environment.

In light of this, it is important to note that we reported earlier that control-group mothers

reported that their six-month old infants were more irritable than did those visited by nurses."

We have now conducted analyses that show that these effects were concentrated exclusively in

infants born to women who smoked during pregnancy and that the positive program effects held

for children whose mothers were visited only during pregnancy, as well as those visited in

pregnancy and infancy. These findings have led us to focus greater attention on the role that an

improvement in prenatal health can play in reducing subtle neurodevelopmental impairment in

children.

3. Maternal Life Course 15 Years after Delivery of First Child. During the 15-year

period after delivery of their first child, unmarried women from low socioeconomic (SES)

households showed a number of enduring benefits. In contrast to their counterparts in the

comparison condition, those visited by nurses during pregnancy and infancy had 1.1 versus 1.6

subsequent births (p = .02), 65 versus 37 months between the birth of their first and 2nd children

(p = .001), 60 versus 90 months on welfare (p = .005), 0.41 versus 0.73 behavioral problems due

to substance abuse (p =.03), and 0.18 versus 0.58 arrests by self-report (p < .001). New York

State records revealed that they had 0.16 versus 0.90 arrests (p < .001).35

4. Antisocial Behavior Among the Fifteen-Year-Old Adolescents. In contrast to

adolescents born to poor, unmarried women in the comparison group, those visited by nurses

during pregnancy and the first two years of the child's life reported fewer instances of running

away (0.60 vs. 0.24, p=.003), fewer arrests (0.45 vs. 0.20, p=.03), fewer convictions/violations of

probation (0.47 vs. 0.09, p<.001), fewer life-time sex partners (2.48 vs. 0.92, p=.003), fewer

19



141

cigarettes smoked per day (2.50 vs. 1.50, p=.10), and fewer days having consumed alcohol in the

last six months (2.49 vs. 1.09, p=.03). Parents of nurse-visited children reported that their

children had fewer behavioral problems related to use of drugs and alcohol (0.34 vs. 0.15,

p=.08). There were no program effects on other behavioral problems.

5. Cost Analysis. The Rand Corporation has recently conducted an economic evaluation of

the program that extends the estimate of cost savings beyond those reported in our earlier

reports' While there were no net savings to government or society for serving families in which

mothers were married and of higher social class, as indicated in Figure 5, the savings to

government and society for serving families in which the mother was low-income and unmarried

at registration exceeded the cost of the program by a factor of 4 over the life of the child. This

figure shows, moreover, that the return on the investment was realized well before the child's

fourth birthday. The primary cost savings were found in reduced welfare and criminal justice

expenditures, and increases in tax revenues.

6. Conclusion. In general, as expected, the beneficial effects of the program were greater

for families at greater risk as defined by women's being unmarried or from lower-SES

households. These findings were encouraging, but by themselves insufficient to form a

foundation for policy and practice. In order for scientific findings to serve as a guide in this

regard, they must first be replicated. The scientific credibility of such findings increases if they

can be reproduced with different populations living in different contexts and in different times.

C. Memphis Design and Methods

The Memphis trial was designed to determine if the effects of the Elmira program could

be replicated when it was conducted through an existing health department and when it served a

large sample of low-income African-American women, children, and their families living in a
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major urban area. We hypothesized that the effects of the program would be found in the same

outcome domains as we observed in Elmira and that the same background variables would

moderate the effect of the program. So, for example, we hypothesized explicitly that the effect of

the program on birthweight and length of gestation would be greater for women who smoked

cigarettes and were young teens (<16 years of age at registration). Even though the program

effect on hypertensive disorders of pregnancy in Elmira was not statistically significant, we

hypothesized that the program would reduce the rates of pregnancy-induced hypertension in

Memphis, given high rates of this problem in African-American pregnant women bearing first

children.

In planning this study, we conducted extensive pretest and pilot work in Memphis and

learned, among other things, that the rate of state-verified cases of child abuse and neglect among

low-income first-born children in Memphis was too low (3-4%) to serve as a viable outcome in

this setting. We therefore chose not to hypothesize program effects on rates of state-verified

cases of child abuse and neglect, but instead hypothesized that the program would produce

effects on children's health-care encounters for injuries that would be like those observed in

Elmira - i.e., greater for women with few psychological resources. In Memphis, we hypothesized

that the effects would be greater for women with more mental-health symptoms and limited

intellectual functioning in addition to limited sense of control, as observed in Elmira!' Finally,

given that the effects of the Elmira program were greater for women who were unmarried and

from low-income families, we focused recruitment in Memphis on this population.

The program was conducted through the Memphis/Shelby County Health Department.

From June 1990 through August 1991, 1290 women were invited to participate and 1,139

enrolled through the obstetrical clinic at the Regional Medical Center in Memphis. Women were
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recruited if they were less than 29 weeks of gestation, had no previous live births, no specific

chronic illnesses thought to contribute to fetal growth retardation or preterm delivery, and at

least two of the following sociodemographic risk conditions: (i) unmarried, (ii) less than 12

years of education, (iii) unemployed. There were no differences in the sociodemographic

characteristics of those who enrolled and those who declined, except that African Americans

were more likely to participate than were whites. At registration, 92% of the 1139 women

registered were African-American, 98% were unmarried, 65% were aged 18 or,younger, 85%

came from households with incomes at or below the federal poverty guidelines, and 9% smoked

cigarettes. The details of the research design and methods are described in greater detail in our

original report."

1. Treatment Conditions. After completion of informed consent and baseline

interviews, identifying information on the participants was entered into a computer program that

randomized women to one of four groups. Women in Treatment 1 (n = 166) were provided free

transportation for scheduled prenatal care appointments; they did not receive any postpartum

services or child development screenings. Women in Treatment 2 (n = 515) were provided the

free transportation plus developmental screening and referral services for the child at 6, 12, and

24 months of age. Women in Treatment 3 (n = 230) were provided the free transportation and

screening offered Treatment 2 plus intensive nurse home-visitation services during pregnancy,

one postpartum visit in the hospital before discharge, and one postpartum visit in the home.

Women in Treatment 4 (n = 228) were provided the same services as those in Treatment 3; in

addition, they continued to be visited by nurses through the child's 2nd birthday.

For the evaluation of the prenatal phase of the program, Treatments 1 and 2 were

combined to form a single comparison group, which was contrasted with combined Treatments 3
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and 4 (nurse-visitation during pregnancy). For the postnatal phase of the study, Treatment 2 was

contrasted with Treatment 4.

As in Elmira, outcome assessments were conducted by individuals whodid not know the

treatment assignment of the participating women and children. Data were derived from

interviews, observations of mother-infant interaction, observationsof conditions in the home,

and reviews of mothers' and children's medical and social-service records.

In interpreting the findings from this trial, it is important to note that it was conducted

during a nursing shortage, which led to fairly high rates of staff turn-over because nurses left

their jobs with the health department to earn more in competing hospitals. Given that these kinds

of factors are likely to buffet the program as it is administered in other community settings, the

Memphis findings may provide a good estimate of what the program might be able to achieve if

it were replicated on a large scale.

D. Memphis Results

At the stage of randomization, the nurse-visited and control groups were essentially

equivalent on all background characteristics examined: For those individuals on whom

subsequent assessments were conducted, these groups remained equivalent on background

characteristics. Moreover, postnatal assessments were conducted on a large portion of the

women originally assigned to Treatments 2 and 4. Office-based assessments were completedat

24 months postpartum, for example, on 96% of the cases for which there was no fetal or child

death. Low attrition and no nurse-visited-control differences in-background characteristics on

those assessed after enrollment means that the analyses of program effects-are not likely to have

been biased by loss of participating families. All analyses of program effects were based upon an

intention-to-treat approach, that is data were employed for outcome analyses irrespective of the
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degree of program participation.

1. Prenatal Findings. There were no treatment main effects on birthweight, low

birthweight, length of gestation, spontaneous preterm delivery, indicated preterm delivery, or

Apgar scores. Nevertheless, by the 36th week of pregnancy, nurse-visited women were more

likely to use other community services than were women in the control group (p = .01). They

also were more likely to be working (p = .06), an effect that was particularly strong among

women who were not in school when they were randomized (8% vs. 2%, p = .01). There were no

program effects on women's use of standard prenatal care or obstetrical emergency services after

registration in the study, but nurse-visited women who were in school at the time of registration

had twice as many pre-delivery hospitalizations as their counterparts in the comparison condition

(0.18 versus 0.09, p = .003). This difference was not explained by any coherent pattern of

diagnoses associated with those hospitalizations."

In contrast to women in the comparison group, nurse-visited women had fewer yeast

infections after randomization and fewer instances of Pregnancy-Induced Hypertension (PIH)

(p=.05 and p=.02, respectively). Women with PIH who received a nurse home visitor had mean

arterial blood pressures during labor that were 3.5 points lower (p=.05) than those in the

comparison group, an indication of less severe cases."

2. Dysfunctional Caregiving and Child Development. During their first 2 years,

nurse-visited children overall had fewer health-care encounters in which injuries and ingestions

were detected than did children in the comparison condition (p = .05), an effect that was

accounted for primarily by a reduction in outpatient encounters (p = .02). Nurse-visited children

also were hospitalized for fewer days with injuries and/or ingestions than were children in the

comparison condition (p < .001). The program effects on both total health-care encounters and
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number of days hospitalized with injuries and ingestions were greater for children bornto women

with few psychological resources (indicated by a combination of low intellectual functioning,

high levels of mental-health symptoms, and limited sense of mastery/self efficacy). Figures 6

and 7 illustrate the concentration of positive program effects in women with few psychological

resources. Note the similarity in pattern of results shown in these figures with the child-abuse-

and-neglect and emergency-department visits findings in the Elmira study displayed in Figures 2

and 3.

An explanation for the difference in number of days childrenwere hospitalized with

injuries can be found in the nature of their problems. Ascan be seen in Table 1, nurse-visited

children were hospitalized at older ages and for substantially less serious reasons. The three

nurse-visited children who were hospitalized with injuries and ingestions were admitted when

they were 12 months of age or older (and thus mobile), while six (43%) of the 14 comparison

children were hospitalized when they were younger than 6 months of age (and thus immobile).

Eight (57%) of the 14 comparison-group hospitalizations involved either fractures and/or head

trauma, while none of the nurse-visited hospitalizations did. Two of the three nurse-visited

children were hospitalized with ingestions. These profiles suggest that many of the comparison-

group children were hospitalized for longer durations because of seriously deficientcare. These

differences in injuries were corroborated by maternal reports of breast-feeding and beliefs about

caregiving, observations of the home environments, and the two-year olds' behavior towards

their mothers.

Nurse-visited mothers reported that they attempted breast-feeding more frequently than

did women in the comparison group (p = .006), although there were no differences in duration of
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breast-feeding. By the 24th month of the child's life, in contrast to their comparison-group

counterparts, nurse-visited women held fewer beliefs about child-rearing associated with child

abuse and neglect-lack of empathy, belief in physical punishment, unrealistic expectations for

infants (p = .003). Moreover, the homes of nurse-visited women were rated on the HOME scale

as more conducive to children's development (p = .003). There was no program effect on

observed maternal teaching behavior, but children born to nurse-visited mothers with low levels

of psychological resources were observed to be more communicative and responsive toward

their mothers than were their comparison-group counterparts (17.9 versus 17.2; p = .03). There

were no program effects on the children's use of well-child care, immunization status, mental

development, or reported behavioral problems.

3. Maternal Life Course. At the 24th month of the first child's life, nurse-visited

women reported 23% fewer second pregnancies and 32% fewer subsequent live births than did

women in the comparison group (p=.006 and .01, respectively). Nurse-visited women and their

first-born children relied upon welfare for slightly fewer months (.7) during the 2nd year of the

child's life than did comparison-group women and their children (p=.07). There were no

program effects on reported educational achievement or length of employment."

E. Comment on Elmira and Memphis Results

Many of the beneficial effects of the program found in the Elmira trial that were

concentrated in higher risk groups, have been reproduced in the Memphis replication. Overall,

these two trials indicate that the program has achieved two of its most important goals -- the

reduction in dysfunctional care of children and the improvement of maternal life course. Its

impact on the third goal -- the improvement of pregnancy outcomes (in particular, the reduction
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of preterm delivery and low birthweight) -- was equivocal.

In the Elmira trial, the program produced the anticipated reduction in cigarette smoking,

improvement in diet, and increases in women's use of needed social services and informal social

support. There was an increase in the birthweight of infants born to women who were very young

(i.e., less than 17 years of age at registration) and a reduction in the rates of preterm delivery

from 10% to 2% among women identified as smokers (those who smoked five or more

cigarettes per day at registration). It is important to note that 55% of the Caucasian women in the

Elmira trial smoked cigarettes during pregnancy.

The program impact on preterm delivery and the birthweight of babies born to young

adolescents and women identified as smokers in Elmira was not replicated in Memphis, although

the program did produce the anticipated effects on women's use of other human services and on

the rates of Pregnancy Induced Hypertension (PIH). The absence of corresponding effectson

the rates of preterm delivery among smokers in Memphis is probably a reflection of the very low

rates of cigarette smoking among African-Americans. Nine percent of the Memphis sample

overall smoked cigarettes, and only 7% of the African-Americans smoked. Reproductive-tract

infections (another major risk for preterm delivery), on the other hand, were much higheramong

African-Americans."

This lack of correspondence between the results of the two trials emphasizes the

importance of basing preventive interventions on sound epidemiologic evidence-- that is, a clear

understanding of the modifiable risks for the disorder that one wishes to prevent. In this case,

the pattern of risks was quite different for Caucasians in Central New York State than for

African-Americans in Memphis. While the program can reduce cigarette smoking, it is more of

a challenge to affect reproductive-tract infections, given that many infections begin prior to
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pregnancy, are relatively asymptomatic, and are not easily detected outside of office-based

medical settings after pregnancy has already progressed."

The impact of the program on the rates of dysfunctional caregiving among higher risk

families found in Elmira was substantially replicated in Memphis where the population served

was at much higher risk overall. Recall that the beneficial effects of the program in Elmira on

dysfunctional care during the child's first two years of life (reflected in rates of state-verified

cases of child abuse and neglect and on emergency-department encounters) were concentrated on

women who were unmarried and from low-SES households. In Memphis, (where 98% of the

sample was unmarried, all were from low-SES families) we found corresponding effects for

health-care encounters in which injures were detected, for observations of the home

environments, and for parents' reports of caregiving and childrearing beliefs. The beneficial

effects of the program on caregiving-related outcomes, while strong enough to emerge as

program "main effects," were concentrated among women with lower levels of psychological

resources at the time of registration. The effect of the program on health-care encounters in

which injuries were detected and on the number of days that children were hospitalized with

injuries, for example, was limited to children born to women with few psychological resources.

Moreover, in contrast to children in the comparison group, children of nurse-visited

mothers in Memphis who had few psychological resources were observed to be more responsive

and communicative toward their mothers. Infant-attachment research suggests that toddlers'

behavior toward their mothers reveals the extent to which their mothers are sensitive and

responsive rather than hostile, intrusive, or neglectful toward them, with toddlers' behavior being

a better indication of the quality of the parent-child relationship over time than currently

observed behaviors of parents.5" '
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The Elmira program produced important effects on a host of maternal life-course

outcomes from the birth of the first child to that child's 15th birthday. Among women who were

unmarried and from low-SES households at registration, those who were visited by nurses during

pregnancy and infancy had fewer subsequent children, fewer months on welfare, fewer

behavioral impairments from use of alcohol and drugs, fewer arrests and convictions, and fewer

days jailed during the 15-year period after birth of their first child.

In Memphis, the program reproduced the most important outcome with respect to

maternal life-course -- a reduction in the rate of subsequent pregnancy. This is important given

that future maternal life course effects depend heavily upon the prevention of subsequent

pregnancy and an increase in the interval of subsequent pregnancies. In the Elmira trial, the

beneficial effects of the program on life-course outcomes for teens were not reflected in

increased rates of employment, greater educational achievements, or in reduced welfare

dependence while the program was in operation (i.e., 2 years postpartum). It was reflected

instead in the reduced rate of subsequent pregnancy, which positioned the teen mothers to

eventually find work,' become economically self-sufficient, and eventually avoid substance

abuse and criminal behavior."

There is some indication in the Elmira trial that the program reduced the rates of

neurodevelopmental impairment associated with cigarette smoking during pregnancy.2.16." Given

the simultaneous impact of the program on the rates of dysfunctional care and compromised

maternal life-course (major risks for early-onset conduct disorder),"."."~" it is not all that

surprising that the 15-year-old children born to women who were unmarried and low SES

exhibited fewer arrests and convictions, and lower rates of cigarette smoking, alcohol use, and

promiscuous sexual activity.
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VI. PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION IN DENVER TRIAL

The Denver trial was designed to gain insight into the reasons that previous trials of

home-visitation programs that employed paraprofessionals either failed or produced very modest

effects.'" In the Denver trial, the paraprofessionals hired as home visitors were required to have

a high school education, but no advanced training in the helping professions. We set this

requirement because many programs employ paraprofessionals who come from the communities

they serve on the premise that shared backgrounds and experiences will increase the visitors'

ability to form effective relationships and promote adaptive functioning among the visited

families. To further enhance the test of this theory, all of the paraprofessional visitors in Denver

were required to be parents themselves. The nurses, on the other hand, all had bachelors degrees

in nursing and were not required to be parents, although many were. Both groups were provided

essentially the same training and program protocols, although, as one. would expect, the nurses

were provided more in-depth training regarding physical health and were expected to deal with

health issues more extensively."

Denver Design and Methods

From March, 1994 through June, 1995, 1178 consecutive low-income pregnant

women with no previous live births were invited to participate from 21 antepartum clinics in

the Denver metropolitan area. Low-income status was operationalized by the women's

having no private insurance or their qualifying for Medicaid. Medicaid status as the time

extended to women at or below 133% of the federal poverty guidelines.

Compared to women who either actively refused (n=244) or were invited but not

contacted before delivery (n=199), those who accepted (n=735)were more likely to be of

Mexican-American descent and were less likely to smoke cigarettes. These groups were
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equivalent on other major sociodemographic characteristics, such as maternal age, language

preference (English versus Spanish), and marital status. The rates of acceptance into the

research was lower than in Elmira and Memphis, prObably because of the large number of

prenatal clinics involved, which meant that many women were invited in writing but did not

have the study explained to them in a face-to-face interview, where their questions about the

study might be answered.

84% of those enrolled were unmarried, 45% Mexican American, 34% Anglo non-

Mexican American, 16% African-American, and 5% American Indian/Asian. 87% of the

women enrolled were unmarried. The average age at registration was 19.8 years. The

women were randomly assigned to treatment and control conditions using a computer

program that stratified women by sociodemographic characteristics prior to allocation.

Women in Treatment 1 (n = 255) were provided developmental screening and referral

services for the child at 6, 12 and 24 months of age. Those in Treatment 2 (n = 236) were

provided the free screening services offered Treatment 1 plus intensive nurse home-visitation

during pregnancy and the first two years of the child's life. Women in Treatment 3 (n = 244)

were provided the free screening services offered Treatments 1 and 2 plus intensive home-

visitation during pregnancy and the first two years of the child's life deliveredby well-trained

and supervised paraprofessionals.

Both groups of visitors were provided extensive pm-service and on-going training in

the program model and were provided updated visit-by-visit protocols previously tested in

Elmira and Memphis. They also were provided excellent clinical supervision; with the 10

nurses having a single full-time supervisor (a 1:10 supervisor to staff ratio) and the

paraprofessionals having two full-time licensed clinical social workers as supervisors (for a
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1:5 ratio).

Although outcome data on the mothers and children are not yet available, differences

between nurses and paraprofessionals in the nature and quantity of program implementation

have been reported. Data on program implementation were derived from encounter forms

that the nurses and paraprofessionals completed after every home visit, and from

administrative records. "

Differences between Nurses and Paraprofessionals in Program Implementation

Nurses and paraprofessionals completed essentially the same number of visits during

pregnancy (approximately 6.5 visits), but the nurses completed an average of 5 more visits

from birth to the child's second birthday (22 versus 17). This may be accounted for by a

higher rate of staff turn over among the paraprofessionals (17 paraprofessional visitors hired

over the life of the study), compared to no staff turn-over among the 10 nurses. The average

visit by the paraprofessionals was about 7 minutes longer (81 minutes compared to 74

minutes, p <. 001). The nurses spent a slightly larger portion of their time during the visits

addressing the mothers' and children's physical health (23% versus 20%, p<.001) while the

paraprofessionals spent more time on the mothers' life course development (18% versus,

16%, p<.001), their friend and family relationships (19% versus 15%, p<.001), and on the

health and safety of the environment (15% versus 8%, p<.001). We did not expect to find

that the nurses would spend more time on promoting parents' care of their children, but they

did (39% versus 28%, p<.001). "

We expect that these differences in program implementation will affect the visitors'

influence on maternal and child functioning, which will be the subject of additional reports in

the near future.
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VII. POLICY IMPLICATIONS AND PROGRAM REPLICATION

One of the clearest messages that has emerged from this program of research is that the

functional and economic benefits of the nurse-home-visitation program are greatest for families

at greater risk. In the Elmira study, it was evident that most married women and those from

higher socioeconomic households managed the care of their children without serious problems

and that they were able to avoid lives of welfare dependence, substance abuse and crime without

the assistance of the nurse home-visitors. Similarly, their children on average avoided

encounters with the criminal justice system, the use of cigarettes and alcohol and promiscuous

sexual activity. Low-income, unmarried women and their children in the comparison group, on

the other hand, were at substantial risk for these problems and the program of prenatal and

infancy home visitation was able to avert many of these untoward outcomes for this at-risk

population. This led to substantial cost-savings to government when the program was focused on

this higher risk group. Among families at lower risk, on the other hand, the financial investment

in the service was a loss. This suggests that this program will produce its greatest effects when it

is focused on those in greatest need. This pattern of results challenges the position that these

kinds of programs ought to be made available on a universal basis. Not only is the universal

approach likely to be wasteful from an economic standpoint, but it may lead to a dilution of

services for those families who need them the most, because of insufficient resources to serve

everyone well.

During the past five years, new studies have been reported that have led us to doubt the

effectiveness of home-visitation programs that do not adhere to the elements of the model studied

in these trials, including the hiring of nurses.' These results should give policy makers and

practitioners pause as they consider investments in home visitation programs without careful
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consideration of program structure, content, and methods. With the increased focuson brain

development in the first three years of life, " there is increased pressure to fund programs at this

stage in the life cycle. It would be a mistake to do so, however, without solid scientific evidence

that the particular model promoted is able to achieve its intended effects, given the failure of

most programs that have been carefully tested.

It is increasingly clear that the evidence from the Elmira and Memphis studies cannot be

generalized to programs that do not conform to the model tested in those trials. Even if the

results of the Denver trial show benefits for the paraprofessionals, the beneficial effects must be

understood in the context of the thoroughly developed program protocols and excellent clinical

supervision they were provided. The difficulties faced by other home visiting programs tested in

the past may be due to the particular program models tested or to the background of the visitors

employed (or both). The outcomes of the Denver trial and randomized trials of other model

programs (e.g., Parents as Teachers, Healthy Families America, Comprehensive Child

Development Program summarized in this issue) as well as the Early Head Start program

currently under investigation in the Head Start Bureau should provide additional guidance to

policy makers in the near future. Even when communities choose to develop programs based on

models with good scientific evidence, all too often the programs are watered down and

compromised in the process of being scaled up. We have recently begun work that addresses this

problem.

In 1995, we were invited by the US Department of Justice to develop the program studied

in Elmira and Memphis in several high-crime neighborhoods around the country. We accepted

the invitation because the results from the Memphis replication study and the Elmira follow-up

were promising. We intend to use the Justice Department initiative to learn more about what is
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required to develop the program in new communities with fidelity to its essential elements.

Under the Justice Department initiative we are establishing the program in six communities in

the country, including Los Angeles, Fresno, and Oakland California; Oklahoma City, Oklahoma;

St. Louis, Missouri; and Clearwater, Florida.

In this program-replication phase (which will soon expand to include 15-20 additional

sites beyond the Justice Department initiative), state and local governments are securing financial

support for the program out of existing sources of funds, such as TANF (Temporary Assistance

to Needy Families), Medicaid, Maternal and Child Health Block-Grant, child-abuse, and crime-

prevention dollars. They are making this investment in part because the evidence indicates that

the program will reduce future expenditures. This means that the cost of this program, which in

1998 dollars is about $7,000 per family for 21/2 years of service, can be shared by a variety of

government agencies. This, in turn, reduces the strain on any one agency's budget.

We wish to emphasize that we do not believe we can replicate this program on a large

scale in a short period of time without compromising its effectiveness. We believe that it makes

sense to develop a larger number of demonstration sites only after we have learned from our first

group of sites how to develop the program successfully in a variety of new contexts. In the next

phase of this work, we are building in provisions for learning about new implementation efforts

so that we can develop the program in an even larger number of sites as quickly as is possible

without losing program effectiveness.
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Figure 7. Estimated nurse-comparison differences in number of days children were
hospitalized with injuries/ingestions as a function of maternal psychological resources -
Memphis.
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Mr. TOWNS. Mr. Burki.
Mr. BURKE. Thank you, Mr. Towns. I am Peter Burki, chief exec-

utive officer of DCC, Inc., a leading global provider of critical work-
place services that increase productivity and efficiency and reduce
absenteeism, turnover and stress. I am pleased to have been in-
vited to appear before you today to discuss what we believe to be
one of the day's most important issues.

The subject of this hearing corresponds with DCC's ongoing ef-
forts to provide early childhood intervention services to working
parents, to raise awareness of the connection between these re-
sources and a child's cognitive, emotional and physical develop-
ment, and to demonstrate how children, parents and all organiza-
tions can profit from these services.

In the past several years, businesses have had to adjust to a rap-
idly changing social landscape which will continue to change as we
approach and prepare for the 21st century.

Mr. BuRIU. Consider the facts, and I know you have heard some
of these already, 78 percent of working parents live in dual-income
households, compared to 64 percent 20 years ago. In 1994, 10.3 mil-
lion preschoolers had mothers who worked. Almost 30 percent of
preschoolers and over 18 percent of children under the age of 1 are
in organized care. Today, one out of every five parents is single.
That's 20 percent. Since 1970, the number of single families has in-
creased by 133 percent, from 5.5 million to 12.8 million. Single
male families have grown by 213 percent, from 1.2 million to 3.8
million.

These trends highlight the critical issues that we in the public
and private sectors must address in order to promote a healthier,
better prepared and more productive work force for today and for
the future.

The daily challenges for employers and employees are becoming
all too familiar: A young mother needs to find affordable child care
and transportation so she can make the transition from welfare to
work. A single dad needs critical early intervention services to ad-
dress his daughter's developmental needs. A young family needs to
find the best child care options for their 6-month-old son. They
need information to help them understand and evaluate those
choices and how they impact on their child's future development.

To make matters more complicated, as we all know, employees
are working more hours, workloads are increasing, leaving depend-
ent care responsibilities hanging in the balance.

Companies like DCC address these issues by providing critical
tools to working parents that they need to balance work and family
and provide their children with a healthy start. These services offer
counseling' on issues like identifying high-quality child care; edu-
cation on topics such as prenatal care, child development and par-
enting; and referrals to community and nationwide resources that
can help with any work/life need. As a result, expectant parents ob-
tain proper prenatal care to ensure fewer complications at birth.
New mothers can breast-feed when they return to work so their in-
fants are healthier; and, in turn, health care costs are reduced.
Welfare recipients can successfully transition from welfare to work,
and parents can find quality care for their young children and re-
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ceive educational materials they need to understand their child's
developmental needs during the critical early years.

These types of services are a necessity, not a luxury for parents
today. Without said services, parents cannot effectively work.

Research continues to provide clear evidence that what happens
in the first few years of a child's life really does matter and has
an enormous effect on a child's ability to learn, relate to others and
function in the world for the rest of his or her life.

We have learned that young children are far from passive ves-
sels, that they actively interact with their environments and in fact
influence the behavior of those around them. We now know that
what young children see, hear, smell, touch, and do shapes not only
what they know but how they learn. For good or for ill, what hap-
pens to young children in the first years of life is critical to then
and ourfutures.

As Mr. Reiner mentioned earlier, the human brain achieves 90
percent of its total growth before the age of 3. The brain of a new-
born baby has about 100 billion nerve cells, more, actually, than an
adult. The difference is babies' nerve cells aren't wired up at that
time. It's kind of like a stereo or a computer without the wires
being hooked up. You won't get much out of it until you connect
the wires. In babies, the wiring is connected with experience, inter-
action, and nurturing.

Neural connections are formed when impulses trigger the release
of brain chemicals. Every time a baby's brain is stimulated by a
hug or a smile or a song or the taste of milk or the smell of flowers
or the feel of a toy, new connections are formed. With repeated ex-
perience, those connections are strengthened.

In fact, by the time a baby is 3 years old, the little brain has
formed more than 1,000 trillion connections among its nerve cells.
These connections allow the baby to learn, grow and develop cog-
nitively, socially, emotionally and physically. These connections
help determine what kind of person that baby will become. Without
appropriate stimulation, a baby's brain won't develop properly.
With optimal stimulation, it will develop better than it might have
otherwise.

In light of these discoveries, child care becomes more than a
holding place for children while their parents are at work. Child
care has an enormous impact on the future of our children's phys-
ical and emotional well-being and their social and intellectual po-
tential.

As these scientific findings have been made public, parents, edu-
cators, legislators and others who share a concern for the future
and well-being of our Nation's children have come to see that we
need to pay a lot more attention to what is happening to our chil-
dren. Since early experience is so critical to future development, we
must consider what kind of experiences we are giving our youngest
children. We must think more about who cares for them and how.
We must teach parents and other caregivers that what they do and
how they do it really matters. And, most importantly, we must help
our little ones get the very best care possible by educating their
parents, by helping the parents find quality care and by making it
easier for parents and caregivers to find the information and serv-
ices they need.
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Today, the concept of early childhood intervention, once reserved
for families at risk, has been extended to all children and parents
as a means of providing the best possible start. When you consider
all the learning and development that takes place during the first
3 years of lifecognitive and motor skills, language, learning, emo-
tional control, social interactionit's no wonder that we want more
than ever before to ensure that our children get the care they need
to flourish.

Toward this end, both private and public sectors are acting in
their own enlightened self-interest by providing their employees
with the types of services that DCC and other companies provide.
By helping parents find the resources they need to raise a healthy
child, organizations like Chesebrough Ponds, American Home Prod-
ucts, American Electric Power, the Coca-Cola Co., the Department
of Justice, the Centers for Disease Control, Hughes Electronics,
TRW, the Home Depot and other corporations and governmental
organizations have reaped measurable benefits. Workplace stress,
turnover and absenteeism has decreased. Recruitment, retention
and productivity have soared. These organizations have discovered
helping employees provide for their loved ones helps the bottom
line.

Private and public organizations must continue to work together
to ensure that working parents get the resources they need to en-
courage their children's growth during these critical years. Early
intervention that focuses on improving the lives of parents and
children will help today's work force be more productive and tomor-
row's work force better prepared for the challenges that lie ahead.

In closing, I would like to thank you, Mr. Chairman, and mem-
bers of this committee; and I would be pleased to answer any ques-
tions you may have.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Burki follows:]
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Mr. Chairman and Honorable Members of this Subcommittee:

I am Peter Burki, Chief Executive Officer of DCC Inc., a leading global provider of critical workplace

services that increase productivity and efficiency, and reduce absenteeism, turnover and stress. I am

pleased to have been invited to appear before you today to discuss what we believe to be one of the

day's most important issues. The subject of this hearing corresponds with DCC's ongoing efforts to:

1. Provide early childhood intervention services to working parents

2. Raise awareness of the connection between these resources and a child's cognitive, emotional, and

physical development; and

3. Demonstrate how children, parents and all organizations can profit from these services.

In the past several years, businesses have had to adjust to a rapidly changing social landscape, which

will continue to change as we approach and prepare for the 2lm century.

Consider the facts:

78% percent of worlcing parents live in dual income households, compared to 64% twenty years

ago.'

In 1994, 10.3 million preschoolers had mothers who worked. Almost 30% of preschoolers and

over 18% of children under one were in organized child care."

Today, one out of every five employed parents is single. Since 1970, the number of single female

families has increased by 133%, from 5.5 million to 12.8 million. Single male families grew by

213%, from I.2 million to 3.8 million.'"

These trends highlight critical issues that we in the public and private sectors must address in order to

promote a healthier, better-prepared, and more productive workforce... for today and the future.

The daily challenges for employees are becoming all too familiar:

A young mother needs to find affordable child care and transportation so she can make the

transition from welfare to work.

A single dad needs critical early intervention services to address his daughter's developmental

delays.

DCC® LlfeCare® Services
A Lifetime Of Smart Choicer^
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A young family needs to find the best child care options for their six-month-old son. They need

infiinnation to help them understand and evaluate those choices and how they impact their child's

future development.

To make matters more complicated, employee hours and workloads are increasing, leaving dependent

care responsibilities hanging in the balance.

Companies like DCC address these issues by providing the critical tools working parents need to

balance work and family and provide their children with a healthy start.

These services offer counseling on issues like identifying high-quality child care education on topics

such as prenatal care, child development, and parenting, and referrals to community and nationwide

resources that can help with any work/life need. As a result...

Expectant parents obtain proper prenatal care to ensure fewer complications at birth.

New mothers can continue breastfeeding when they return to work, so their infants are healthier

and in turn, health care costs are reduced.

Welfare recipients can successfully transition to work.

Parents can find quality care for their young children and receive the educational materials they

need to understand their child's developmental needs during the critical early years.

These types of services are a necessity, not a luxury, for parents today. Without such services, parents

cannot effectively work.

Research continues to provide clear evidence that what happens in the first few years of a child's life

does matter, and has an enormous effect on a child's ability to learn, relate to others, and function in

the world, for the rest of his or her life.

We have learned that young children are far from passive vessels, that they actively interact with their

environments and in fact influence the behavior of those around them. We now know that what young

children see, hear, smell, touch, and do shapes not only what they know, but how they learn. For good

or for ill, what happens to young children in the first years of life is critical to theirand ourfutures.

The human brain achieves 90% of its total growth before the age of three. The brain of a newborn

baby has about 100 billion nerve cellsmore, actually, than an adult! The difference is, babies' nerve

cells aren't wired up yet. They're kind of like a new stereo or computer system without its cablesyou

2
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won't get much out of it until you connect the wires. In babies, the wiring is connected with

experience, interaction, and nurturing:

Neural connections are formed when impulses trigger the release of brain chemicals. Every time a

baby's brain is stimulated, by a hug, or a smile, or a song, by the taste of milk, or the smell of

flowers, or the feel of a toy, new connections are formed. With repeated experience, those connections

are strengthened.

In fact, by the time a baby is three years old, that little brain will have formed about 1,000 trillion

connections among its nerve cells. These connections allow the baby to learn and grow, to develop

cognitively, socially, emotionally, and physically.

These connections help determine what kind of person that baby will become.

Without appropriate stimulation, a baby's brain won't develop properly. With optimal stimulation, it

will develop better than it, might have otherwise.

In light of these discoveries, child care becomes more than a holding place for children while their

parents are at work. Child care has an enormous impact on the future of our children's physical and

emotional well-being, and their social and intellectual potential.

As these scientific findings have been made public, parents, educators, and others who share a concern

for the future and well-being of our nation's children, have come to see that we need to pay a lot more

attention to what's happening to our children.

Since early experience is so critical to future development, we must consider what kind of experiences

we're giving our youngest children. We must think more about who cares for them and how. We must

teach parents and other caregivers that what they do and how they do it really matters. And most

importantly, we must help our little ones get the very best care possible, by educating their parents, by

helping those parents find quality care, and by making it easier for parents to find the information and

services they need.

Today, the concept of early childhood intervention, once reserved for families at risk, has been

extended to all children and parents as a means of providing the best possible start. When you consider

all the learning and development that takes place during the first three years of life: cognitive and
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motor skills, language learning, emotional control, social interactionit's no wonder that we want

more than ever before to ensure that our children get the care they need to flourish.

Toward this end, both the public and private sectors are acting in their own enlightened self-interest by

providing their employees with the types of services that DCC and other companies provide. By

helping parents find the resources they need to raise healthy children, organizations like Chesebrough

Ponds, American Home Products, American Electric Power, The Cocoa-Cola Company, The

Department of Justice, The Centers for Disease Control, Hughes Electronics, TRW, The Home Depot

and other corporations and government organizations, have reaped measurable benefits. Workplace

stress, turnover, and absenteeism have decreased. Recruitment, retention, and productivity have

soared. These organizations have discovered that helping employees provide for their loved ones, helps

the bottom line.

Private and public organizations, must continue to work together to ensure that working parents get the

resources they need to encourage their children's growth during these critical years. Early intervention

that focuses on improving the lives of parents and their children will help make today's workforce

more productive... and tomorrow's workforce better prepared for the challenges that lie ahead.

In close, I would like to thank you, Mr. Chairman and Honorable Members of this Subcommittee. I

would be pleased to answer any questions you may have.

.I .Families and Work Institute. The 1997 National Study of the Changing Workforce, 1997.
I.I.Census Bureau, Current Population Reports P70-62, November 1997.

Census Bureau, Current Population Reports P20-509, April 1998.
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Life Core. Services

Overview for

COMPANY

DCC/The Dependent Care Connection' Inc.

This LifeCareV Overview is to be treated by COMPANY in the same manner as it treats its own highly
confidential information. COMPANY shall not disclose the existence of any such information to any third
party without the prior written consent of DCC.
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Overview for COMPANY

Introduction and Industry Experience

Founded in 1984, DCC/The Dependent Care Connection Inc., has over thirteen years of
experience in providing work/life services to employees nationwide and around the world.
DCC offers counseling, education and referral services that can accommodate the diverse needs
of any employee population. DCC not only serves employees with dependent care needs, but
can also provide assistance to employees without any caregiving responsibilities who may need
help locating a support group or balancing their work and personal lives.

DCC has created an organization of exceptional quality and strength, offering its clients
innovation, expertise, personalization, choice and value. Historically, DCC has been a leader
in proactively responding to emerging work/life issues. Proof of this lies in our:

Unique team of experienced and caring professionals, available to clients 24 hours a day,
365 days per year
Pioneering of online, real-time work/life solutions with Life Care Net 3.0
National dependent care database of over 2.5 million providersAmerica's largest
Development of a "single-source" case management approach
Exceptional capital allocation for research, development and technology

DCC's Life Care services benefit both employers and employees by:
Reducing stress
Decreasing work absenteeism and interruptions
Minimizing employee turnover
Creating a more efficient and effective workforce
Boosting employee morale
Cultivating recruitment
Increasing productivity

The major components of the DCC Life Care counseling and referral service are:
Child care counseling, education and referral services
Adult care counseling, education and referral services
Specialty counseling, education and referral services
Customized management reporting and ROI analyses
Quality assuranceguaranteed customer service and satisfaction
Promotional and account management services
EAP and work/life benefits integration

LifeCaren Net'" 2.0 was launched in fall 1997the industry's first online, real-time work/life
tool, connecting its users with providers and services in any community. both nationally and
internationally. Life Care Net offers virtually the same overall benefits to employees and
employers as our traditional telephone service.

DCC has never lost a corporate client to a competing dependent care counseling and referral
service due to poor performance. We back our ability to deliver the highest quality service by
offering an unprecedented quality assurance guarantee. DCC currently provides Life Care
services to over 300 employers in both the public and private sectors, covering more than two
million lives.

DcThe Deoenctent Core Connection.
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Overview for COMPANY

DCC Single Source Model

DCC pioneered the single source, complete case management model which assesses and
handles each calling employee's specific needs and concerns in an individualized and
compassionate manner. The DCC single source approachno subcontractors are used
eliminates the frustrations and inconsistencies of the calling employee having to rely on several
different counseling and referral groups to complete his or her case. DCC's centralized model
delivers a more consistent, streamlined and reliable service in a faster turnaround time.

With DCC, calling employees work with only one counselor throughout the entire case process,
including all case-specific research. A single toll-free call to DCC connects the COMPANY
employee to a counselortrained and employed by DCCwho immediately conducts a
comprehensive needs assessment for the employee's specific case and offers the appropriate
counseling. As the case progresses, the employee works exclusively with his/her designated
counselor to ensure quality, consistency and familiarity.

DCC's single source approach provides'the following advantages:

Complete case management

Continuity and consistency
Total quality assurance

Customized, comprehensive management reporting
Cost effectiveness and value
Innovative technology

DCC's highly experienced, trained and compassionate staff

Counselor Qualtflcalions

All DCC counselors have a minimum of a bachelor's degree with many having or pursuing
their master's degrees. All DCC counselors have educational and professional expertise in the
areas they provide counseling. DCC counselors have backgrounds in:

School-age programs Nursing
Special education Rehabilitative therapy
Higher education Social work
Early childhood education Human services
Elementary education Counseling -

Child care Adult care
Adoption Gerontology

DCC has an extensive and comprehensive training program for all new counselors. The
training program covers all aspects of the DCC program and lasts approximately six to ten
weeks. DCC also maintains a continuing education fund to expand and enhance our counselors'
educational and professional experience. In addition, all counselors and other personnel are
required to participate in ongoing in-service training and awareness programs.

DC CeDependent Core Connection.
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OvenrIew for COMPANY

Case Management Process

All of DCC's counselors and LifeCare services are available to client employees 24 hours a
day, 365 days a year. through one toll-free number. DCC also has a second toll-free number
for the hearing impaired. With DCC's extensive single-source, in-house database, counselors
can access service providers specific to a client's needs at anytime.

COMPANY employees go through these steps with DCC counselors during the case process:
Day Step Desctipdon of Activity
Day 1 Step 1 Toll-free telephone call or contact via LifeCare® Nett"'

Step 2 LifeCare needs assessment
Step 3 LifeCare education and counseling

Days 2-5 Step 4 Referral research
Step 5 Referrals are phoned. faxed or e-mailed to employee
Step 6 Referrals, educational materials and quality assurance

questionnaire are mailed to employee
Days 6-24 Step 7 DCC counselor follow-up (employee designates timetable)
Days 31+ Step 8 Compilation of case information for COMPANY

management reporting

Each step outlined In the above chart Is explained below.

Step One:

A COMPANY employee makes a toll-free call to a DCC triage counselor. Based on the calling
employee's needs, he or she is immediately forwarded to a DCC LifeCare counselor who will
work with the employee throughout the entire case process (this includes performing case-
specific research). COMPANY employees may also e-mail their caregiving requests from the
Internet or LifeCare Net.

Step Two:

The LifeCare counselor then conducts an intake and needs assessment with the calling
employee, which lasts an average of 25 to 30 minutes. During this time, the DCC counselor
assesses the employee's LifeCare needs. A dialog of questions and answers, informative
descriptions and definitions helps the employee to determine the most appropriate care type.

Step Three:

At this point, the DCC counselor advises the employee on dependent care selection and
evaluation. The counselor is available to answer questions and address all concerns.

Step Four:

The DCC counselor uses our comprehensive database of over 2.5 million providers to identify
appropriate dependent care in the employee's geographic area. The counselor calls each
licensed provider to find a match for the employee's needs. When the counselor has found the
most appropriate care providers for the case. he or she generates referrals which detail the
program and all case-specific information.

DCCeDependent Care Connector.
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Overview for COMPANY

A note on referrals

DCC only refers providers who comply with their states' respective licensing and registration
requirements. All DCC referrals are accurate and up-to-date, and our counselors pre-screen
and pre-qualify each and every one by phone for every client. At a client's request, DCC will
also provide referrals to Internet Web sites that would be helpful to his or her care needs. DCC
monitors all referred sites for quality and appropriateness of information.

Step Five:

After pre-screening and pre-qualifying local providers, the DCC counselor calls the employee
with the information on those providers who meet the employee's specific Life Care needs.
Counselors will also fax referrals and send additional information directly from the provider at
the employee's request.

Step Six:

The same day that we relay the referrals by phone, we also send hard copies of our referrals
via First Class mail. Each referral packet consists of:

A personal letter from the DCC counselor describing the enclosures
At least six referrals whenever possible
Printed educational materials relating to the type of care requested
A quality assurance questionnaire which asks the employee to rate DCC's services

The COMPANY employee will receive a customized information and referral package within
three to five business days after his/her initial call to DCC. In emergency situations, an
employee can receive his/her packet on the next business day.

Step Seven:

The DCC counselor follows-up with the employee at a pre-arranged date and time to check on
his/her progress and to offer any additional assistance. COMPANY employees are encouraged
to call DCC counselors as often as needed throughout the entire case process. (The average
number of interactions between a DCC counselor and calling employee is six.)

Step Eight:

COMPANY management will receive quarterly utilization reports that track the program usage
for the reporting period. These reports include a tabulation of all quality assurance
questionnaires returned by COMPANY employees during the reporting period and copies of
the actual questionnaires coded to ensure confidentiality.

e:enaentCare connection.
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Life Care Services

DCC's comprehensive and extensive Life Care services are designed to educate employees and
their families on any number of dependent care and work/life issues, as well as locate the
resources and providers to meet their specific needs. DCC strives to create an interactive
relationship with employee clients when they access our Life Care services throughout their
lives.

DCC's Life Care services include:

Prenatal

Adoption

Child Care

Parenting

Summer Care

Share Care'

Special Needs

At-Risk/High-Risk Adolescents

Academic Services

Emergency/Temporary Care

Each of these services are described in detail on the following pages.

Grandparents As Parents

Adult Care

Disaster Relief

Financial Services

Legal Services

Health and Wellness

Personal Services

Balancing Work/Life

Pet Care

Convenience Services

Prenatal

To help expectant mothers receive the proper care and nutrition for themselves and their
unborn child, DCC counselors can provide information and referrals on:

Birthing method alternatives
Parent education classes
Nutrition, exercise and diet

Child care options
Support groups
Child care pre-planning

Prenatal Kit

A recipient of Human Resource Erecutive magazine's 1995 Product of the Year award, DCC's
unique, enhanced prenatal program educates expectant parents on proper prenatal and child care.
DCC's combined educational information and products are designed to help reduce the number of
premature births and other complications during pregnancy, motivate expectant parents to
proactively and responsibly manage prenatal and postnatal care and minimize employers' health
care costs.

DCet:menden? Ccre connection.
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The Life Care prenatal kit contains the following:

Educational Resources

"What to Expect..." book series by Workman Publishing
What to Expect when You're Expecting

What to Expect the First Year
What to Expect the Toddler Years

"What to Expect..." Pregnancy Organizer
Lamaze Parent Magazine
DCC Life Care Digests

Birthing Method Options
Breast-Feeding and Formula Feeding
Child Care Options

Nursery Safety information
Fire Safety information
SIDS educational materials
CPR/choking poster

Products

Diaper bag
Bib screened w/DCC icon and logo
One-piece undergarment screened w/DCC icon and logo
Magnet with newborn's immunization schedule

Adoption

DCC's specially-trained adoption counselors offer prospective parents counseling, education and
support and can walk them through the legal, financial and customary guidelines of domestic.
international, public and private adoptions. DCC counselors furnish clients with educational
materials which cover a variety of adoption topics and up-to-the-minute issues. DCC directly links
clients to the appropriate resources and referrals, such as:

Adoption medical issues
State adoption specialists
Adoption agency overviews
Adoption support groups

National adoption organizations

Public adoption
Private adoption
International adoption
Post-adoption information
Issues in adoption

DCThe De:enctenr Care Connection.
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Child Care

DCC offers an extensive program to help working parents find care for their children. DCC child
care counselors explain the range of options available to parents and can locate the following
programs:

Child care centers Preschools/nursery schools
Family child care Before and after-school programs
In-home care Summer programs

Baby-sitting agencies and options Emergency/temporary care
Nanny agencies and options Special needs programs
Au Pair agencies and options

Parenting

DCC can provide clients with resources that address a wide range of parenting issues.
including:

Child development Child safety
Parenting education classes Discipline
Sibling rivalry Raising adolescents
Separation anxiety Parental guilt and jealously

Summer Care

Summertime can pose a difficult problem for working parents whose care arrangements only
apply during the school year. DCC counselors can help parents find the following types of
programs:

Sleep-away options Academic
Daytime options Computer literacy
Traditional programs Travel, outdoor and nature
Specialized programs Fine arts
Sports

ShareCarea

Flexible scheduling and telecommuting area part of today's workplace. However, finding part-
time care can be a challenge. ShareCare matches parents who live near each other and have
similar child care needs. By sharing a provider. many care options become affordable and feasible
for parents. ShareCare offers solutions for parents who need:

In-home care
Baby-sitters
Child care centers

Emergency/temporary care
Family child care providers
Before and after-school care

DCTheepencleer Care Connection.
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Special Needs
DCC counselors can provide a full-range of assistance for children with physical, cognitive and
emotional impairments or conditions, as well as for those who have exceptional abilities.
Counselors can also provide information and referrals on services for other family members.
Special needs services can pertain to and include:

Allergies Learning disabilities

Asthma Dyslexia

Cerebral Palsy Speech/language impairments

Diabetes English as a Second Language (ESL)

Seizure disorders Assistive devices

Traumatic brain injury Mentally ill

Blind/visual impairments Social/emotional disturbances

Physical/orthopedic impairments Behavioral difficulties

Medically fragile/high-risk infants Physician/specialist referral lines

Injuries Parenting education classes

Common childhood illnesses Support and advocacy

Terminally/chronically ill Laws and legislation

Genetic disorders Funding and financial guidance

Down Syndrome Child, respite and hospice care

Obesity Early intervention services

Multi-handicapped Day treatment centers

Developmental delays Therapeutic programs

Deaf/hearing impairments Recreational, residential and educational
programs

Autism

Attention Deficit Disorder
Gifted and talented programs

(ADD/ADHD) Testing/assessment information

Mentally challenged

DCThe'Dependent Care Connevion
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At-Risk/High-Risk Adolescents

Raising adolescents today can be challenging and overwhelming. Due to many factors.
including peer pressure, low self-esteem, underachievement, runaway tendencies, violence and
behavioral issues, depression and suicidal tendencies, substance abuse and gangs, many
adolescents and their families need help. DCC counselorscan provide guidance and locate the
following supportive options to improve their well-being and the quality of their lives:

Transitional living programs Peer counseling
Peer/group support groups Group counseling
Family support groups Family counseling
Residential placements Recreational day programs
Day and residential treatment facilities Parenting classes
Positive after-school alternatives Positive social clubs/activities
Community volunteer programs Summer opportunities
Mentoring programs Awareness programs
Alternative schools Clinical services
Boarding schools Out-patient services
Independent schools In-patient services
Military schools Social services
EAP referrals

Academic Services

DCC can provide COMPANY employees with information and referrals on all types of schools
and learning programs for children and adults:

Primary and Secondary Programs

Whether clients are relocating to a new community
for their school-aged children, DCC counselors can
programs from kindergarten to high school:

Kindergarten programs
Before- and after-school programs
Enrichment programs
Tutoring programs
Day and residential programs
Public schools
Parochial schools
Independent schools

or looking for new educational opportunities
provide information on a variety of academic

Montessori schools
Magnet schools
Alternative schools
Vocational schools
Technical schools
Military schools
School district profiles

DICC Dependent Core Connection.
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Colleges and Universities

Finding the right college can be a time-consuming process. DCC college counselors can help both
traditional and nontraditional students find the programs and financing that meet their needs. DCC
provides clients with information on:

Two-year and four-year undergraduate Continuing education programs
programs Athletic programs
Graduate programs Academic planning strategies
Vocational programs Admissions testing and procedures
Specific degree programs Testing preparation courses
Programs for transfer students Financial aid options and strategies
Programs for nontraditional students Scholarships
Distance learning/correspondence
courses

Emergency!temporary CareChild and Adult Options
When a dependent becomes ill or a caregiver is suddenly unavailable, many employees must stay
home to care for their loved ones. DCC can alleviate these kinds of work absences by helping
clients pre-plan for an emergency or by accommodating a last-minute situation. DCC services
include:

Home health care agencies
Community resources
Nanny and baby-sitting agencies

Discharge planning
Sick and drop-in care providers

Access Backup Care (ABC)" Program

The ABC program is for employers who choose to subsidize backup care for their employees.
Backup care subsidies keep employees from having to use sick/vacation days to stay home to
care for loved ones, or from missing work because the cost of care exceeds their compensation.

E:)C The Dependent Care Connection.
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DCC's ABC program seamlessly administers an employer's subsidy program and provides
valuable education and counseling to employees. DCC's ABC packet contains everything an
employee will need:

An introductory letter explaining the program
Backup Care Registration Form
Backup Care Reimbursement Form
Information on how to contact a DCC counselor
Emergency Contact InformationA worksheet for documenting critical information for
backup caregivers.
Medical Release FormA form employees can use to give backup caregivers permission to
administer, arrange and/or call for emergency care in their absence.
A Life Carel' Guide To Backup Child Care Options
A Life Care Guide To Child Care Options
A Life Care* Guide To Visiting and Interviewing Potential Providers
A Life Care' Digest On Helping Children Adjust To New Caregivers
A Life Care Digest On Backup Care Options For Adult Loved Ones

Using the ABC program is easy. Employees simply follow four easy steps:

1. Call a DCC counselor at 800-873-4636 to request an ABC kit and have a counselor assess
their situation and refer qualified backup care providers who meet their specific needs.
Complete the Backup Care Registration Form (found in their ABC kit) and send it to DCC to
pre-qualify for the ABC subsidy from their employer.

2. Evaluate potential providers by using their ABC kit as a guide. (The ABC Kit contains
valuable information on types of providersas well as interviewing techniques to help them
properly evaluate candidates.)

3. Select providers and post their names and telephone numbers in a convenient location so
they can access them when the need for backup care arises.

4. When backup care is used, employees simply complete their Backup Reimbursement Form
(including provider's signature) and return it to DCC for reimbursement according to the
specifics of their employer's program.

DCC account managers can help COMPANY customize the ABC program according to the
dollar amount, hours and/or days COMPANY subsidizes for backup care.

C 11CThe Depen dent Care Connection.
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Grandparents As Parents

DCC's Grandparents As Parents program provides grandparents with the information and
resources to help them take on the challenges of parenting a second time around. The program
provides education and referrals on:

Establishing or finding support groups Legislation
Child care Legal issues
School issues Court-appointed special advocates
The child welfare system Financial assistance/Medicaid
The Department of Social Services Health and nutrition

Adult Care

Today it is not uncommon for working people to care for their parents or elderly loved ones.

DCC can assist with:

Nursing homes Residential care
Assisted living facilities Adult day care
Continuing care retirement communities Transportation services
Home health care Home-delivered meal programs
Long distance caregiving Medicare and Medicaid
Emergency care Long-term care insurance
Respite care Supplemental insurance
Hospice Financial issues
Discharge planning Legal issues
Adult care assessments Volunteer programs
Independent housing Support groups
Senior centers

DcCeDependent Care Comedian.
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Adult Care Kit

As a valuable supplement to DCC's adult care counseling, education and referral services,
DCC can provide COMPANY employees with an adult care kit. This kit of educational
materials and products, with instruction sheet, is tailored to benefit both the caregiver and care
recipient by including:

Educational Resources

How To Care for Aging. Parents book by Workman Publishing

DCC Eldercare Education. Series
DCC's LtfeCare Digest On Home Safety
Health Insurance for People with Medicare

Social Security Information
Disaster Preparedness

Emergency Preparedness Checklist

Using Your Medicines Wisely

Products

Daily record keeper
Wipe-off emergency board
Bookmark magnifier
Flashlight
Sensor night light
Pill organizer
Jar/bottle gripper

DCCeDependent Core Conrection.
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Disaster Relief

When natural disasters occur (earthquakes, tornadoes, fires, floods, etc.), DCC counselorscan
help employees put their lives back together by locating the following assistance:

Temporary care Counseling services
Safety inspectors Alternate housing
Emergency shelters Support groups
Home visits Outreach programs
Food and clothing assistance FEMA assistance
Home-delivered meals Hotline numbers

Financial SeMces

DCC can provide employees with extensive personal and financial planning services that are
tailored to their income levels, needs and goals. Trained specialists gear educational materials,
referrals and seminars to the options and strategies that employees wish to pursue. While
choosing a personal and financial plan is ultimately the employee's responsibility, DCC's
financial planning services can help with the following:

Financial planners Buying vs. leasing a car
Budgeting Saving and investing
Investing Estate planning
College savings Mortgage and home
Debt consolidation Retirement planning
Credit issues Tax services
Insurance Financial institutions

DCC can additionally offer employees a wealth of financial information and services online via
its private Web site. DCC's LifeCare Net houses financial educational digests and
accompanying calculators on college savings, estate planning. insurance. home mortgages.
retirement planning. savings and investing, and taxes.

DC CeDependent Care Conneeion,
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Legal Services

For clients in need of legal advice or services. DCC can provide local referrals to specialized
attorneys. DCC offers COMPANY employees a nationwide network of attorneys who average

15 years of experience. Attorneys provide expertise and assistance in any number of areas,
including:

Accident and health insurance law Elder law

Automobile accident law Immigration and naturalization

Bankruptcy /debtor - creditor relations International law

Business law Investment fraud

Civil rights and discrimination Landlord and tenant law

Collection law Litigation

Commercial law Malpractice

Condominium law Mortgage law

Consumer claims and protection Negligence law

Corporate law Personal injury law

Criminal law Products liability law

Disability law Real estate law

Divorce and family law Taxation law

Education law Wills, estate planning and probate

Clients are entitled to free telephone advice and/or office consultations by a local attorney on
any personal legal matter that does not pertain to employment or business-related issues. In
addition, they can receive written fee agreements for services beyond the initial consultations.

Discount Health Club Memberships

DCC has teamed up with a network of 3.000 fitness clubs in all 50 states and over 60
countries, to offer special membership rates and many other fitness benefits to DCC clients.
DCC counselors can provide detailed referral information on fitness clubs that meet any client's
personal. location and budgetary requirements. Affiliated clubs meet the highest industry
standards in the areas of health, safety and ethics as set by the American College of Sports
Medicine. The network has a portable benefit. giving members reciprocity at clubs when
traveling.

Personal Services

Even employees without caregiving responsibilities need help managing their work and personal
lives. DCC has not forgotten these clients and provides them with education and resources on a
variety of personal issues, including:

DCCe Deoltnoent Coe Connector.
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Health and Wellness

Physical and mental well-being plays an integral role in successfully balancing work, family
and personal obligations. DCC can provide education and information on:

Physician referrals Complementary therapy
Dentist referrals Diet and nutrition
Health clubs Fitness
Holistic services Health food stores

Balancing Work/Life
Stress management Career development
Overtime and business travel Planning a leave and return
Time management Relocation
Organizational strategies Shift/schedule changes
Easing commuting stress

Pet Care
Veterinarians Pet supplies
Insurance Breeders
Pet sitting resources Membership associations
Obedience training Pet bereavement services
Boarding and grooming Animal welfare

Convenience Services
Indoor/outdoor home services Entertainment services
Chore services Restaurants/food services
Transportation/travel services Security specialists
Automobile services Emergency services
Moving/relocation services

LifeCare Educational Resources

DCC believes educated consumers make better personal choices and caregiving decisions for
themselves and their families. DCC provides a wide range of educational materials which
employees will find useful in evaluating their work/life options, making Life Care decisions and
monitoring their caregiver's performance. Online, COMPANY employees can peruse Life Care
Net's library of over 700 educational resources: hard copies are also available and may be

The Dependent Care Connection.
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Welfare To Work Initiatives
DCC's Life Care services play a significant role in the welfare w work effort by helping people
on public assistance obtain jobs in the private sector. According to welfare to work organizers,
"Lack of child care and transportation are two of the challenges making it tough for recipients

to stay in the job market." Recognizing these needs, DCC responds to those specific obstacles
and helps employees balance work and personal responsibilities through our combination of
Welfare to Work and Life Care services.

DCC can work in conjunction with employers, government agencies and job training
specialistsor with an employee directlyto help locate convenient and affordable
transportation services and child care providers in an employee's area. DCC's advanced
technology, customized mapping software and database of over 2.5 million providers, enable
counselors to provide a customized map detailing convenient transportation routes between an
employee's home and office. Counselors can also refer an employee to prescreened child care
providers on or near the employee's transportation route, complete with door-to-door
directions.

A DCC counselor responds to the specific needs of an employee by referring only those
providers who meet the employee's budgetary. location, care, and other personal requirements.
Whenever possible. counselors provide information on subsidized or other programs offering
discounts, sliding fees, sibling packages and various forms of financial assistance. DCC also
offers educational materials on child care options as well as licensing and regulation
requirements in the state the employee lives. After sending referrals, maps, directions and
educational materials, the counselor can follow up by phone call to address any questions and
concerns, and to encourage the employee to call as often as needed.

DCC's Welfare to Work initiatives are just another way DCC can help employees balance
work/life responsibilitiesand increase overall productivity at your company.

Quality Assurance Program
DCC has an unprecedented and comprehensive quality assurance program which consists of the

following five components:

I. Counseling Follow-up and Feedback

DCC counselors call COMPANY employees on a continuing basis throughout the counseling and

referral process to check and monitor their progress. If further assistance with educational
information or additional referrals are required. the DCC counselor responds immediately.

II. Evaluating Counselor Performance

DCC counselors are evaluated both internally by DCC management and externally by clients.
Quality assurance questionnaires are sent to all clients with their case information and referrals.

The questionnaire asks clients to rate the overall DCC service, their counselor and the DCC-
referred providers, and to provide additional comments. Internal counselor evaluations consist of

an annual performance appraisal in which performance and salary increase go hand in hand.

reDc The Dependent Care Conreclcn.
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On a weekly basis, counselors' cases are evaluated by department managers to ensure that the
needs of the clients are being met. The research process. quality and number of referrals, personal
notes and internal procedures are monitored for compliance.

On a monthly basis, counselors undergo evaluations where their intake and needs assessments
with clients are monitored. Intakes must combine professionalism and attention to detail along
with strong empathetic skills. Managers also evaluate counselors qualifying providers to judge
their ability to professionally screen providers to meet clients' specific needs.

On a quarterly basis, professionals from various fields perform in-servicing for our counselors to
keep them current with the trends and knowledgeable in their discipline. Recent examples include
prenatal and Medicare seminars, handling grief and loss and adult care legal issues.

III. Provider Reviews

DCC will only refer COMPANY employees to providers who comply with their respective state
regulations. If a complaint is lodged against a provider, our counseling staff will refer the
COMPANY employee to the appropriate governmental authority. DCC will also personally
investigate the complaint. DCC, at its discretion, reserves the right to suspend or terminate
providers from our database. If we receive a complaint. DCC will suspend referrals to the
provider until a thorough investigation by the appropriate governmental authority and a
satisfactory resolution of the complaint warrants reinstatement to referral status. DCC does not
monitor providers as a licensing or registering authority.

IV. Client Review

Your DCC account manager will meet with you semi-annually or quarterly to review
COMPANY utilization and the results of the quality assurance questionnaires. Any issues or
concerns that have been raised by your staff and employees will be reviewed during this
meeting and plans for future quality reviews will be established. DCC utilizes the feedback from
our quality assurance program in the following ways:

To continually monitor and improve DCC's counseling, education and referral services
To measure. review, and evaluate the effectiveness of DCC counselors

To measure client employees' overall satisfaction with DCC services

To measure and monitor the overall quality of the DCC-referred service providers

DCC's quality assurance department reviews every returned client quality assurance
questionnaire. In the event of a problem or grievance, although rare, the quality assurance
department instantly addresses the situation with the appropriate department manager. The
department manager and the case counselor then immediately review the entire case. Every
effort is made to rectify the situation and to prevent its future occurrence.

V. Quality Assurance Guarantee

To back its quality claims, DCC introduced quality assurance guarantees which are unparalleled
in the industry. DCC guarantees in writing that the average rating for its "overall service" will be
at least 90 percent "good." "very good" or "excellent." If it is not, DCC will discount the total
annual fees by one percent for each percentage point below 90. For example, if 85 percent of the
returned quality assurance questionnaires rated DCC services "excellent" to "good." DCC would
refund COMPANY five percent (90-85 =5) of its total annual fee.

CCee:enclent Core Comection
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DCC links its quality assurance guarantee directly to the results of clients' returned
questionnaires, now averaging a 25 percent return rate. DCC has a quality assurance team
dedicated to maximizing return rates by following up with clients who have not responded to the
initial questionnaire mailing.

Life Care® Netwn

LifeCareeNetsm is the powerful online version of DCC's Life Care services. Life Care Net uses
Internet technology to deliver services to employees struggling to balance their work and
personal lives. As with our traditional counselor services, Life Care Net is designed to educate
employees and their families on a multitude of dependent care and work/life issues, and to
locate the resources and providers to meet their specific needs.

Used as a stand-alone or in conjunction with DCC's comprehensive counseling, education and
referral services, Life Care Net offers the most innovative work/life benefits package available
today.

With Life Care Net, COMPANY can:
Provide an affordable work/life benefit to all employees
Add value to its work/life initiatives
Eliminate productivity barriers
Increase utilization of all COMPANY benefits with total benefits integration online
Enjoy access to DCC's Life Care services and work/life information 24 hours a day, seven
days a weekall from the convenience of home or office.

Implementing and Accessing Life Care Net

DCC's team of Life Care Net consultants work closely with COMPANY human resources and
information systems staff to smoothly implement and customize Life Care Net to COMPANY
specifications and goals. DCC handles all administrative and technical matters surrounding
implementation. and provides the necessary promotional materials to herald Life Care Net's
launch within the company. COMPANY human resources staff will be able to easily.customize
the "Forums" and "My Benefits" areas of LifeCare Net: the latter may be changed at any time
as benefits are added, removed or changed.

COMPANY employees will have seamless access to LifeCare Net via their World Wide Web
browsers. from either their home or office. Accessing LifeCare Net outside the office is easy
with a DCC-assigned username and password. LifeCare Net's URL is http://www.life-care.net.

Welcome Page

Each time a user logs on to LifeCare Net, a Welcome Page appears with the user's name, the
date, and targeted information and links. COMPANY can also deliver its own work/life news
and updates to its employees via LifeCare Net. From the Welcome Page. users can access all of
LifeCare Net's features: select a community. locate resources, use the search feature, or
provide feedback regarding LifeCare Netto DCC.

DCThe ependent Care Connection,
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Employees using Life Care Net can personalize the service by completing a confidential and
optional online profile. By entering information about themselves and their lovedones who
may require care, Life Care Net can deliver timely information and news that address their
specific situation. For example, the parent of a newborn baby would receive different news
than the caregiver of a parent with Alzheimer's Disease. Because Life Care Net automatically
tracks the development of the user's child(ren), users do not have to update their profiles unless
there are family changes, such as a new addition!

Life Care Net Communities

Life Care Net is comprised of eleven communities. As this service continues to expand, DCC
will add new communities to Life Care Net. COMPANY will receive each new community
upgrade automatically and at no extra charge.

The current Life Care Communities are:

Prenatal Adult Care
Adoption Financial Services
Child Care Health and Wellness
Schools Parenting
Special Needs Balancing Work/Life
Colleges/Universities

Within each community, users can view or order educational materials, locate providers, obtain
referrals, participate in a special interest forum, or view COMPANY benefits that relate to a
specific community.

LifeCare Net Community Features

Life Care Net Library

Life Care Net's online Library provides instant access to 4,000 pages of educational content in
over 700 articles on a wide range of Life Care topics.User-friendly search engines make it easy
to find information quickly and efficiently. All titles are organized by category, making it
simple to find exactly the subject you'd like to read about. At the end of each article, four
additional resources related to the topic at-hand are suggested: where applicable, an electronic
link will instantly take you to the resource.

Ask the Experts
Have a question? Our Life Care experts have an answer:

"What are the licensing requirements for child care centers in my state?"
"How do I get my child to stop biting?"
"What do I need to know when looking for a nursing home for my mom?"
'I-low do I know if my child has Attention Deficit Disorder?"
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Users of Life Care Net can pose these and any other caregiving questions to professional DCC
Life Care counselors, who will respond quickly and privately via, e-mail. Users may also browse
archives of answers to frequently-asked Life Care questions.

Life Care Forums
COMPANY employees will enjoy access to forums addressing a wide range of Life Care issues.
Forums provide a true sense of "community" as Life Care Net subscribers nationwide and
worldwide interact with each other about the work/life topics most important to them.

Message Boards
The forum has message boards in which users can post. or peruse messages with tips, advice,
support, and experiences.

LifeCare Net offers clients the flexibility to customize message boards:

Create unlimited message boards on topics appropriate for COMPANY
Develop private message boards exclusive to employees and/or public message boards
linking users to other LifeCare Net clients
Link directly to pre-existing message boards on COMPANY intranet

Chat Rooms

LifeCare Net users can also engage in real-time chat sessions within each LifeCare Community.
Noted experts will periodically be invited to host a real-time discussion on a particular topic
within a community.

My Benefits

LifeCare Net integrates your company's complete benefits information online. While visiting a
LifeCare Net community, employees can click on "My Benefits" to quickly access information
about COMPANY programs and policies that pertain to that community: insurance. Employee
Assistance Programs, tuition reimbursement. etc. This feature allows employees to understand
the range of benefits available for their immediate needs, and provides them with the contact
names and numbers of benefits administrators to facilitate program use and awareness. For
example. the Prenatal Community's 'My Benefits" area might outline information on your
company's family leave policies. New Baby Gift program, seminars, and hospital and other
health-related coverage.

COMPANY benefits administrator(s) will have special access rights to LifeCare Net, enabling
them to add, delete or edit benefits at any time.

Events
LifeCare Net can save employees valuable time by providing the key information they need
when encountering a significant life event. LifeCare Net features executive summaries on life's
major milestones: birth, beginning school, graduation. marriage, retirement. etc. Links take
users directly to applicable educational materials. This section of LifeCare Net also encourages
employees to explore "My Benefits" to find COMPANY benefits relevant to the event.

(1,
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Locate Resources

COMPANY employees can use Life Care Net to request referrals for providers in the areas of
prenatal care, child care, adoption, colleges and universities, special needs, and adult care.
Options include conducting a quick search of providers, locating associations and networks in a
subject area, ordering educational resources germane to the employee's Life Care needs,
specifying a provider for DCC to research, or submitting information for a complete
assessment by a DCC counselor.

With access to DCC's provider database, the largest and most comprehensive of its kind,
Life Care Net users can:

Access over 2.5 million service and care providers.
Obtain real-time listings of local dependent care providers via the Internet, or receive pre-
qualified, pre-screened referrals via first-class mail.
Retrieve tailored directions from the user's home to service providers.

DCC's innovative mapping software allows Life Care Net users to access detailed computerized
maps of any local community: our database of nearly 2.5 million providers is overlaid to this
mapping software. This cutting-edge technology matches each Life Care Net client with the
most appropriate care providers in his or her specified location, presents a geographic overview
of providers in a particular area, and gives turn-by-turn directions from the employee's home
or office to the provider's location.

Life Care Net Quality Assurance

DCC monitors the quality of the Life Care Net service via a voluntary system called
"Feedback." Employees may use the Feedback feature to send DCC quick comments about the
Life Care Net service. There are also two online quality assurance surveys: a short version
(seven questions) and a long version (21 questions). Each comment and survey is reviewed by
our quality assurance team, and client feedback will be taken into consideration when designing
future versions of Life Care Net.

Life Care Net Is Easy To Use!

Life Care Net offers a search feature as well as an area for feedback and comments, and a
complete online help function makes navigating the site trouble-free. From book-marking to
printing, users have total online support with the click of a button. And DCC's Life Care Net
help desk is always available toll-free at 888-604-9565 or via e-mail (Icn_helpalife-care.net).

Technical Support

Life Care Net technical support is available to subscribers at all times. In addition to an online
quick help feature, users can call our toll-free number for technical support 24 hours a day at
(888) 604-9565 or contact support staff via e-mail at Icn_help@life-care.net.

DCThe Dependent Care Connec!Ion
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Communication and Promotional Services

DCC's communication goal is to continually promote its services so that COMPANY
employees remain aware of their DCC benefits and know how to contact us when necessary.
By following our recommendations, COMPANY will effectively keep employees abreast of our
specific programs and maintain and increase utilization. DCC's promotional strategy
encompasses the following mediums:

Direct Mail

We recommend that COMPANY management send a letter, along with a four-color generic or
company-customized DCC brochure and wallet card, to employees and their families
introducing the DCC service. Even after implementation of the DCC service, this formality
should be performed for all new COMPANY employees.

On -Site Introductory Seminars--Live Or Videotaped

To help COMPANY employees understand, appreciate and use DCC's services to the full
extent, DCC will provide at all locations live or videotaped introductory seminars which cover:

Purpose and benefits of the services
Nature and scope of available services and benefits
Program confidentiality
How to access the program and eligibility requirements
What COMPANY employees can expect from the DCC service

Live introductory seminars are generally 45-60 minutes long and are followed by a question-
and-answer session. The videotaped seminar runs approximately 25 minutes long and can be
followed by a teleconferenced question-and-answer session with a DCC representative.
Employees' family members are also welcome to attend.

On-Site CommunicationsPosters, Flyers and Videotapes

In addition to direct mail and implementation seminar initiatives. DCC also provides posters,
flyers and videotapes for COMPANY management to distribute throughout their work sites.

DCC's Ongoing Strategy For Communicating Our LifeCare Services

Following implementation, it is necessary to provide ongoing promotions in order to effectively
communicate to COMPANY employees the nature and timely aspects of DCC's services. DCC
provides all clients with a monthly promotional schedule consisting of program flyers.
According to COMPANY's preferences. DCC can also e-mail teasers to employees.
encouraging use of LifeCare Net to explore monthly themes.

ST C PY AVAILABLE
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The monthly promotions include the following, but can be customized to meet the specific
creative and program needs and timetable of COMPANY:

(JAN) Prenatal Services

(FEB) Tutoring Services

(MAR) Summer Camp Services

(APR) Child Care Services

(MAY) School Services

(JUN) Special Needs Services

(JUL) Back to School Services

(AUG) Adult Care Services

(SEP) Emergency Child Care Services

(SEP) Colleges and Universities

(OCT) Preparing for Future/Adult Care

(NOV) Adoption Services

(DEC) In-Home Adult Care Services

Internet Initiatives

For added ease and convenience. DCC promotes and offers its services online via our public
Internet address at http://www.dcclifecare.com. Clients may request a call from a DCC
counselor and order a variety of educational materials from the public site.

DCC's online forums house counselors' monthly tips on all of our Life Care services. Obtain
valuable information, hints and help on many dependent care and work/life topics. Our forums
also allow clients and users to network with one another to share caregiving experiences and
advice. Clients and users can post messages to groups at-large or individuals to resolve their
Life Care issues and concerns.

Clients may also check out DCC's library which contains position papers. press releases and
research studies on work/life issues and trends. Other library contents include a consultants'
directory and a return-on-investment calculator, enabling users to see first-hand the cost savings
that the DCC service can bring to their organizations.

EAP and Work/Life Benefits Integration

EAP Coordination

DCC has extensive experience in working with client EAPs. Prior to implementation, DCC
will meet/discuss with COMPANY management and/or EAP administrators to integrate and
coordinate the services provided by both DCC and the EAP. These discussions outline the
clearly-defined roles of DCC and the EAP, as well as the protocols to be followed.

DCC develops and maintains a customized data file of all pertinent information about each
client's EAP. It includes the toll-free number. the name of the EAP account representative(s)
and a description of services. With this online information. all DCC counselors can
immediately refer COMPANY employees to their EAP under the appropriate circumstances.

D The Depeneenr Care Connecton.
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Work/Life Coordination

Prior to COMPANY's implementation date of the Life Care services, DCC requests information
regarding COMPANY benefits programs. This measure enables DCC to become familiar with
all of COMPANY's work and family benefits. Counselors will then be able to immediately
assist COMPANY employees and refer them to the appropriate contacts, phone numbers and
information they may need outside of the DCC service. DCC's database can provide key
information on the following benefits programs that COMPANY may offer to its employees:

Employee assistance program

Sick/emergency care program

Prenatal program

Adoption benefits

Adult care benefits

Dependent care reimbursement account

Dependent care financial subsidy
program

Company discount with
franchise/provider

Tuition Assistance/Reimbursement or
Scholarship

Student loan program

Long-term elder care insurance plan

Family leave

On-site day care center

Management Reporting

Within forty-five days after the close of each quarter, DCC sends COMPANY comprehensive
utilization reports which track the program usage for the reporting period and provide
cumulative totals to date. These reports include both a tabulation of all quality assurance
questionnaires returned to DCC by COMPANY employees during the respective reporting
period and copies of the actual questionnaires coded to ensure confidentiality. An annual report
is provided at the end of the year. Given DCC's sophisticated technology and key company
information, DCC can customize the nature and frequency of reports to COMPANY
specifications. DCC's client utilization reports are broken down by the following components:

I. Return On Investment Results

As part of management reporting, DCC sends all clients their return on investment (ROI)
results from the DCC service. ROI calculations are based on the number of employees covered.
capitated rate per employee, employee salary. utilization and the average time we save an
employee. This time saved is based on the feedback we receive directly from clients when they
send us their quality assurance questionnaires. DCC clients have the opportunity to conduct
their own ROI analyses on our web site (http://www.dcclifecare.com/roi.html) by completing
our interactive, online ROI worksheet. DCC clients can immediately calculate and obtain the
cost - savings results that our services are providing their company.

EDThe Dependent Care ConrecNon.

20B

26



206

Overview for COMPANY

II. Case Management Analysis

Total number and average number per case of providers qualified
Total number, average number per case and annual utilization percentage of referrals
Total number, average number per case and annual utilization percentage of counseling and
education sessions
Total number and annual utilization percentage of cases

Case management analysis is also illustrated in bar-graph form.

III. Case Type Analysis

Total number and percentage of adoption cases
Total number and percentage of prenatal cases
Total number and percentage of child care cases
Total number and percentage of special needs cases
Total number and percentage of college and university cases
Total number and percentage of adult care cases

Case type analysis is also illustrated in pie-chart form.

IV. Calling Clients
Total number and percentage of female clients
Total number and percentage of male clients

Calling clients is also illustrated in pie-chart form.

V. Geographical Breakout
Total number of calling clients by state
Percentage of calling clients by state
Requested area of assistance (total number by state)

VI. Department, Diversity Code and Division Totals

According to COMPANY's request and the information it provides to DCC. DCC can provide
utilization data based on. for example. a division, department or subsidiary of the company.
DCC can customize this aspect and any other of management reporting to best suit COMPANY
needs.

pcThe Dependent Ccre Connection.
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VII. Dependent Care Referrals

This section includes:

Total number of referrals by Life Care service (adult care, child care. etc.)
Total number of referrals by care type within each Life Care service category (i.e. nursing
home, home care)
Percentages of referrals for each care type based on the total number of each service
category
Total number of educational referrals
Total number of referrals

VIII. Total Client Employee Quality Assurance Results

This information is based on the total number of client employees who have returned their
quality assurance questionnaires to DCC.

DCeDependent Care Connection
28



208

Overview for COMPANY

Client References

Barbara Roos
Work/Life Manager
Fleet Financial Services
(401) 78-3165

Denise Allen
Employee Relations Coordinator

-----Colgate-Palmolive Company
(212) 310-2839

Tom Roberts Anne Serra
Director. Personnel & Administration Work & Life Strategies
Chesebrough-Pond's Hughes Electronics
(860)664 - 494 (520) 794-4541

Mary Lackides
Health Services Manager
TRW Space and Electronics Group
(310) 813-1791

Additional client references will be gladly furnished upon request.
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A Final Note

Neither DCC counselor assistance nor Life Care Net are intended to provide any user. with
specific authority, advice or recommendations. The information obtained through counselor
assistance or Life Care Net is for informational purposes only. While DCC makes every effort
to ensure the accuracy of the information provided, accuracy and appropriateness of
information cannot be guaranteed. Likewise, DCC does not endorse, sponsor or guarantee any
service or product mentioned on Life Care Net or through counselor assistance. In all instances,
users should verify all information received. All final decisions on the appropriateness of
information, the quality of a product, or the qualifications of a service provider must be made
by the user.
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Mr. SHAYS. I have committed a great sin, given that, Mr. Burki,
you are from Westport, CT, that I wasn't here for your entire testi-
mony, so I do apologize. We are working on campaign finance re-
form and we have 3 weeks left, and we are hard pressed to know
how we can finish it, and we just needed to deal with the issue,
and I am back.

You have the floor, Mr. Towns.
Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I want you to

know that being as I was the chairman at one point, I was able
to just carry on in grand style, practicing for the next session.

Mr. SHAYS. The record will note that the gavel was pressed
against the ranking member's head.

Mr. TOWNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
On a serious note, though--
Mr. SHAYS. Excuse me, sir. Your time is up. I'm sorry.
Mr. TOWNS. I don't want to put you on the spot, Dr. Knitzer, but

I noticed that your report tracks child well-being, which is impor-
tant, so I am not going to put it where you would be responding
to HHS. I don't want to do that. I don't want to take that away
from you. But I want to say that the Department of Health and
Human Services cannot seem to determine ways to track child
well-being under welfare reform. For some reason, they can't do
that. So I am not going to ask you to respond directly to that. I
don't want to create that kind of problem.

However, I do want to ask you, what do you think that HHS
should consider as indicators of child well-being? I do want to ask
that.

Ms. KNITZER. Let me tell you what indicators we used in Map
and Track, which we used because we wanted to have indicators
from each State. The truth is we have a major problem with young
children because, basically, we can talk about poverty rates, family
structure. We can talk about health care to pregnant women, the
timing of it, the not timeliness of it. We can talk about low birth
weight and immunization. Then there is a huge gap. Then the kids
hit school. So we need to develop some indicators about school
readiness that we can really use across this country.

I think it's a shared problem. It is not just HHS. I think concep-
tually, the researchers, the entire community concerned with out-
comes for young children has to figure out how to track that. We
all want school readiness. What does that really mean?

In terms of the welfare connection, what we did is we conceptual-
ized, we tried to think about, the key decisions that States could
make that have implications for young children and families. So we
asked a series of questions of the States. Now these only indirectly
measure young child well-being, but, certainly, Medicaid eligibility
levels has significant impact on child well-being. And, in fact, while
States in general are raising Medicaid eligibility rates for infants,
they are not raising them for children from 1 to 6.

We are at a position of really describing the options that States
are choosing in their welfare implementation that we think have
special implications for young children before we can even get to
outcome on a large scale. Now that doesn't mean I think we need
some very detailed studies, community by community, of what is
really happening to young children. Are we seeing more hunger,
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are we seeing children leaving Head Start so they can go into infor-
mal care as reported in newspaper articles in New York. I think
those are all issues. And we really need some support for local
tracking as well as the large-scale studies that particularly look at
the young children issue.

Mr. TOWNS. All right. Thank you very much.
You know, what we have heard this morning, over and over

again is the fact that we can save money if we really move forward.
And, at the same time some have pointed to the fade-out effects as
a reason not to fund preschool programs. The fade-out effects, can
it be attributed to poor schools and a lack of elementary school en-
richment activities and the transferring of teachers and all of that,
in terms of the area, especially where the poverty index is very
high?

Ms. KNITZER. Yes. We talk about school readiness on the part of
the young children. I think the question is, also, are the schools
ready for the children? And we need to be focusing on that question
as well. There is no one quick fix at any age time, but I think it
is very clear that the interest and recognition of the importance of
the relationship building during the earliest years and sustaining
that with stimulating quality, early care and education experi-
ences, at least, if we do that, we will be in a position to see what
the results are.

Mr. TOWNS. You know, France has created zones, and I think
thatand what it really means is that in these areas where there
might be problems because of, you know, poverty or whatever, that
they will give additional resources in the course and special incen-
tives to keep teachers in these areas. Because what happens a lot
of times is that experienced teachers, you know, transfer out of the
areas, and you basically have a lot of inexperienced teachers com-
ing in, and I think, you know, that can be a problem as well.

What do you think about having zones? I am not just picking on
you, but anybody? Because recognizing that there is a problem and
something occurs after they go into the system, something happens.

Dr. OLDS. Congressman, would you repeat the first part of your
question for me? I'm sorry.

Mr. TOWNS. France has what we call, for lack of a better word,
educational zones, wherein that, as a result of the problems, they
give additional resources into these zones, like I guess it would be
zip codes, you know, sort of, in our case. And then if you have a
percentage of low-income families and at-risk children, what they
will do is they will give additional resources, they will give special
incentives to keep the qualified teachers in these areas, rather
than have them all transfer out, to have all new teachers coming
in and it creates all kinds of problems.

Dr. OLDS. I think that is very sensible, and what I particularly
like about it is it doesn't single out particular families as being at
high risk but, rather, says there are whole communities where the
resources are deficient to support adequate development of children
in the early stages of life. And that, in fact, is the very kind of
strategy that we are promoting as a way of identifying how the
particular program we have studied might be allocated around the
country. We think we need to identify communities where there are
high needs, and that these kinds of services ought to be allocated
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in those particular communities, so I fully endorse the gpproach
that you have just outlined.

Mr. TOWNS. Thank you.
Ms. KNITZER. I would concur with what Dr. Olds said about the

community and focusing on that, and short ofI don't know what
they are doing in France, but we do have enterprise zones and em-
powerment zones here, as well as some other community initia-
tives, and we are, in fact, hoping to do a study of this. It is our
sense that, except for defining the need for child care, there has
been very little attention to what community assets and resources
are or should be in those empowerment zones, and there is an op-
portunity to make a connection there that I think hasn't yet been
made.

Mr. TOWNS. One more question, Mr. Chairman.
You know, you indicated, and I just want to get clarification, you

said it would take 20 years, Dr. Olds. Why 20 years?
Mr. SHAYS. Do you know how old we will be in 20 years?
Mr. TOWNS. That's the point I was trying to make. Mr. Shays

will no longer be in Congress.
Dr. OLDS. Would you like me to talk in the middle of the bells?

I will wait.
Mr. TOWNS. OK.
Dr. OLDS. It has taken us 20 years to get to the point where we

have what we think is a program that has thoroughly developed
science and thoroughly developed clinical methods. And what we
have seen in many instances is programs have been put together
and rushed into service before they have had adequate infrastruc-
ture built to provideto recruit qualified people to service people,
to provide adequate training and supervision. We think that one
has to build from the strong clinical and scientific base, and in
order to do thatour calculations show that, in order to do it and
to have confidence that we can reproduce the kinds of effects we
have seen in the research, it will take us, unfortunately,. 20 years.

But, you know, for a long time, I was going to invoke the Japa-
nese experience and their economicin their solving economic
problems, and that is probably the wrong analogy today, but I
think we need to take the long view. These are not problems that
we as a society can solve overnight. It will require very careful
linkage between science, clinical work and program design. We
need to build capacity.

If we are going to build a business, for example, you can't do it
overnight. And we have actually run numbers to look at the num-
bers of low-income women bearing children in our society, the num-
bers of available nurses, the numbers of places where this kind of
clinical capacity is currently operating. And we have chosen not
for example, many programs choose to use a model to train the
trainers, where people go out and train others to do the program
model, even if they themselves have not had sufficient clinical ex-
perience in conducting the program themselves. We don't support
that. Because we think, without the level of deep clinical experi-
ence in conducting the program, the essential elements of how you
can bring aboutsuccessfully bring about change on the part of
parents during pregnancy and during the care of their children, it
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will be compromised. And the kind of results I have testified about
here today, we think are much, much less likely to be reproduced.

Mr. SHAYS. I need to interrupt you here beca'use we are going to
have a series of votes so we are going to finish the panel.

I just want to state for the record, and I want you to correct me
if I am not hearing right, Dr. Karoly, the bottom line is you gave
a number of studies that would illustrate almost unbelievable suc-
cess in early intervention. But your testimony, it seems to me, is
we don't have enough of these studies. Is thatand I need short
answersis that accurate?

Ms. KAROLY. It's both the number of studies and the number of
models that have been carefully evaluated and whether those stud-
ies have been implemented on a smaller or larger scale. So, for ex-
ample, consistent with what Dr. Olds is saying, we may know it
worked in this community with this population. Will it work in
other populations in other communities?

Mr. SHAYS. But what I am struck with is the studies you did de-
scribe were quite impressive in their outcome.

Ms. KAROLY. I think that's right, and that's the very good news.
There is proof of the principle that programs can work.

Mr. SHAYS. What I hear from you, Dr. Knitzer, you have given
us a pretty good description that some States are headed in the
right direction and some are not involved at all; and, in fact, most
are not involved at all. You described 10 States that seemed to
have some real activity, and by not involved at allwell, why don't
you respond?

Ms. KNITZER. I think the 10 States were the ones that hinged
welfare reform with the comprehensive initiatives. I actually think
States are increasingly involved in program development for young
children and families, for infants and toddlers and preschoolers.
The point of connections with welfare reform is the issue about the
10 States.

Mr. SHAYS. I appreciate you making that point.
I would make this observation, that if welfare reform fails, and

it could, it will be the fault of Congress and the White House. Be-
cause we can make it work. That is my view. And, Mr. Burki and
Dr. Olds, you were citing three areas, three various programs
around the country.

Dr. OLDS. Yes, three studies we have conducted so far, yes.
Mr. SHAYS. But the bottom line on what I am hearing is this

process could take longer. What I am hearingwe have 5 minutes
until we have a vote, and that is why I am talking fast. What I
am taking from this, though, is that we need to measure outcomes
and we need to have science design the program, which is really
the way you started, Dr. Karoly, so we make sure we don't just
have a day-care-plus. kind of program, that we really make sure
that these programsin other words, I am going to leave this hear-
ing with the strong feeling and conviction that early Head Start
intervention is going to be very helpful, but I am left with the fact
we need to make sure that science designs the program and that
we don't just have a feel good program. But I want to just make
a comment to Mr. Burki.

Do you want to make a comment?
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MS. KNITZER. Or that we at least evaluate what States are doing,
because States are not going to stop and wait for the 20 years. So
we need to build in, I think, a two-track strategy.

Mr. SHAYS. Fair enough. We are going to write a report on this,
my hope and intention is, before we adjourn. And we haven't writ-
ten many reports this year, but this would be one we would like
to, so it's going to be a close involvement.

Mr. Burki, I am going to get up to Westport, given it's only 20
minutes away, to see your program, and I will bring one of my staff
members with me so we can incorporate that. But given that I
missed your testimony, one of your points, when I was reading your
testimony was, I focused on welfare reform, the need to make that
work, and I think what you are saying to us is we need to make
sure that businessthat we don't just think of this as a welfare re-
form kind of program, that it's got to involve a lot more than that.

Mr. BURIU. Exactly. It's a change in society and a change in the
work force and its corporations and organizations and govern-
mental agencies all being proactive in addressing these changes
and realizing that, with the change in the social fabric and the
work force and the families in this society of ours, that we have to
take different approaches. And that is what I think is so important
about this meeting today, is the private and the public sectors com-
ing together and coming up with creative solutions for these types
of issues.

Mr. TOWNS. Mr. Chairman, I know we don't have time for an an-
swer

Mr. SHAYS. You have 3 minutes.
Mr. TOWNS. I don't want an answer now, but if you would be

kind enough to send us material on things we might say to people
who argue the point in terms of fade out as a result, I would appre-
ciate it.

Thank you very much. Your testimony has been helpful.
Mr. SHAYS. I am sorry. We are adjourning about 20 minutes be-

fore we should, but we have a series of votes, and we are not going
to keep you waiting. Thank you very much.

[Whereupon, at 12 noon, the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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